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MANAGEMENTREPORTOF12 MONTHS 2024

EWfUnYl q¢l WeaVYUNLWs Rad UTheod N B mRIYBE dnFEgénians 6 131 IR
investment company primarily active in themaritime transport, energy and real estate sectorsin
addition, the group has invested in domains that support its main areas of activity.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP
As of 31 December 2024:

Equity: 1166 million euros
Total of assets: 2715 million euros
EBITDA: 145 million euros

Number of employees: 6228 employees

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

In total, the group includes 110 companies: 101 subsidiaries, 4 affiliated companies and 5
additional subsidiaries of those affiliates.The total investments amounted to 279 million euros in
12 months 2024.

MARITIME TRANSPORT

AS Tallink Grupp (hereinafter Tallink) (68.5% ownership as of December, 2D24) is a leading
maritime transport company in Northern Europe.

In 2024Infortar acquired 195,492,256 Tallink shares with totainvestment of 111 million euros.

Tallink's fleet consists of 14 vessels, operating under strong brands Tallink and Silja Line on five
routes.

ENERGY

ASElenger Grupp(hereinafter fElenger Grupgor h E @ 1J)is1hd langest privatelyowned energy
company in the Baltic and Finnish region. Operating under the Elenger brand, the group is active
in six markets Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, and Germanwerving over 400,000
customers and employing1043 people.

Elenger subsidiaries Gaso in Latvia and Gaasivork in Estonia are the largest gas distribution
companies in their operating areas. Elenger Polska is a gas distribution company in the western
part of Poland.

The transportation and bunkering operations of LNG refueling are primarily carried out by the
bunkering vessel Optimus and supported on land by a fleet of trucks managed by Elenger Marine.
The LNG bunkering vessel is owned by Infortar Marine Ltd., registdrin Cyprus.

OU EG Biofondr production of bioenergy in three biomethane production units of Eesti Biogaas
in Vinni, limatsalu and Oisu. Additionally, Halinga OU has started the construction of a
biomethane plant in Parnumaa.

REAL ESTATE

Real estate portfolio consists of 18 buildings that are divided to four main areas: four hotels (three
in Tallinn and one in Riga), six office buildings in Tallinn, logistics centres in Maardu and in Laagri,
Sports centre in Lasnamae and healthcare centrén Nomme.
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OTHER SECTORS

Engineering Agriculture, Printing sector services etc.

MISSION
n The mission of Infortar is to develop welfunctioning companies with strong market positions.
mOourlongg Dl GWNYCOWRY WaqVYWeHSRUI2WIWE W q¢c HIVWWRUHAI et UL
average economic growth.
nTheN!| Ya Gkt W ql ¢ qldN!-teiR sotibreedhimit drénds :mrid ap dnkkidl Ve dinients
and management decisions that help create synergies among the companies belonging to
fUnYl qc¢l Kkt WGYI qnYGRY O

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES

n Investing in enterprises that support the synergy creation in the group.
n Being an active investor, participating in decisiormaking processes, taking responsibility.
n Maintaining and continually enhancing our unique competency in managing large investments.

CORE VALUES

Innovation
We believe that outstanding business results are largely achieved through constant technological
innovation and an innovative approach to management.

Reliability
Successful business can only be built on trust, respect, and mutual understanding both on an
individual and an organisational level.

Openness

Smile and commitT close partnership begins with open communication. We keep an open mind

to new ideas and everything unconventional. We value cooperation within our team and with our
partners. Our team offers equal opportunities to everyone and fosters development, creativity,

and self-actualisation.

Determination
We are convinced that determination is the essential cornerstone of success

Share and shareholders

Infortar shares (ISIN EE3100149394) are registered witie Estonian branch of Nasdagq CSD, and
their trading name is INF1TAIl shares are of the same class and each share gives shareholders
one vote at the general meeting. No preference shares or shares with special rights have been
issued.

At31/12/2024, Aktsiaselts Infortar had a total of 2166 239shares issued including 722,610 own
shares as stock options.In 2021, a stock and option programme was developed for employees,
and in association with this, Infortar acquired 15,000 own shares with a book value of 94,500
euros. In 2023, in association with the change in the nominal value of the shares, Infortaeltd
945,000 shares as stock options 222,930 shares were used during 2024There werel 260
options cancelled due to employment terminaton.
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6-month and 12-month lock-up agreements were concluded with those persons who held shares
in the period prior to the share issue, which means that it iwas notpossible to transfer the shares
acquired in advance of the issue for a period of 6 or 12 months, respectivelis oftoday, all the
lock-up agreements have been concludedmeaning all the sharesare freely transferable and the
sale or purchase of shares does not require the permission of the Infortar Group.

As at 31/12/2024, Infortar had 5956 shareholders and a P/E ratio 056.63. Infortar paid 3 euros per
share and total amount of 61 million euros as dividends in 2024. According to dividend policy,
approved by Infortar council Infortar has a target to pay out at least 1 euro per share during annual
year. Dividends are paid out twie a year.

The share capital of 2116,600 euros is divided into 21166,239 ordinary shares, with a nominal
value of 0.10 euros per share (31/12/2 21,166,2390ordinary shares, with a nominal value of @0
euros per share). The company has a minimum share capital of 1,000,000 (one million) euros and
a maximum share capital of 4,000,000 (four million) euros.

f [ 8AN AKEWNMWx A] EENWEc AEc&x?EAEW ELl

Owner’s name Number of shares Holding %
Mersok OU 4 842 816 22,9%
Abante OU 4 813 055 22,7%
Pardiklill OU 4 811 566 22,7%
Keijo Erkki Mehtonen 1 490 000 7,0%
Toivo Ninnas 1294 525 6,1%
Enn Pant 693 400 3,3%
Trading House Scandinavia Aktiebolag 358 626 1.7%
Meelis Asi 357 605 1,7%
Viljar Jaamu 165 860 0,8%
Eve Pant 161 200 0,8%
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INVESTORS OF THE GROUP BY TYPE AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

A total of 98% of the Infortar

11 Ve Grt Wi 6¢l W6YaT wi+ we i 170PRES 9% °hgres
in Estonia and 2% in other
countries.  Geographically, in
addition to Estonia, shareholders
are registeredin Albania, Austria,
Belgium, Cyprus, Denmark,
Finland, Germany, Italy, Latvia,

m Private individuals

Undertakings

Lithuania, Norway, Sweden, s
Switzerland, the United Kingdom,

and the United States of America. - I'r:j*e';z':"a'
fOnYl gq¢l kt W f [ NNW + qYHt W P

trading on the Nasdaq Tallinn

Stock Exchange in 2023, at a price

of 26 euros per share. During the

trading period from 1January 2024to 31 December 2024, the closing price of the share on the
Nasdaq Baltic stock exchange was EUR 43.34 per share (EUR 26.02 per share as of 31 December
2023), representing an annual increase of 66.5%. The average share price for the year was EUR
37.23, with the lowest priceat EUR 25.52 and the highest at EUR 45.7There were a total of 251
trading days during the year, with an average daily turnover of EUR 30,744.50 and a total annual
turnover of EUR 7,716,869.47.

The following charts give an overview of the share price and turnover developments in the past
nine months.

Share price in EUR
50
45
40
35

30
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ORGANIZATION CHART
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Letter from the CEO

Enhancing corporate competitiveness and changes in energy policy are increasingly important
topics in the geopolitical economic race in Estonia, Europe, and the United StateBlain common
sense tells us that if wewant to turn the economy toward growth, we must take very concrete
steps.

| have always believed that the green transition must be carried out in a balanced, wétiought-
out manner with less bureaucracy than before. Similar opinions have been voiced at the Davos
Economic Forum and in speeches by various national leaders. Mairtang our competitiveness,
people's standard of living, and social guarantees is the state's top prioriyyafter all, a country's
economy is ultimately the sum of the success of the businesses operating within it.

Over the past two years, Infortar has invested 450 million euros in business growth. On one hand,
this is an incredibly large amount of money, but on the other hand, this has been business as
usual for us in recent years After all, seeking and finding new investments is our core activity and
the only way to increase the company's value. Expansion must be followed by a period in which
we focus on making these investments work ever more efficiently.

ayYyOnwacet qu! el kt Wal ¢ Ut ¢cAqRYUY Allgs YWGe TY! W Jedt W
Tallink through a voluntary takeover bid. To put it into perspective: at the beginning of 2024, we
owned 42.2% of the maritime transport company, whereas today, our stake has increased to
68.5%. Thanks to its LNGowered vessels, Tallink is well positioned to tackle the challenges of
the green transition and remains the market leader in the region. We also anticite a positive
RGG¢ HqWYUWNE O Gdeis thet ptbjecked rRdddstGDR grosyth in Finland and Sweden,
as forecast by their central banks, along with falling interest rates across Europe, indicating a
potential revival in consumer spending in our target markets.

Similarly to our acquisition of Gaso in Latvia in 2023, we purchased the Polish subsidiaries of the
German energy group EWE at the end of 2024, as we see strong business growth prospects in the
gas sector. Gas remains the most realistic dispatchable energgarrier and will continue to be so

for many decades. Eesti Gaas now operates in all markets under the Elenger brand and was
recognised at the 2024 Entrepreneurship Awards as Estonia's most competitive industrial and
energy company of the year. Investments green energy continue, with a new solar park opened

in Nica, Latvia. Following a positive funding decision from Environmental Investment Centre, we
have also begun constructing a new biomethane plant in Halinga, creating synergies between the
agricultural sector and energy production.

In Saue municipality, the Rimi logistics centre received its occupancy permit, increasing our real
estate portfolio by a solid 15%. In the engineering segment, a significant milestone was the
signing of the INF Infra contract for the Rail Baltica track catruction on the KangruSaku section.
We eagerly await the official announcement of the summer season on 21 June in Parnu, where
the highlight will be the opening of a new bridge, built by us. Additionally, an agreement has been
signed for the constructionof a second DEPO store in Estonia, which will be a valuable addition
to our real estate portfolio.

To strengthen our position in both domestic and international markets, we have welcomed the
long-established Tallinna Raamatutrikikoda (Tallinn Book Printers) into our group.
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As investors, we are bold and ambitious and do not shy away from acknowledging when certain
ventures no longer appear viable. In 2024, we exited several smaller, unprofitable business lines,
including taxi services and pharmaceutical wholesale. It is cru@l to keep pace with changing
qRG It We UT WRT WUqRN! W6 WAL qWs ¢! + WgqYWieUeNWIWRU2 134

Overall, it was a recordbreaking year, except for the financial results of the last quarter, which
were slightly weaker compared to previous periods. By analysing the underlying reasons, we
clearly see that the macroeconomic situation in the maritime traisport sector can only improve.

In the energy sector, the past three months have been characterised by a mild winter, leading to
reduced sales volumes and pricing pressure. In our real estate portfolio, we carried out routine
asset revaluations at the end éthe year.

My long-held dream has been to build a company that is crisisand inflation-resistanty a dividend

aristocrat that pays dividends regardless of the prevailing economic environment. Today, Infortar

operates in seven countries. Our total assets have grown fre 1.4 billion to 2.7 billion euros,

I 3200 W0Wn!l YOWNWHRGORYUWqYWNIWOWHRGOGRYUAWe UT Wa 6 13 UN
eurosfOlIf UnYIl q¢l k+ WI PDeaWt q¢c qUWGY ! aqiodoisiuirtlmetrésll 13+ G¢ U
Reflecting this success, in ar first year as a publicly traded company, our share price surged by

70%, and the number of shareholders has surpassed the symbolic threshold of 6,000.

A clear and realistic outlook gives us confidence that the path we have chosen is the right and
tet qcRUcCHGOUOW + WeWHYUnNRI GcqRYUWYNnWa6RY Als JWel yuw
this year.

fUnYl gqc¢l kt W6W¢eT ecec!l qll + W WG¢RUWRUWEY qYURC WHIHCE 2t
future of the Estonian economy and are committed to managing an internationally growing

business from here, in Tallinn. As a global corporation, we strive totieduce our culture and

distinctive sense of humour to our new colleagues, helping them feel increasingly integrated into

our shared vision and purpose, contributing enthusiastically to our company's success day by

day.

With good spirits and mutual respect, miracles can be achieved!

Ain Hanschmidt
CEO
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About the Operations of the Group

The business activities of the Infortar Group are characterised by seasonality. In the energy

segment, the peak season corresponds to colder periods, namely the first and fourth quarters,

56 L00Waq6WWEcTY! Ra! WYnWaé6 W] | VY ehd kebpHtHvE petiodsicBmes q 1J T WY C
from the energy segment.

In the maritime transportation segment, the peak season are the summer months, primarily the
FIHYUOT We U7 W6 RIT Whueel qUll + AWs 6 JUWq6 BWaeTY! Ra! WYn U
from the maritime transportation segment. The acquisition of a majority stake in Tallink result in

t RDURNRAcUqWHRSECcUNIIt WaVYWf UnYl q¢l kt WnRUcURRCE O W IGY
YnWagdJWicel RqROGWWagl ¢ Ut GYlI qeqRYUW WINAGWUqWs RO G WHAIIWE
whole year.

NEUWY2Ul 2RUs WY nWqd W] 1 YeGkt WYGWI ¢qRYUY WRY W BIn 1l |
with the disclosure requirements set out in ESRS 2 SBMS§ 40 (a) and § 42.

MARITIME TRANSPORT

Tallink Grupp is a NortheraEuropean shipping company offering mini cruises, passenger
transport, and ro-ro freight services in the northern part of the Baltic Sea. Services are provided
under the Tallink and Silja Line brands on ferry routes between Esian Finland, and Sweden.
Tallink Grupp's fleet comprises 14 vessels, including cruise ships, ropatype passenger ferries,
and roro-type freight vessels. Additionally, the group operates three quality hotels in downtown
Tallinn and one in Riga, as well a81 Burger King restaurants in Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania as
the franchise owner for the Baltic region. The group's subsidiary, Tallink Duty Free, is an
international travel retail company with numerous shops on ships and on land, a rapidly
expanding eshop in the group's home markets, and an extensive logistics center serving the
entire group. Tallink Grupp's offices are in Estonia, Finland, Sweden, Latvia, and Germany. With
approx. 5000 employees, Tallink Grupp serves millions of customers worldwide anally, and its
customer loyalty program, Club One, boasts over three million members. Tallink Grupp is listed
on the Nasdaq Tallinn and Nasdaq Helsinki stock exchanges.

On August 9th, Infortar increased its stake in Tallink by 21.7%, after the transaction the total
ownership is 68.5%. Following the transaction, Tallink's results will be consolidated lirby-line
into Infortar's financial reports as of the nearest balancesheet date. The closest balance sheet
date marking the acquisition of control is JAugust2024. The comprehensive impact of the Tallink
acquisition will first be assessable in 2025, when the fullyear results are reflected.

ENERGY

Elenger Grupp operates across the entire energy spectrum, including sales and trading,
infrastructure, and production. The company provides customers with natural gas from Western
sources and domestically produced green gas, while managing the gas distribution networls
Estonia, Latvia and Poland Additionally, Elenger Grupp sells electricity, including green
electricity generated in its own solar parks, and is actively engaged in international energy trading.

As the largest gas importer in the Baltid~innish region,Elenger Gruppimports about one-third of
the region’'s total gas supply. Theompany mainly imports natural gas from Norway and the U.S.,
transported by tankers to the Inkoo LNG terminal in Finland and Klaipeda LNG terminal in
Lithuania, from where it is distributed to customers via pipelines. To ensure uninterrupted year
round supply, gas storage facilities in Latvia, Poland, and Germany are utilized.
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In 2024, Elenger sold a total of 18.4 TWh of energy (15.9 TWh in 2023). Sales in Estonia accounted
for 16% of the total energy sales in 2024. The company's market share in gas sales across the
Finland-Baltic gas market for the year was 24.3%.

REAL ESTATE

The real estate segment consists of a portfolio of 18 properties, divided into four categories:
hotels, office buildings, logistics centres, and other real estate. This includes three higguality
hotels in central Tallinn and one in Riga, six office buildgs in Tallinn, logistics centres in Maardu
and Laagri, a sports centre in Lasnaméae, and a health centre in NGmme. The total net area of the
properties in the portfolio is approximately 141,000 square metres.

SUPPORTING BUSINESSES

The supporting businesses segment includes activities that support other segments of the Group,
primarily in engineering, construction materials, provision of printing services and operation of a
tennis centre through subsidiary companies. As of 31 DecembeR024, assets in the other
business segment accounted for approximatel\5% of the total Group assets. OU INF Engineering
subsidiaries operate in the engineering sector, including AS EG Ehitus, OU INF Ehitus, INF Infra
OU, OU EMG Karjaarid and a measuremeand calibration business OU Gaslab.

Events in 2024

Maritime transport business segment

Infortar gained controlling influence over Tallink in August 2024. From the third quarter onwards,
Tallink's line-by-line consolidated results have significantly impacted the Infortar Group's
financial results. As of the end of the year, Infortar's stakeniTallink stands at 68.5%.

The revenues of the maritime transport segment vary from month to month, with peak activity

YAaAzl | RUDWRUWq6 YWt 2a Gl oW AAEY!I T ROUNDWqYWNeadaRUL Kt
experience, the company generates the majority of its revenue and profiluring the summer

months (June to August). In 2024, revenue from vessel chartering helped to balance the seasonal
nierdgecqRYUt WRUW6IJW] I Ye Gkt W ¢ 0t 1O

NedaRUt Kkt WGWI nYIl ¢ URVWRY WRAGEHqUT WH! WIHYUY O RALWeE
affected the demand among certain customer groups, particularly from countries directly

involved in the conflict and from Asia. Additionally, there is a risk ofsing input costs, particularly

nYl WneaJdWeUT WI ¢sWacaqlll Reat WWEY qROG¢cqRUNWaq6IWGI IH
remains challenging.

22 W0WaqVYWIHYUY O R H We rihAadement iRddrdinusLidNséekitg Ry to mitijate off

season risks, such as vessel chartering. In October 2024, the charter agreement for M/S Galaxy |

was extended by twelve months until October 2025, with an option to extend for an additional 6+6
months upon expiry.

Tallink is constantly exploring innovative ways to upgrade ship and passenger area to improve
financial performance through modern solutions. The latest technical projects focus on reducing
q6 W9 §hWNYYqGlI RUqWY™nWad6 JWndlJJalo

Energy business segment

Elenger announced on November 1 the acquisition of a 100% stake in Elenger Polska. The Elenger
Polska group operates in the natural gas distribution network in Western Poland and covers all
energy sales business areas, including gas anelectricity sales.
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Over the 2024 financial year, Elenger supplied a total of 15 LNG shipments to the Inkoo terminal
¢Ul Wadé!l DUWqYWaq6 Wl WudcecRGLT ¢ Wl GRUCGOWEUII N! Wt ¢ a1
by higherthan-average temperatures, which reduced demand for atural gas and electricity.

After a sharp price decline from the end of 2023 to the first quarter of 2024, European natural gas
markets rebounded sharply in the second quarter and continued to rise throughout the rest of the
year. The momentum from the third quarter carried into théurth quarter, culminating in ICE TTF
front-month futures exceeding 50 euros/MWh on December 31. A warm#nan-average winter
led to a consolidated negative operating result for Elenger in the fourth quarter.

On October 28,Elenger Gupp announced the establishment of a new subsidiary, OU Elenger W1,
with a focus on renewable energy.

Real Estate Developmelts
fUnYl gqc¢l W)l YeGkt WHYUL ql eAqRYUWHYGGe URIY WE] WEG RQ:
bridge project.

The 25,000square-meter Rimi logistics center in Laagri, Saue Parish was completed and handed
over to the tenant. The facility was built by INF Ehitus and developed by Infortar.

Construction began on a 30,008square-meter commercial space for Depo, a DIY retail chain, in
Lasnamae, adjacent to the Tallink Tennis Center. The project is scheduled for completion in
autumn 2026.

f [WfUnlcWecat YWaceURSUIT W WY Ut ql erHakiRsédildbY n WA ¢ R
The contract value is EUR 67.2 million, with completion expected by March 2028.

Changes in Infortar's areas of activity

f U6 WWNRI t qWscdnWYnW=M=naWf OUnY!l q¢l Kkt Wt 2 At RT Re | !
the second half of the year, construction began on a biomethane plant in Halinga. The project is
conRU¢ URNDUT WH! WadWWWEeza1 Y GIU¢ U WO UyraidRediliéhcelFacijty, MithlJ| ¢ qRY
completion scheduled for spring 2026.

Later in the year, Infortar also acquired a 100% stake in Tallinna Raamatutriikikoja OU.

Infortar exited the pharmaceutical and wholesale medical supplies business segment.
Additionally, Aktsiaselts Gastrolink ceased operations during the year. On 6 January 2025, AS
Tallink Takso announced its intention to cease operations.
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Key Figures of2024

31.12.24 31.12.23
Total assets (in thousands of EUR) 2715234 1460512
Interest-bearing liabilities (in thousands of EUR) 1223 287 441 160
Total equity (in thousands of EUR) 1166 221 820 210
Equity ratio (equity /assets) (%) 43,0% 56,2%
Interest-bearing liabilities /equity (%) 104,9% 53,8%
Current ratio 0,8 1,5
Net debt (in thousands of EUR) 1 055 708 354 045
Net debt/ EBITDA 4,0 2,5
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 909 317 819 376
(in thousands of EUR)
Number of ordinary shares 21166 239 21 045 000
Earnings per share (EUR) 9 15
Book value per share (EUR) 43 39
Share market value (EUR) 43,34 26,02
Number of group employees 6 228 1308
Group labour expenses with taxes (in thousands of EUR) 141 137 40722
Revenue (in thousands of EUR) 1371775 1084 626
Gross profit (in thousands of EUR) 128 628 149 473
EBITDA (in thousands of EUR) 145 275 143 283
EBITDA margin 10,6% 13,2%
Operating profit (-loss) of the financial year 77 024 123 628
(in thousands of EUR)
Net profit (in thousands of EUR) 193 670 293 830
Net profit (-loss) holders of the Parent 191 253 293778
ROA (%) 3,7% 9,6%
ROE (%) 22,4% 42,4%

31.12.24 31.12.23
Assets (in thousands of euros) 268 789 158 518
Loan and lease liabilities (in thousands of euros) 217 971 85851
Equity capital (in thousands of euros) 48 225 70 008
Share of equity capital (%) 17,9% 44 2%
Number of employees as at the end of the period 44 42
Renumeration to employees along with taxes 4 985 6 634
(in thousands of euros)
Sales revenue (in thousands of euros) 6 493 5761
EBITDA (in thousands of euros) -3401 -4 814
EBIT (in thousands of euros) -3 668 -5678
Profit of the financial year (in thousands of euros) 34 363 41 856

N6 JWt RDURNRACUqWRUHI D¢t DWRUWGYEUWE UT Walet YJWaRE HF
RUqVYWf UnYl q¢l Kkt WnRUcCUHRcOW q¢ qlGUU0qt WRUW=MZNOWN G
ONLW? WHIDGHDI W=M=Z0W 13n i 1) Hentlidbittiésl@xdeeded itp ltlorént agsktdly G 0 R Ut K
EUR 122,089 thousand (31 December 2023: EUR 100,550 thousand).
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N6IWJW] | YeGkt WYATWHRqR2UVWRY WaqYWi¢RUqée RUWE WHe G ¢ URIILWA
using bank overdrafts, loans, and bonds as financing instruments. To manage cash flows

efficiently, the Group has established cash pool systems in Estoniand Finland. Free liquid
assets are invested in shortterm money market instruments.

Equity ratio (%) = total equity total assets
Interest-bearing liabilities /equity (%) = (loan liabilities+ rent liabilities) / equity
Current ratio = current assets / total current liabilities
Net debt (in thousands of EUR) = loan liabilities + rent liabilitiescash)
DaqWl JAqo E7f N2 W[ YI WAYGGe | ¢ FivatHREBITDAGasib&ei + 13+ WR U W=
used, as reported in segment note no. 5 (EBITDA EUR 265,447 thousand).
Earnings per share (EUR) = net profit holders of the parent / number of oy shares (note 8.7)
Book value per share (EUR) = total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent / number of
shares
EBITDA (in thousands of EUR) = net profit + depreciation and amortization + change in fair value
of investment property
EBITDA margin (%) = EBITDA/revenue
Net profit (-loss) of the financial year (in thousands of EUR)
ROA % = net profit / total assets
ROE % = net profit / equity

Group assets and equity capital

Group assets and equity capital (million euros)

3 000

2 500

2 000

1 500

1 000

0 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

m Assets 696 883 1 107 1 461 2 715
m Equity capital 375 393 569 820 1 166
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Group turnover and EBITDA
Group turnover and EBITDA (million euros)

1 500
1 350
1 200
1 050
900
750
600
450
150
;
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
mTurnover 209 413 1 054 1 085 1 372
EEBITDA 36 46 120 143 145

N6IWJW] I YeGkt Wel Tet qUT WE7f N?2 WhY!l W6 WW=M=MNWnhnRUe¢c URBR
at the same level as in 2023.

Following the acquisition of a majority stake in Tallink and the purchase of a gas company in
AYGcecUT awf UnY!l q¢l kt WagYqedWet + Dagt wOWel a! W YeHGUT AU

Rimi logistics center in Saue parishPhoto: Kaspar Pokk
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Macroeconomic development and its impact

The global economy grew by 3.2% in 2024, and theutlook for 2025 is primarily driven by
expectations of a strengthening U.S. economy. According to the International Monetary Fund
(IMF), global economic growth is projected to average 3.3% in 2025 and 2026, with inflation
expected to ease from 4.2% to 3.%.

In the euro area, economic growth in 2024 was 0.8%, and the 2025 forecast indicates a modest
NEWNI Ysq6 OWNsWIWIel YWe!l Dekt Wacl NIt quWIIHYUOYG! awW] 131 ¢
only a marginal recovery of around 0.3% expected in 2025.

In Estonia, economic growth has remained negative for some time, and 2024 was another weak
year in terms of GDP performance. Although nominal GDP growth had been strong since 2021, it
slowed in 2023, and real GDP growth has been negative for the past thygesars? The combination

of rising prices and relatively high interest rates has created cyclical challenges for domestic
demand, hindering investment prospects for companies operating in Estonia.

Demand for Estonian goods and services remained subdued in 2024, primarily due to the
DHYUYOGRHW GYsT YsOWROWE ! WUW+FGYl quWacecl t Wagt AwWwU0c¢ca i
competitiveness declined in 2024, largely due to volatile and comparatively high engy prices

and disproportionate negative impacts on industry and transit sectors arising from economic

sanctions on Russia and Belarus.

x YYt RUDWEG6WeT AWEY qYURckt WIHRYUYOGRAWE UT WI+FGYI qll IH
ROW[ RUGe¢UT wWe UT WEs T yUOW[ YI W=MZPAWEt qYUR¢ckt W] 2AW
remaining around 4%. A modest revival in consumption is anticipatedsupported by declining

interest rates.®*

MARITIME TRANSPORT

A key factor impacting the maritime transport segment in 2024 was the introduction of the
European Union Emissions Trading System (ETS), which came into effect on 1 January 2024. The
system will be phased in for shipping companies and will require them toover 100% of their
emissions by 2026. ETS has placed additional pressure on the fixed costs of maritime transport
companies.

As demand for emission allowances is expected to increase in the coming years, ETS prices are
also likely to rise. This will, in turn, translate into higher service prices for end consumers in the
maritime transportation sector. We believe that Tallink Grap, part of the Infortar Group, has a
strong value proposition for customers and that the efficiency gains from LN@owered vessels
are sufficiently impactful to maintain its market position in the Baltic Sea region, despite the
increase in input costs.

International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook, January 2025.
2 Statistics Estonia, official website.

3 Eesti Pank, article: Economic forecastr exports will bring growth to the Estonian economy, 13 December 2024.
https://www.eestipank.ee/en/press/economic -forecast-exports-will-bring-growth-estonian-economy-13122024

4OECD, article: Estonia, OECD Economic Outlook, 4 December 2024. https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/oecd
economic-outlook-volume-2024-issue-2_d8814e8ken/full -report/estonia_57fde418.html
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Starting in 2025, the FuelEU Maritime Regulation will come into effect, requiring shipping
companies to reduce emissions from marine fuel combustion relative to engine operating hours
every five years. In our view, Tallink has a competitive advantage in the market in relation ts th
regulation due to its efficient LNGpowered vessels, and the regulation is not expected to have a
material impact on financial results in the near term.

ENERGY

In 2024, natural gas consumption in Finland and the Baltic States increased by 9% compared to
2023, with demand rising in all four countries, particularly in Lithuania. Total consumption across
Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, and Finland reached approximatel3.6 TWh, up from 40 TWh in both
2022 and 2023. However, this remains well below the 2012021 average of 67.2 TWh per year
(see combined consumption chart, data, and download).

Demand grew across all four countries, but Lithuania recorded the highest growth, both in
absolute and percentage terms,increasing by 14% yeaon-year to nearly 17.1 TWh. This growth
was mainly driven by higher demand from fertilizer producers and gd#ed electricity
NUUWI ¢qVYl t HOn

The average GET Baltic deghead market price for natural gas in 2024 was EUR 39.53/MWh,
representing a 19% decrease from the previous year (EUR 48.97/MWh in 2023). In 2024,
ql ¢ Ut ¢cARqRYUWG!I R W ¢UNUT Wn! Y& WEOAWPIOMMoO ~i 6 Wa Y WE

European Union

f UW=MZNAWE Yet D6YOTl WN¢t WGl REWVY WeHI Yt Wagb6WWEal YGI
example, the average market price of natural gas in the Estonian price zone was EUR 37.09/MWh
ROUW=ZMZMNAWRYGGe! UT WaqYWEOAWNPIOT Zo0 ~1 § diiked by=higte O tON W N
storage levels at the beginning of the year and strong global LNG supply.

However, in the final quarter of 2024, average retail gas prices began to rise again. Due to the
seasonal dynamics of gas storage replenishment, gas prices are expected to increase during
2025.

Electricity prices for households in the EU also fell by 5% in 2024 compared to 2023, primarily due
to a 17% drop in the energy component of electricity prices. However, network charges increased,
and the gradual phaseout of certain national subsidies hada negative impact on enduser prices.

As renewable energy production expands, significant investments in energy infrastructure will be
required, which is expected to lead to higher grid costs in the future.

5 https://www.argusmedia.com/en/news -and-insights/latest-market-news/2646123-finnish-and-baltic -gas-
consumption-up-by-9pc-in-2024

6 ] Dq7¢taqRHEL 2UNARGNE qAWl [ dRAIVRT BIUR ¢ ¢]T dRl | 1T HIGmeREAND 1J w A LU )
https://www.getbaltic.com/en/news/baltic _-finnish-gas-exchange-trading-report-for-december-2024-has-been-
announced/

" ACER (Euroopa Liidu energiaturu regulaatorite koostdd agentuur) , veebilelfitps://acer.europa.eu/news -and-
events/news/acers-data-dashboard-provides-insights-eu-household-energy-price-trends)

8 Konkurentsiameti veebileht, artikkel, 06.02.2015, https://www.konkurentsiamet.ee/uudised/2024 -aastal-
keskmised-elektri-ja-maagaasiborshinnad-langesid
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REAL ESTATE

Construction volumes in Estonia have declined for the third consecutive year. The overall
downturn has been primarily driven by a 9% yeawn-year decrease in building construction
volumes. In contrast, civil engineering workg including roads, bridges, pipdines, and
telecommunications and power linesy have remained relatively stable, with only a 2% decline.

This divergence in volume trends is clearly reflected in competition and profit margins: the
building construction sector is experiencing intensified competition and shrinking margins. A
short-term recovery in building construction volumes is not anticipatd, as demand remains
weak. Looking ahead, the civil engineering segment is expected to grow in both 2025 and 2026,
particularly due to major Rail Baltica tenders conducted in late 2023 and throughout 2024, which
are currently in the design phase and arerpjected to enter the construction phase in 2025.

Impact of seasonality on business operations

As seasonality affects the demand for the products and services offered by companies in which

fUnYl qc¢l Wect WRU21It qUT AWRqWe Gt YWsc¢t We UWRGGE AUl
seasonal effects are observed in the energy sector, particulaylin the operations of Elenger, a

t e Ht RT Rel I WYnwWf UnY!l q¢l HOWE dddpdridnt, st mirket)demandyforll ¢ | 1J W6
natural gas and electricity peaks during the colder heating periogsin the first and fourth

guartersy and declines during the warner second and third quarters. There is also a seasonal

but relatively minor effect from solar energy production, due to fluctuations in sunlight hours. In

contrast, biomethane and LNG production and supply are less affected by seasonality, as the

transport sectory serving as the main end user operates consistently yearround.

ENct YUCORaq! Weat YWRGGeHqt WfUnYl q¢l Kkt WnRUcUARRCE G WI
transport segment (Tallink). Travel services are highly seasonal, with peak demand occurring in

the summer months (June to August), during which Tallink earns timeajority of its revenue and

profit. We also recognize that longterm climate change may bring about unpredictable shifts in

YGUI ¢qRUNWIHIUZ2RI YUUGWUUqt WerlI Yt Wf OnYl qc¢l ktemdRU2 13t q ¢
climate impact forecasts, including those published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate

Change (IPCC).

Environmental impact

Wa Yl Wl Jag¢c RAGWT WY211 2RUs WYNWaqd W UnYl q¢l W1 Ye Gkt
]I YeGkt WEe2t q¢ RUCHRORq! WANGY! qtowf UnY!l q¢l kt Wa Yt allt
its 68.5% ownership stake in Tallink, a company operating the maritime transport segment. The
GC¢TY!I Ra! WYnlWagd6Rt WRAGeHqWRY Weaqal RAz2 qe HO W WaqY Wa 6 13 LWF
s6RAGWcaYa2UqUl WqYWe GGl YFRG¢ECqUG! WOMMAMMMIWLaY UUIJt W
Infortar closely monitorsa 6 JWIT 32 3G YGG W UqWe UT WRGGOWGWUqecqRYUWYn
initiatives.
fOWq6WRURI N! Wt JRqYI AWUgdWT RI DAqWUU2RI YOG WUqc¢ dl
GRORqUI AWIct W W] I Ye Gkt WnY#Het WRt WGI RGcl RG! wyOoww
¢l Rt JWn! YO W6 WWYGHI ¢ qRY ULWY n Whdidiaty Elénger, mditidireglgdd WY 5 U131
distribution networks, refueling stations, and related logistics. This includes network leaks,
maintenance-related activities, and the distribution of LNG and CNG to clients and refueling
points.
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The indirect environmental impact of the energy segment (reported under Scope 3 in the ESG
| JGY!l gqbwWcaGYeaeUqt WaqYWe GGl Y¥RAGcqUG! WNKOYWaGRAGGRYUWqY

from procurement, sale, and enduser combustion of LNG. In the realestate investment

segment, the key environmental impact is related to the carbon footprint of properties leased to

tenants, primarily from energy consumption (heating and electricity) within the buildings.

N6WUW] 1 YeGkt WAYAGGECURWDt WeYal Wt RDURNRACUqWRU2 13t qi 13U
neutral impact on the environment.

Infortar headquarters on Liivalaia street in Tallinn. Rito Arbo Rae
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Corporate governance report

This report is made in accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act and gives an overview of the
governance of Aktsiaselts Infortar and its compliance with the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Recommendations (CGR) of the NASDAQ Tallinn Stock ExoppanThe Group follows
most of the articles of the CGR except where indicated otherwise in this report.

The Corporate Governance Statement is published by reference in the Sustainability Report in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of ESRS @O\+1 § 20 (a) and 8 21 (c).

Organisation and Administration

Pursuant to the Estonian Commercial Code and the articles of association of the Company, the
right to make decisions and the administration of the Company are divided between the
shareholders represented by the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Supemig Board and the
Management Board. The following diagram represents the governance structure of the Group:
NGgIJW oOovYacGeU! Kkt W ERNAIITE min NV 211l BN

body is the General Meeting of

Shareholders. The primary duties of General Meeting of

the General Meeting of Shareholders Shareholders

are to approwe the annual report and

the distribution of dividends, elect Audit Committee Supervisory Board

and remove members of the
Supervisory Board, elect auditors,
pass resolutions on any increase or
decrease in share capital, change
the articles of association and
resolve other issues, which are the responsibility of the General Meeting of Shareholders by law.

According to the law, the articles of association can be amended only by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. In such a case it is required that 2/3 of the pécipating votes are for it. Tle Annual

General Meeting of Shareholders that approves the annual report no later than six months after

the end of the financial year is held once a year. Every shareholder or his/her proxy with a relevant

written power of attorney may attend the General eting of Shareholders, discuss the items on

the agenda, ask questions, make proposals and vote. A controlling shareholder refrains from
unreasonably harming the rights of other shareholders, both at the General Meeting of
Shareholders and upon organizingg 6 W9 YOG Ge U! ¢+ WG ¢ UenNnWGWUqWe UT Wt 6 ¢
position. The Supervisory Board determines the agenda for the shareholders' general meeting and

prepares the draft resolutions for all matters to be voted on at the General Meeting. If the General

Meeting is convened by the shareholders, the Supervisory Board or theiditor, the Supervisory

Board or the Auditor prepares the draft resolutions for all matters to be voted on and submits

them to the management board.

Management Board

The Company publishes a notice of an Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and an
Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders at least three weeks in advance in a national daily

Ulst GeGUI AWRUWq6 Wt qYHE WHI+EFHEEcUNVUWRUN Yditel atq RY U LWL
www.infortar.ee. The notice includes information on where the meeting will be held.

INFORTAR 1231



INFORTAR GROUP

CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NGWJWeNWUT ¢cWYnNWaqélWaWUIqRUNAWqS W7 Yel T kt WGI YGYHT ¢
relevant materials are made available to the shareholders before the General Meeting of
EScl DYOT W+ WwYUWaqd6 W9 YaGceU! kt Ws WHY Ra ITalionthhdl g 61 Y e f
Helsinki stock exchanges. Additionally, the notice of calling the General Meeting of Shareholders
is published in daily national newspapers at least three weeks before the meeting date. The
shareholders may ask questions before the General Meklg of Shareholders by sending an email
to investor@infortar.ee.

The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board engages in oversight arldng-term management activities such as
supervising the Management Board and approving business plans, acting independently in the
best interest of all shareholders. No residency requirements apply to the members of the
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board regs to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Supervisory Board consists of five to seven members. Members of the Supervisory Board are
elected for periods of three years at a time. The Supervisory Board elects one of its members as
chairman. For electing a member to the Supervisory Board, his ber written consent is needed.

The General Meeting of Shareholders may remove any member of the Supervisory Board without
a reason. Such a decision requires 2/3 of the votes represented at the General Meeting of
Shareholders. A member of the Supervisory Board may resign without a reasoy informing the
General Meeting of Shareholders about the resignation. The Supervisory Board is responsible for
supervising the management of the Company and organising its operations. The Supervisory
7Yl TWT gl GRUVY Waé6 WWGI R EtEYR @gadizatibn, hnldloopddatihg Y G G¢ 0!
plans and budgets, financing and accounting. The Supervisory Board elects the members of the
Management Board and determines their salaries and benefits. The members of the Supervisory
Board avoid conflicts of interestand observe the prohibition on competition. The Supervisory
Board and the Management Board work closely in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders, acting in accordance with the articles of association. Confidentiality rules are
followed in exchanging information. The Management Board and the Supervisory Board closely
collaborate to achieve the better protection of the interests of the Company. The Management
Board and Supervisory Board jointly participate in the development of the operatisnobjectives
and strategy of the Company.

The Management Board

The Management Board is an executive body charged with the diprday management of the

Company, as well as with representing the Company in its relations with third parties, for example

in entering into contracts on behalf of the Company. The ManagemenoBrd is independent in

q6 Rl WI WHRY RYUt We UT We #qt WRUWq6 WWAHDY qWRUqI 3t gt W
Board must adhere to the decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and lawful orders of

the Supervisory Board. The Management Boardsures, with its best efforts, that the Company
HYOGGUORUt WsRaé6WqéJWiades WeUT Wagbec qgdJWoOYaGeU! k£t WRU
operate effectively.
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For electing a member to the Management Board his or her written consent is needed. The
Chairman of the Management Board may propose that the Supervisory Board also appoint a vice
HECRI GcUOWYNWq6WW~cUeNPBaRNUqW7 Yel T 4ALWbseicdlof théi’n RGt Wa
chairman. Every member of the Management Board may represent the Company alone in any
legal and business matter. According to the law the Supervisory Board may recall any member of
the Management Board without a reason. A member of the Managent Board may resign
without a reason by informing the Supervisory Board about the resignation.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board cooperate closely for the purpose of better

Gl YqUARqRYUWYNWq6JWOYGGeU! kt WRUqIII It qt OWNGSWW~¢ Uc¢n
Board of any material circumstances concerning the planning and businesscévities of the

Company, activity-based risks, and the management of such risks. The Management Board

b IJGEl ¢cqua! WRecadt WeaqaqUWUqRYUWqY LW eASGWAGEUNIIH WRULWa6
set plans and purposes and indicates the reasons for sth changes. The information is delivered

promptly and covers all material circumstances.

Audit Committee
By decision of the Supervisory Board, Infortar has established an Audit Committee, appointed its
GUGHDIt AWwe U7 WEe GGl Y2UT W6 WWOYGaRagalWIIkt W 2013t WY n WC

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring andanalysing the processing of financial
information, the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems, the audit
process of the annual report and consolidated financial statements, as well as the independence
of the audit firm and the auditor represating the firm under thelaw. TheCommittee's role is to
advise the Supervisory Board by providing recommendations and proposals.

The Audit Committee consists of three members. Members of the Audit Committee are appointed

for an indefinite term. The Committee convenes as needed, but no less than twice per year. The

9YI GYl ¢qlW] Y211 U¢ URIWE q¢ qlla 13U spub¥idiayNsatiailaRl€)das 8 Wf Un VY |
separate subsectioninN ¢ 4 0 RUt W] | e GGkt W=M=nNW UUz¢dWANGY! q
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Risk management policy

The primary objective of the] | Ye Gkt WI Rt t WacUecNWAGWUqWGYORHA! WR
F6Cl B6YOTl 31+ k WIJhe R q -téths divatdgio devdlopm@nBof thebilisinéskl. IRigky U N

are defined as unexpected changes in the business environment or internal processes that may

negatMJ i ! WE N nUHqWa6 DWHYGGEU! kt WnRUCURRCECOWGI nYl Gc¢UF

The main risk relates to strategic market risk associated with capitahtensive investments,
particularly the risk of making misjudged longierm strategic decisions regarding the future
prospects of a specific business sector. The Group mitigates strategirisk by preparing
comprehensive and thoroughly assessed business plans and analyses, especially when entering
new markets or sectors.

To manage credit risk and the resulting potential liquidity risk where losses may arise if end
customers or business partners fail to meet contractual obligations, possibly leading to a
shortage of liquid funds for Infortar to meet its own financial obliggonsy the Group employs
centralised financial management tools, including group cash pooling systems, maintains
adequate reserves and access to banking instruments, and continuously monitors cash flow
forecasts and actual liquidity status. Risk is furthereduced through longterm relationships with
reliable credit institutions and by aligning the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.

The primary responsibility for risk management lies with the management boards of the
companies in which Infortar has invested. Infortar places heightened expectations on risk
management in these companies, particularly in areas material to its investmenportfolio. The

]I YeGkt WI Rt WaGeUeNWGWUqWGYORHA! WRY WT R HGYH I WHAH!
accordance with the disclosure requirements of ESRS S1.

Internal monitoring of safety and security risks and compliance with regulatory principles
In the development of infrastructure and real estate, and through the operation of buildings used
daily by employees, customers, and visitors, the Group is committed to ensuring the safety and
security of these facilities. This involves continuous internamonitoring and adherence to safety
principles across all activities related to buildings and infrastructure.

In our real estate and infrastructure development projects, we comply with all regulatory
requirements related to design, construction, and safety. We collaborate exclusively with
competent and reliable construction companies and subcontractors and ensurehe use of high
guality materials and construction practices. As property managers, we monitor and mitigate
risks arising from the general maintenance and cleanliness of buildings and their surroundings to
ensure they do not pose a threat to people.

Ongoing Assessment and Management of Financial Risks (Credit, Liquidity, Interest Rate,
Market)

The objective of financial risk management is to maintain a balance between funding continuity
and financial flexibility, using bank overdrafts, loans, and other debt instruments. To optimize
cash flow management, the Group has entered into group cash poalgreements with banks,
enabling access to intragroup overdraft facilities and the efficient use of account balances
across the Group. These systems allow for negative balances on individual accounts within the
limits of the group arrangement.

INFORTAR 1261



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
Credit risk refers to the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet their contractual obligations. This risk mainly arises from trade
receivables and contractual assets. The maximum exposur® credit risk is the carrying amount
of financial and contractual assets recognized in the balance sheet.

Liquidity risk represents the potential inability of the Group to meet its obligations in a timely
manner due to changes in its financial position. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient reserves, banking instruments, and access to finacing, continuously monitoring cash
flow forecasts and actual balances, and aligning the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.

Interest rate risk arises from short and longterm borrowings with variable interest rates,
primarily tied to EURIBOR fluctuations. The Group monitors interest rate trends and their
potential impact on financing costs.

To manage market risks, the Group continuously reviews the strategic objectives outlined in its
business plans, alongside market changes and other critical success factors. This proactive
approach enables the Group to both mitigate the impact of market vatility and leverage
opportunities arising from market shifts. As part of its financial risk management, Group
companies engage in the purchase and sale of derivative instruments and may assume short
term financial obligations as needed. To reduce volattly in profits and losses, the Group applies
economically effective hedging strategies where appropriate.

Compliance with Environmental and BusinessRelated Regulations and Requirements

In all areas of business where energy consumption and waste generation occur, the Group
ensures full compliance with applicable regulations, including those concerning energy
efficiency and waste management for newly developed buildings and infrastructuregs well as
other relevant environmental impacts. We continuously seek new opportunities to align
investment decisions and business development with the climate goals set out in green transition
policies, environmental regulations, and the growing expectabns of the public.

Asset Risk Coverage through Insurance

The Group manages assetelated risks by maintaining insurance coverage to ensure
compensation for potential damages to assets related to its business activities. This approach
supports the sustainability and continuity of operations. All major Group asset are covered
under property insurance policies.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDITING

The consolidated financial statements of Aktsiaselts Infortar have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS EU)
and Estonianlegislation. Thefinancial statements are audited and subsequently approved by the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

NYWq6 WWAHDY quWY nWwf UnYl q¢l kt Wt UYsaWT NUAWq6JWeaTl RaVl
audited the company in accordance with InternationalStandards on Auditing (ISA). To ensure the

reliability of information presented in the annual report, internal audits are conducted. For

enhanced risk management and control, an Audit Committee and an internal audit function have

been established, both ofwhich participate in the financial reporting process.

A tender process was held to select the provider of audit services. The main evaluation criteria
were:
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Timing and location of the audit;

Membership in an international network and expertise in the relevant business sector;
Audit engagement terms and payment conditions;

Scope of audited entities.

= =4 =4 =4

As a result of the evaluation process, an audit agreement was signed with KPMG Baltics OU for
the provision of services to all Group companies operating in Estonia. An exception is made for
the associate companies of OU EG Biofond, which have an audit agm@ent with Grant Thornton
Baltic OU.

N6WWecel RqWniJt wWe UT Wt #YGUWYnWagdéWWeel RaY! kt W It G
agreements concluded with each Group company. Costs related to sustainability reporting and

other assurance services are included in the total annual volume ofesvices ordered by Group

companies. The audit costs of Tallink have been included as of May 2024.

(in thousands of EUR]

Type of Engagement 2024
Audit fees (group, parent company, subsidiaries, and associates) 501
Costs related to the preparation and assurance of the 155
sustainability report

Review costs 6
Other assurance services 92,5

e

BallicConnector station in Kiili. Photo Karmo Kaasik '
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Key people in Management
SUPERVISORY BOARD

Enn Pant (born in 1965)T Chairman of the Supervisory Board of AS
Infortar since 1997

n Chairman of the Supervisory Board of AS Tallitrupp since 2015

n Chairman of the Management Board of AS Tallink Grupp between
1996 and 2015, CEO

n Secretary General of the Ministry of Finance from 1992 until 1996
n Graduated from the School of Economics and Business
Administration of the University of Tartu in 1990

Kalev Jarvelill (born in 1965)T Member of the Supervisory Board of AS
Infortar since 2003

n  Member of the Supervisory Board of AS Tallink Grupp since 2007,

n  Member of the Management Board of AS Tallink Grupp from 199
until 2006

n Director General of the Estonian Tax and Customs Board from
1995 until 1998

n Deputy Secretary General of the Ministry of Finance from 1994
until 1995

n  Graduated from the School of Economics and Business Administration of the University of
Tartu in 1993

Toivo Ninnas (born in 1940)T Member of the Supervisory Board of AS
Infortar since 2011

n Chairman of the Supervisory Board of AS Tallink Grupp from 1997
until 2016

n From 1973 until 1997, worked in Eesti Merelaevandus (Estonian
Maritime

n  Shipping); starting from 1987, he was the Director General

n Graduated from the Far Eastern High Engineering Maritime College

(FEHEMC)
n in 1966, where he specialised in the management of shipping operations
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Mare Puusaag (born 1956)- Member of the Supervisory Board of AS

Infortar since 2023

n From 1997 T 2023 General Counsel and Advisor to the‘ ]
Management Board of Tallink .

n From 19941 1997 Deputy Head of the Legal Department of the
Ministry of Finance \

n From 19821994 Deputy Head of the Economic Law Department
of the Ministry ofJustice

n  Graduated from the Faculty of Law of the University of Tartu in 1982

MANAGEMENT BOARD

Ain Hanschmidt (born in 1961)t Chairman of the Management Board
of AS Infortar since 2005

n Member of the Supervisory Board of AS Tallink Grupp since 2005;
also, from 1997 until 2000

n Served as the Chairman of the Management Board of SEB Eesti
Uhispank AS for a long time

n Graduated from the Polytechnical Institute (TalTech) in 1984

Eve Pant(born in 1968)r Member of the Management Board of AS Infortar since 1997

n  Member of the Supervisory Board of AS Tallink Grupp since 1997
n  Graduated from the Tallinn School of Economics in 1992
fUnYl G¢cqRYUWI WNelI TRUNW6E WWHEY G GG hcUcecnia
disclosed by reference in the Sustainability Report in accordance with
the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and the
disclosure requirements of ESRS 2 SBI#l § 40 (a) and § 42
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Shares belonging to the members of the management and supervisory board as at 31

December 2024
The shareholdings of the members of the Supervisory Board and Management Boarttluding
both direct holdings and holdings through controlled companieshs of the end of 2024 were as

follows:

Number of Term of
shares Authority

Enn Pant 5536 216 13.06.2027
Toivo Ninnas 1303 900 21.05.2030
Kalev Jarvelill 4 924 966 13.06.2027
Mare Puusaag 1 000 13.06.2028
Ain Hanschmidt 4 882 855 22.08.2026
Eve Pant 161 200 17.05.2027

Disclosure of Information

Infortar follows good corporate governance practices in disclosing information and treats all
shareholders equally. All disclosed information is published in both Estonian and English on the
HYGGeU! kt Ws DAY RqUAWYUWq6 W ¢+ T ¢chWNecadRUUWEqqYHT WE
system (OAM) managed by the Financial Supervision Authority.

Meetings with investors are organized as needed and in accordance with investors' wishes. After

the publication of interim reports, the Group organizes a public webinar. These meetings are

limited to information that has already been disclosed. The companyublishes the times and

locations of key meetings with investors. Presentations intended for investors are available on
qé6WWHYAGGe U! kt Ws At RalJtO

However, the Group does not comply with the recommendation to disclose the time and location
of every individual investor meeting, nor to allow all shareholders to participate in these meetings,
as this would not be practical and would be technically diftult to arrange (CGC 5.6).
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CONSOLIDATEDSUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Dear reader of the 2024 Sustainability Report of
Infortar

The ongoing green transition in Europe, along with
policies and standards promoting greater
business transparency and the goal of building a
climate-neutral Europe, has prompted the Infortar
Group to increasingly assess its current and future
operations through the lens of sustainability and
the green transition. This has been a major
challenge, as we are a fasgrowing investment
company, both in Estonia and internationally. Last
year was marked by the consolidation of Tallink as
a subsidiary, the lateyear integration of Elenger
Polska, a Polish energy company focused on the
Net Wt UAqY! AWRUqY Waq6WWf UnY!l gqel W] I YeGAWq6 WWe Hhue Rt |
Gl YT erUIt Al q6 W HYAGGeU! kt WnRItgqWneddW! el wyow q
Sustainability reporting has become a complex process and we are gratdfto our partners at

PwC for their professional support in preparing the report in compliance with the requirements of

the CSRD Directive, the Taxonomy Regulation, and the ESRS standa lOLI[ Y| Waqé I Wn R1 t q Waq |
2024 Sustainability Report has undergone an audit.

We believe that as a business, it is important to move in sync with society. That is why we wish to

offer the best to our customers, while being in line with the wider societal vision of being
sustainable and achieving a climateneutral economy by 2050. Athe same time, we believe that

from an entrepreneurial perspective, it is more practical to remain flexible in future planning and

open to new opportunities, rather than adhering to rigid roadmaps when working toward making

existing businesses climateneutral. In our view, the changes in society, politics, market

behaviour, and technology are too unpredictable to plan for years ahead. This is why we have not

P JqWl RY AGYE UT W6 WW 1 Ye Gkt WHIRGec qUWUWe ql ¢cherRq! WGH ¢
process of developing a suitable approach.

The most challenging part of the preparation of this report is the mapping of the direct (impact
area 1, 2) and indirect (impact area 3) footprint of the Group companies (Infortar has 108
subsidiaries in total) in CQ equivalents. Compared to the previous year, agriculture has been
introduced as a new business area in the sustainability report. In the shipping segment, the most
significant change was the Tallink Group becoming a subsidiary of Infortar last year, leadiho
the consolidation of all emissionswithin its area of influence. While relatively small in absolute
terms, this year, we have also included the emissions impact from affiliates in which we hold a
50% stake in our emissions impact calculations.

While preparing the report, we collaborated in working groups to analyse the projected impact of

climate change on our business segments, identify new opportunities, assess the associated

risks, and evaluate the longterm environmental impact of our operdions. The report also

Gl Y2RT 1t We Wl DgecROWDT WY211 2RUs WY NnWagé W YRR¢ G We Ul Wa
important to us, along with the relevant metrics to be disclosed.
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We believe the best way for a business to grow is by striving to offer the best services and products
to our customers and this is also our approach to the green transition.

We hope you find this report informative.
Imre Murk
Development Manager of Infortar
Infortar Group's 2024 GHG emissions by business segment and scope

GHG emissions by segments and scopes (t CO, eq)

250000
5511474
200000
150 000
100 000
50 000
o M__ — —_ H -
General
Construct . ..
. managem Agricultur Maritime
Energy ionand
. ent, real e transport
minerals
estate
W Scope 1 12643 2075 495 12777 175 881
B Scope 2 (market-based) 2072 848 3285 908 9079
Scope 3 5511474 23765 3677 6 506 206 996
GHG emissions for 2024 (%) GHG emissions by segments (%)
0%
0% _~ " -0%
14% — 7%
0%
93% _/
96%_/ = Energy
Construction and minerals
Generalmanagement, real estate
= Agriculture
= Scope1 = Scope 2 (market-based) Scope 3 = Maritime transport
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GENERALUNFORMATION

Basis for the report

This report has been prepared on the basis of the European Sustainability Reporting Standards
(ESRS) in accordance with the requirements of the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting
Directive (EU) 2022/2464 (CSRD) arsdibsection 31 (4) of the Accounting Act.

SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

N6 WDWf UnY!l gqc¢cl W] 1 YeGkt Wt et q¢c RUCHRORq! WI WGY! qlinyYl W
consolidated basis. The information and metrics presented in this Sustainability Report cover

YUG! W6 W] 1 Ye Gkt W 2 At RT R¢ | RIJt édsndh¥ finAhdikn Satémdits R ¢ O WI 17
of the Infortar Group on a lineby-line basis, except for Elenger Polska, a Polish gas distribution

and energy sales company acquired in December 2024. As Elenger Polska was added to the

Infortar Group in the last weeks of tILI! IJ¢ 1 AW g6 I WWs ¢t WOYWqRGUG! Wet
sustainability data and the accuracy of the consolidated data could not be verified. In addition,
EGUUNYI WAYGt t ¢kt WnRUcURReOWI Wt 2taqt Wel DWOYqWRUHDG 2
Regulaion (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council (the Taxonomy
Audnzitdc¢qRYUb IOWEGUUNYI WAYGt t ¢cWs RIGWAHWWRUAG2T IT WRU
SMZPIOWE+FHUDGqRYUcOG! AURUW q6 Rt WI WGY! qABIGEGILNILII W A
performance indicators (KPIs) for strategic management (pagé0), as the financial indicators

| Ddcaqll WaqYWagdéWWe Ahve Rt RaqRYUWq!l ¢ Ut ¢ HqRYUWe I JWI 13401
investment activities. For acquisitions that occurred during the reporting year, the data of the

newly added entity is consolidatedinto the metrics disclosed in the Sustainability Report on a

pro-l ¢ qclWHect Rt AWt ¢l qRUNDWNI YA W6 WIWT ¢qlWYnwWnRUc UHI
included in this Sustainability Report, except in the calculations of GHG footprint 3 where Talk

was an affiliate. The list of subsidiaries is given in the financial report on pad44 and the list of

affiliates is given in the group structure chart in the management report on pad.0. This report

does not make use of the possibility under subsection &) of the ESRS 2 to omit specific

information corresponding to intellectual property, knowhow, or innovation results.

Coverage of upstream and downstream stages of the value chain

This Sustainability Report only includes information for the companies belonging to the Infortar

group, except for the value chain data included in the calculations of GHG impact zone 3.

Significant impacts, risks, and opportunities associated with the upgream and downstream

FqenNWt WYnWaqdWW] 1l YeGkt Wa¢cRUWZ2ete DWHSERUOY WEE21IWF
assessment.

Presentation of data by reference
A list of the disclosure requirements by reference can be found iAnnex 1.to the Sustainability
Report.
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GOVERNANCE

Governance andsupervisory bodies

NGDWOYI GYIl ¢cqlW] Y2131 UcUHINDWANGY! qWG! Y2 Ré23)tabde ULWY 2 171
the members of the supervisory board and the management board, together with their education

and professional experience (pag 29). All members of the management board are part of the

executive management and none of the members of the supervisory board are part thfe

DAz qR2VWI¢UecNUGUUqOW~13aH + WYnWgéJWN! Ye Gkt Wa ¢ U
necessary expertise to monitor sustainability aspects through the involvement of experts from

within and outside the Group in areas of significantimpacts and rist W¢ UT WY GGY Il qe URqRIJ4
management board is gendetbalanced, with three men and one woman in the supervisory board.

Of the four members of the supervisory board, one, Mare Puusaag, is an independent member.

fOnYl q¢l Kkt Wt 2aGWIl 2Rt Yt Woatd dd Tnatl indibfielladyc &hiplbysal

I DG Wt BUgqcqR21t OWTf UnYl qcecl W]l YeGWRY WGaGeUenIT wWRUOL
Governance Principles, which aim to provide a common agreed basis for the organisation of
governance to support the implementation ofstrategy and the quality achievement of business
YATWHqR2 It OWRsIWNY21W1 UcUAVDWGI RUARRGOIY Wel JWe GG Y
AYcl T oWwf UnYl q¢l kt WacUenNPUaWUqWAYCE! T WRY W 3t GYUt RHAT
governance principles.

Sustainability governance

The Infortar Group takes an integrated approach to sustainability management and sustainability
issues are integrated into daily management activities. An integral part of the overall management
of the Group is to identify and implement opportunities to ahieve positive sustainability impacts
cUT WaqYWe2YRT We Ul WARQRNEqUWET 2131+ DWRAGGe Hat Wel Rt R
the services provided or transactions. As the Infortar Group operates in a number of sectors with
a high climate impact,for which the transition to a climate neutral economy will entail significant
business changes, sustainability impacts, risks, and opportunities are considered an integral part
of the monitoring of strategy, key transactions as well as risk management presses, and trade
offs between sustainability, current market, and regulatory conditions and business performance
are taken into account.

2 JARt RYUt wWYUOUWago6 Wt ql ¢qdn! weUT Wt et q¢ RUCHRGORGq! Wet C
supervisory board. The CEO, together with the members of the management board, decides on

the responsible business principles and their implementation in li) s Ra 6 Wf UnY !l q¢ | &t LW
]I YeGkt WRSRUINWI W23aYGaWU0qWYnnRHEDI We U7 W6 Wl UGe q!
implementation of sustainability decisions and the coordination and execution of dayto-day

activities in all Group companies.f Un Yl q¢l kt WG ¢ Uec NG WUqWRY WRUWKAG Y |
the chief development officer and the deputy chief financial officer on sustainability issues, which

are regularly on the agenda of management meetings. The management is also informed of the

views and interests of key affected stakeholders, both through the presentation of the
engagement results conducted as part of the materiality assessment and through the regular

analysis of feedback from customers, staff, partners, and the community. During theeporting

period, management and supervisory bodies have addressed a range of sustainability impacts,

risks, and opportunities assessed as material, in particular those related to climate change and

the material impacts related to their workforce.
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When setting Groups RT DLW+t 2t q¢ RUCAHRGRq! Wacecl NUat AllgqéJW] I Ye
cooperation with the managers of the subsidiaries in the target area, develops a target proposal,
which is agreed by the management and approved by the supervisory drd. The action plans
necessary to achieve the Groupwide objectives are developed by the management of each
teAt RTRel WYl W] I YeGgoWwW H#6RW2WGWUqUWYnWaqdWWagel NIJa
meetings.

Inclusion of sustainability performance in incentive schemes

gUNW YnW q6WlWnYaUTl ¢qRYUL W Ynw f UnY!l g-tedmk viewd andd 2 UIJ1 ¢
sustainability. According to the established principles for the remuneration of the members of the
management board, remuneration must be aimed at promoting the longerm sustainable
development of the Group, the achievement of strategic objectives, and the increase in the value

of the shares held by shareholders, taking into account, among other things, environmental and

corporate social responsibility aspects. Remuneratio of board members is not linked to specific
sustainability objectives, including the achievement of GHG emission targets.

Declaration of due diligence
The main aspects and stages of the due diligence process of the Infortar Group are related to
several disclosure requirements of the ESRSs and are mapped in the table below.

Integration of due diligence
into governance, strategy, and
business model

Sustainability report Sustainability report
chapter page

nmWEat q¢ RUCHRGRq!|35
nWEaql ¢ qldn! 38
Integration of due diligence intojn WE | ¢ q JNRALWY AT 1340

governance, strategy, and
business model

mAYGR#A! WYUWAHet RU
corporate culture, prevention and |93
detection of corruption and bribery

MWEqet 36VYaTl Wl WRU

perspectives 42
Involvement of affected - o o
stakeholders in all key stages of v L”? I_‘” Hl R Gm.R YUY
due diligence |c_ien_t|_fy|ng gnd assessing 44
significant impacts, risks, and
opportunities
nW? 1t #l RGaqRYUWY™n
identifying and assessing
Identification and assessment | significant impacts, risks, and
of adverse impacts opportunities 45
mWERNURNRHAHE UqWRG
opportunities 49
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E1l p.63
E2 p.71
E3 p.75

. e E4 p.76
Taking action to mitigate these [ LUN S D WBAY O RARIIE L E5 E 78

negative impacts under each topical standard S1p.81

S2 p.87
S3p.88
S4 p.90
G1 p.92
nWEeat q¢ RUCHRGRq! |35
mWEq!l ¢qldn! 38

E1l p.63
E2 p.71

L . E3 p.75
Monitoring the effectiveness of E4 p.76

these efforts and reporting onitjy WN 6 JWHAY O REHRIJE L E5 p.78
under each topical standard s1 p.81

S2 p.87
S3p.88
S4 p.90
G1p.92

Risk management and internal control for sustainability reporting

Due to the novelty of sustainability reporting, the related risk management and internal control

processes within the Infortar Group are being developed and improved. In the absence of an
automated sustainability reporting data collection system, the mainrisks relate to data

availability, completeness, and integrity. Due to the size and the diversity of the Infortar Group,

different accounting and data management programs are used in the subsidiaries, and data for

the consolidated sustainability report is collected manually using spreadsheets. Data entry is

Hel | RUT WYeqWA! WadéJWt 2 At RT Rel Rt kWeHAY2UqeUqt Alle
responsible for control and implementation of the foureyes principle. A person responsible for

the collection of qualitative information for the Sustainability Report has been appointed in each

t 2 At RT Rel ! WYl WNI YeGAWe UT Wagd6dW] 1 Ye Gkt WHSERIInNWI 321
consolidating the information. In order to mitigate the risks associatedwvith the sustainability

reporting process, the Infortar Group is mapping possible software solutions to automate the
sustainability reporting system and data collection. Findings related to the sustainability

reporting process are reported to the managemé qq WWHY ¢ 1 T WY nWaqdé W] | Ye GWH! W
development officer.
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STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

Business model and value chains

The Infortar Group is an|Country | Number of employees as of 31 December 2024
international investment group |Estonia 3593
whose core businesses are in||Latvia 0998
maritime transport, energy, and |Ljthuania 99
real estate. An overview of the |Einland 957
Infortar Group is presented in the |Sweden 497
management report (pagel0). A |pPoland 14
T Ut #I RGARYUW Yn|derdadhyd W T T Ya Gkt W 6
business model and value chain, the main groups of products/services

offered, and the main markets served can be found in the management report on pade.

Significant events and changes during the reporting period are presented in the management

report on pagel4fOWN 6 WA Det T Ys UWYnWgS6 W] | Ye Gkt WaqYGe aWRUA
to the consolidated annual accounts (page 133). The number of salaried employees by
geographical area is shown in the table below.

Strategy

fOUnYl q¢l kKt WG Rt +p&férohidpRebnipaniéd e aRstrandlisaiBet fosition, with the

aim of achieving stable and aboveaverage growth in the value of investments and a diversified

portfolio with a strong asset base and cash flow. In order to deve this goal, investments will be

guided by longterm socio-economic trends, and investment and management decisions will be

GeT DWaqYWHEI Weaqdwt ' U1 DRIJY WHWD s BJIUWF UnYl q¢l kKt WH2t R

In order to remain competitive and manage market risks in the context of the green transition,

Infortar must be able to adapt quickly and turn sustainability challenges into business
opportunities. Innovation and openness are core values at Infortar. Ther@up is continuously

looking for ways to make investment decisions and to better align its business with the climate

goals, environmental requirements, and growing public expectations arising from green

transition policies. To provide the necessary certaity for major investment decisions, the

]I YeGkt W ql ¢qlN! WRY WagYWHz2 RGT WYUWadéWnRI aWwe Ul Wwe U#r
economy.

The energy sector has an important role to play in achieving the EU 2050 climateutrality
YATWUHQR2JWOWNS W ¢ TY!I Ra! WYnWgdé W 32130z 3WYnwf UnYl q
sale of natural gas in the Baltic countries and Finland. Althougmatural gas, as one of the cleanest

fuels® (compared to oilbased products, oil shale, or coal), can be considered a transitional fuel

RUOW@6 PWGG KT Re & Waldl G A LWa 6-Reltiliy objedtive will le@dddatieckeasdlft 0 R G ¢ q |
demand for natural gas in the long term. Against this background, Un Y1 q¢ | k+ Wt ql ¢ qldN! U
business segment is to expand existing and operational business models into new geographic

markets, to make balanced investments in transition and renewable energy sources, and to

create synergies between existing and newusiness lines.

1388 LyGSNYIFo2iltft pSy § NEvavw!. 3 $varOdsorég d-5 & p d eetnse/ritglyen s i t i ons
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Transport is also one of the key sectors for achieving the EU climateeutrality objective. The
Tallink Group is developing its own transition plan for climate change mitigation to ensure
compliance with the targets set by both the European Union and the International Maritime
Organisation. Although the development of sustainable marine fuels to meet the anitious
climate targets set for maritime transport is unclear, Tallink has developed strategic principles to
reduce its environmental impact, mainly through the implementation of energysaving solutions.

tWeUWRU213F qaWUqweéyYal RUNDWAEYGGe U! AWf UnYl q¢l kt WG
feasibility of the chosen investment strategy. The main risk associated with capitahtensive
investments is the strategic market risk, which is primarily the risk of makg an erroneous
Fagl ¢cqUNRAWT WARY RYUWYUWq6WWneaqel JWGI Yt GUHq WYnLW
valuable resource is a responsible team with longerm experience, contributing day by day to the
development of the whole Group.

The Group hedges strategic market risk by preparing thorough and wethnsidered business
plans and the necessary analyses both when developing existing business segments and when
expanding into new markets and business areas. Lontgrm strategic managemert decisions
always take into account the potential environmental and social impacts that may be involved.
From 2025 onwards, a sustainability analysis will be carried out prior to the acquisition of new
businesses as part of the pretransaction due diligence. The pretransaction analysis will assess
the metrics, policies, and practices of the acquired company in the areas of climate change,
resource use, employees, human rights, diversity, corporate governance, ethics, and stakeholder
engagement.

The Group is aware of the principles and practices set out in human rightdoocuments and

conventions, including the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, the OECD
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the International Labour Organisation (ILO) Declaration

on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, and the UNniversal Declaration of Human

Rightsc UT Wac¢t 3t Waqdé It JWGI RUHRGH Ut WRUqVYWeHAY2 Uq s 6 130 LW
activities, incl. in their relationships with affected communities and consumers/endusers. These

principles are also expected to be upheld by partners and suppliers, including in their
relationships with employees. The Group has not established separate measures to remedy

and/or enable impacts on human rights, and when remedying potential damage, the Group

follows the regulatoryrequirements of the respective country of operation.

INFORTAR 1391



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Strategic objectives

Environment

People

Governance

Core Value

Innovation

We believe excellent business results
can largely be achieved through
continuous technological innovation
and innovative leadership thinking.

Openness

Smile and commitT bkter cooperation
begins with an open communication
culture. We are open to new ideas and
different ways of thinking. We value
collaboration within the team and with
partners. Everyone in our team has
equal opportunities and supportive
conditions for growth, creativity, and self
realization.

Reliability

Good business is built on trust, respect,
and mutual understanding at both
individual and organizational levels.

Investment Principle

We invest in ventures that support
mutual investment synergy.

We possess uniqgue competence in
managing large-scale investments.

We are active investors, participating in
decision-making and taking
responsibility.

Responsible
Business Principle

We create long-term environmental
value and reduce the grougs direct and
indirect environmental impact.

n\We influence dialogue and work on
solutions and offers that enable Infortar,
its clients, and communities to make
positive contributions to a sustainable
future.

n\eé contribute to the development of
society and future generations.

nQur entire activity is based on the
principles of sustainability and
responsibility. We are accountable for
our actions and values, aiming for
openness and transparency.

n\We manage risksincluding
environmental, social, and governance-
related risks.

1401
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Environment

People

Governance

Strategic Goal

nRHduction of group greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions.

nibdrease share of renewable energy
production.

nAlign with the ELR050 climate
neutrality vision and policy.

nitidrease employee satisfaction
nBH an attractive employer
nRtevent workplace accidents and
reduce absenteeism due to
injuries/illnesses.

nQ@dntribute to community
development.

nlbhprove sustainability governance
nAlign with international good corporate
governance practices.

Strategic Actions

nBiktend GHG measurement to Scop8
and set footprint reduction targets.
nibvestments in biomethane and solar
energy production.

nNap and evaluate potential projects in
other renewables (e.g. energy storage,
wind parks).

nHvelop a transition plan to reduce
climate impact in line with climate
legislation.

nlibhplement a groupwide employee
satisfaction survey.

nSlipport youth development
entrepreneurship, and sports
opportunities via active partnerships.

nHvelop sustainability strategy and
action plans.

nibhprove sustainability reporting
systems and data collection processes.
nHBHsure transparency and responsibility
in investment decisions.

Strategic KPI for
2024

NGEHG emissions Scopel: 203,871t
CO2-eq

n3dope 2 (market-based): 16,193t CO2-
eq

n3tope 3: 5,752,418t CO2-eq

ndtal GHG(market-based): 5,972,482t
CO2-eq

n3dlar power plant capacity 16.7 MW
n3dlar energy production9,739 MWh

nBihployee Net Promoter ScorédNPS): 6
nBihployee turnover 16%

nAilerage employee tenure in the group

8.7 years

n@ldoup revenue k1,371,775,300
nivestment return: EBITDA margin was
10.6% in 2024. Investment return varies
by business segment and is considered
in investment decisions.
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Stakeholder interests and views

2 4, 5. 1.
Investors and Employees Suppliers Clients
financiers and partners (undertakings,

private clients)

INFORTAR
3

+ Gas network LNG Biogas stations,
Community and 2339y (EELV) g

policymakers

REALESTATE/ | Hotels, offices, | Infrastructure
(EE’ FI* LT' LV. PL) EU CONSTRUCTION etc. construction
m e S
6. Supporting

: businesses:
Media printing services,
taxi, tennis
centre

The Infortar Group believes that through the involvement of different stakeholders and an open
and honest dialogue, the Group can continuously evolve and improve the quality and organisation
of its services and products. Today, the main competitive advange is no longer the price of
products and services; instead, customers base their decisions not only on price but also on
values. Infortar is open to new initiatives, ideas, and collaborative thinking that emerge from
conversations and meetings with Infor€ | kKt Wt q¢ nnAWHIRIUqt daWGe ! qUIII + Al
addition to taking into account its own workforce, Infortar also considers its role in the impacts
on workers in the value chain and uses its position as a major general contractor to ensure hig/
and safe working conditions for the employees of subcontractors and framework contractors in
construction activities. The activities related to value chain workers are set out in the S2 thematic
standard onpage87.

Infortar values people, community, and the environment. The Group is committed to engaging
future generations and educating the community through its activities. To contribute to the
development of communities, Infortar cooperates with community organisatbns and public
authorities. An overview of collaborations and donations during the reporting year can be found
in the S3 thematic standardon page88. Infortar aims to be a trusted and recognised partner for
its stakeholders.

The double materiality assessment process underlying this Sustainability Report and the related
stakeholder engagement was carried out separately in the Tallink Group and the rest of the

Infortar Group, as Tallink has a separate sustainability reporting dilgation and the materiality

ctt Wttt aRNUqWG! YHIDE Y Ws et W gq¢l qlT Ws 6 J0UWNeaaRUL Ws ¢t L
main stakeholders affected are customers, the community, employees, and suppliers and

partners. The main readers of the Sustaability Report are investors and financiers, policy

makers, and the media.
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As part of the materiality assessment process carried out by Infortar, investors and donors, the
community and policymakers, as well as suppliers and partners, were involved in the
identification phase of impacts, risks, and opportunities (IROs) through @ exploration of indirect
interests and positions. Indirect engagement with donors and partners was based on
b qet B6YaTl DIt kK WGe HORY 61T Wt 2t q¢ RUGCHRORq! WRUNY! G¢qfF
Policies and plans affecting the area were devejmed to involve the community and policy
makers. Employees were involved in the assessment of IROs through representatives in each
company of the Group. There are no particularly vulnerable and/or marginalised members of the
]I YeGkt Ws YI tnY!l HdbelspécHidally Mauddd. LU 13131

The Tallink Group engaged employees, customers, suppliers, investors, and other business
partners directly through an online survey, allowing them to rate the importance they attach to
different sustainability issues. The results of the survey were discugsl with stakeholders in
focus groups and interviews.

The interests and views of stakeholders taken into account in the materiality assessment are set
out in the description of the materiality assessment procesn page43.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROCESS FOR IDENTIFYING AND ASSESSING
SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS, RISKS, AND OPPORTUNITIES

Methods and assumptions

The process of identifying and assessing significant impacts, risks, and opportunities was carried
out in accordance with the ESRS, based on the double materiality principle. The materiality
assessment process, managed by the Infortar Group, covered all ¢hcompanies in the Group,
except Elenger Polska and Tallink Group. Although Elenger Polska was not included in the
materiality assessment by Infortar, a double materiality assessment had previously been carried
YeqWA! Wagé IWNI Ye GWY n LUbmietd AliNE sutidnghility Bspects dHBssétinRk Y 2 1
material by Elenger Polska are covered by the IROs assessed as material by the Infortar Group
and therefore, the exclusion of Elenger Polska from the assessment does not affect the results of
the double materiality assessment. Tallink Group carried out the materiality assessment
separately. The Infortar Group carried out the first double materiality assessment at the end of
2023 and the beginning of 2024. At the end of 2024, the previous process was valeitand the
significant IROs of the agricultural company added to the Group were further assessed. The
Tallink Group carried out a double materiality assessment for the first time in 2024.

f O WEYUqUW+FqWYnWl YaHGUWICql RETORq! AW W] | Ye Gk
based on similarities in potential IROs: maritime transport, energy, construction and mineral

resources, agriculture, service companies, and Groupnvide management. The selection of

important topics was based on IROs that were considered important across the Group as well as

IROs that were important for specific segments. Sustainability issues that Tallink considers

ROGY! qecUqs I DWRUqINI 6. dnlideritifAng éRO$L thed dddlysid c¥ver€iikiie LT 1Jt 2 ¢
entire value chain.
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The assessment of impacts took into account the severity of the impact and, in the case of

potential impacts, the likelihood. The mapping of impacts carried out by Infortar only identified

as potentially significant the impacts that have already occurred,i.e. actual impacts, and

therefore, the assessment of the likelihood of impacts was not appropriate in this process.

cYs W20l AWGYqUUqRecOWEt t Wt CcHIWWRAGE Hat Ws I JWRT 1IJ

process. The level and extent of the impact, as @l as the irreversibility in the case of negative

impacts, were taken into account in the assessment of severity. An impact was defined as

material if the combination of the companybased assessment and the validation by of the

NI Ye Gkt WU+ UHEHKRGRIZ VLLRIG IGIC #adli 102 131 Fajrit sbale=FiminLit ¥on WH 6 R N ¢

2101 ! W6RNGEbWs ¢t Wet JT WagYWet t It Wagswt 32101 Ra! Alls Ra6

a high-severity negative impact, there will be widespread impacts with damage andosts and

these impacts are very difficult to remedy. For positive impacts of high severity, there are

widespread positive impacts.

The assessment of risks and opportunities took into account the magnitude of the potential

financial impact and the likelihood of the risk or opportunity materialising in the medium term,

i.e. up to five years. As with impacts, the scoring was based on a figmint scale, and the

significance of the risk or opportunity is a combination of the magnitude of the financial impact

and the likelihood of materialisation. A risk or opportunity is considered to be material if it has a

significant impact on the achievemdJ q WY n Waq 6 WWRERY G Ge U! kKt Wt ql ¢ qUINDRHLWY A
or profit margin, and if there is at least a possible probability of materialisation within five years.

Impacts, risks and, opportunities assessed as insignificant in a fivgear perspective were further

analysed, but no IROs were identified that would become significant in the long term.

PROCESS

Business process analysis

In order to identify the relevant sustainability aspects, both Infortar and Tallink carried out an
analysis of their own business operations. An important part of the analysis was the mapping of
value chains by business segment and the review of existinggresses, documents, and data.
This process has resulted in an overview of the main sustainability issues where the Group has
an impact on people and the environment, or which in turn could have a material impact on the
]I YeGkt WnRU¢cURRCOGWGYt RaqRYUIO

Indirect stakeholder involvement

To determine the IROs, information disclosed by external stakeholders such as financiers and
partners, as well as previous sustainabilityrelated communication with Infortar, was analysed.

It was also based on the general orientations and focus themes exgssed by policy makers and
the sector. From the analysis of external stakeholders, there was a general expectation that
Infortar would systematically manage sustainability issues and ensure transparency of its
sustainability performance through reporting.Among the environmental issues, climate change
mitigation, both in terms of its GHG footprint and the role of natural gas as a transition fuel, was
highlighted. Among the social aspects, issues related to the treatment of employees and data
protection were the most prominent in the analysis of external stakeholders.

INFORTAR | 441



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Direct stakeholder involvement
In both materiality assessment processes, employees were directly involved in the materiality
assessment of IROs and their interests and views are reflected in the materiality assessment
| 1t 2dqt WNSWWNecadRUt W] I Ye Gkt WIT Yso khéiudad Grcanlidé R¢ 0 Rq !
survey to engage stakeholders, allowing employees, customers, suppliers, investors, and other
business partners to rate the importance of sustainability issues. In addition, the results of the
survey were discussed with stakeholdersn focus groups and interviews. The results of the online
survey showed that all the main areas of sustainability are equally important to stakeholders.
During further interviews, stakeholders highlighted the following aspects of importance to them.
Meanindgul work, equal treatment, fair pay, and opportunities for development are important for
employees. Staff also highlighted the importance of reducing waste and put forward good new
proposals to promote this. Open communication on sustainability aspects, tle protection of
Het qYOaUl t kWT cqcAWe Ul Waq6WWe2¢cRICHRIR! WYnWt et q¢
important issues for customers. The need to actively and transparently manage sustainability
issues across the value chain, to ensure that the sustainabty objectives and regulatory
requirements of all stakeholders are met, is a common thread among the different partners.
Regarding the specific aspects, logistics partners and ports highlighted the reduction of
greenhouse gases through the use of clean she-side electricity, financiers also mentioned the
UUUT WagYWIUt el W6 W IHE! HGRUNDWYnWacecqldl REGt WE qllgé 1
the importance of integrating sustainability aspects into risk management.

Mapping and assessing impacts, risks, and opportunities

Infortar used a companyH ¢ + JT Wé¢ GGl Ye A6 WqYWRT WUqRN! We UT Wet + 1344
used a working groupH ¢t 3T Wé¢ GGl YerHGOWF UWF UnYl q¢l Kkt WGl YHIIT |
each company or group were involved and were introduced to the double matality principle,

the assessment methodology, and the potentially important issues identified in the analysis of

value chains and external stakeholders. Each company then individually identified and assessed

its impacts based on the ESRS suthemes. The esults of the companywide assessment were

#HYUt YOGRT cqUT WeqWwt INGUWUqWal2laWeU0Tl W2¢dRT ¢qlT WH! U
employees were included in working groups based on sustainability topics. The working groups

presented the methodology aml carried out an assessment of the impacts as well as risks and
opportunities. The quality of the evaluation results was verified by external experts and then

TRt #Het + UT WRUWs YI t RUNWNI Ye Gt Alls Rag6 WUWHIIL t ¢l ! WRG G
materiality assessment process, the risks and opportunities were assessed separately from the

impacts. The identification and assessment of risks and opportunities involved the management

of Infortar and the larger companies in the segments, with whom segmersipecific workshops

were organised. In order to identify risks and opportunities, the potential financial impacts of the

G¢caqll REUWRAGEeHqt Wett 3t U7 Ws W WWnRIY queU¢cat t T HOWf
framework and previously assessed gks, including the results of a comprehensive risk

assessment conducted as part of the IPO. At Group level, a qualitative risk assessment
framework was used and no specific risk assessment tools were applied. In addition, based on

an analysis of the valued 6 ¢ RUt WYnWaqd6lJW] | Ye Gkt WHe2t RO+ W 1ING |
business relationship dependencies that could give rise to risks and opportunities were

identified.
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Risks and opportunities were identified as material on the basis of consensus. The impacts, risks,
and opportunities assessed as material and the key issues identified on this basis were validated
H! Wf OnYl qc¢l kt WacUecnNWGaUqWe UTadeinenGdf ugtdinhbilitiA tiskda) 6 1J LW H Y
CHtt b T Wet Wheqll REGUWRY WHI RgRHAC O WY WIUL 21 RUNIWHAHe2 ¢
high climate impact, and therefore all risks related to sustainability issues assessed as material
are integrated intothe Gre Gk + WOY !l ¢ a Wl Rt t WacUenNWGWUqWGI ¢ #HaqRHIIY

PROCESS FOR IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF CLIMATE
RELEVANT IROS

Measurement of GHG emissions

fUnYl gq¢l Kkt WHRIRGC qUWREGEHqt Ws I JWet+ 3+ 3T WHet IT U
Guct el JaWUqt WeUT WNeaGRUE kKt W] c] WIGREE RYUY Ws I JWe
GHG emissions measurements. Infortar has not carried out a specific analysis identify future

GHG emissions, but is guided by the principle that the strategic direction is to increase
investments that have a low or positive GHG impact. In particular, investments that support the

production and deployment of renewable energy and altamative fuels have a potentially positive

GHG impact. In order to support bioenergy production, an investment was made in the year under

review in an agricultural enterprise whose output resources can be used to produce biomethane.

In the energy business sgment, the Group is also focusing on investments in the natural gas
distribution network, which currently supports the use of natural gas as a transitional energy

source and potentially enables the wider uptake of biomethane. During the year, investmeniis

this area were made in the acquisition of the Elenger Polska gas network in Poland. However, the

Group continues to invest in areas that do not have a small or positive GHG impact, such as the
investment in the Tallink Group during the reporting year.

Analysis of climate-related physical and transition risks and resilience analysis

In order to understand the climate risks, Infortar carried out a scenario analysis for the first time
in 2023. The analysis was carried out on the basis of the methodology of the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). The analysis waarried out across the value
chain. In 2024, climate risks from agriculture and maritime transport were added to the analysis.
From the perspective of maritime transport, AS Tallink Group has already analysed its climate
risks in the pastand the results W1 WIWRUqUI NI ¢ qUT WRUqVYWq6 Rt We Uca! + Rt ¢
risks has taken into account a shorterm timeframe (> 5 years), a medium timeframe (&5
years), and a longterm timeframe (> 15 years). For physical climate risks, the time horizons
considered are short term (2030), medium term (2040), and long term (2050). AS Tallink Grupp
has analysed the shoriterm time frame (2024r2027), the mediumterm time frame (20272035),
and the longterm time frame (20352050).

To analyse the physical climate risks, the Infortar analysis used the Intergovernmental Panel on

Climate Change (IPCC) scenarios RCP4.5 and RCP8.5, which assume an average temperature

RUHAI D¢t WY nwW=zwe UT WNOWT IN1 1313t W9 dhdiysi| a lovdthrhbh GIJH q R 2
transition scenario (1.5 °C or 2 °C warming limit) and a higimpact climate change scenario (3

°C+ warming scenario) were used. These scenarios were chosen because they are widely used

and accepted scientific models that provide acomprehensive overview of the evolution of

climate change.
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Physical climate risks are highlighted and focused on 2050, as the analysis identified that the
greatest risks and impacts from physical climate risks will occur over the longer term. As
fUnYl gqc¢cl Kkt WGYIl qnYOGRYWRUHRG2T It lydfeldpedaddy, lodgiemll= Y G G¢ C
planning decisions are important. The timeframe for the 2050 analysis will allow a better
understanding of the longterm impacts and risks and allow informed decisions on longerm
investments. To analyse the transition risksthe International Energy Agency (IEA) scenarios
h UUYeURDT WAGUT NUt kWeUT WhEqeqlT WAYOGRHRIIE Kk Ws 131 1JLW
increase of 1.7 and 2.4 degrees Celsius by 2100, respectively. These scenarios were chosen
because the IEA is an intarationally recognised organisation whose scenarios provide reliable
and comprehensive climate change projections. In addition, these scenarios focus on policies
and developments in the energy sector, which are critical for climate change mitigation. The
analysis of the transition risks has been highlighted and focused mainly on 2030, as this
timeframe allows focusing on shortterm changes and urgent strategic decisions that will affect
Q6 WHYAGGeU! kt WYGWI ¢qRYUt We UT We T cPlisycahdRégBatorylll 2 1 RU
changes aimed at reducing carbon emissions can happen faster. The 2030 timeframe will help
assess the impact of these shoriterm changes. In addition, the indicators were also analysed in
the context of 2040 and 2050. This will helptbetter understand medium and longterm transition
risks and their impact on strategic planning and investment decisionsln the case of physical
risks, a scenario analysis was performed in the Estonian and Latvian context and in the segments
where the Infortar Group has the largest number of physical assets: energy, real estate, and
mineral resources. In 2024, agriculture ad maritime transport segments were added to the
analysis. Publicly available climate models (Climate Impact Explorer, WWF Risk Filt&uite,
ThinkHazard, Climate Change Knowledge Portal) were used to identify significant physical
climate risks, Focusing on climate change impacts from the perspective of the local ecosystem
(including potential threats to biodiversity), the results of thescenario analysis of Infortar and the
climate risk analysis of AS Tallink Group indicate that physical climate risks may have a weak or
t RDURNRACUqUWRAGGEeHqUWYUWqS6 WWRUNI ¢t ql eAqel DWYnwf Un
Latvian context, butcan be mitigated by measures. For example, AS Tallink Group takes into
account the risks of climate change when planning its business activities. Relevant adaptation
Guctel Dt Wel DWRGGHINWEWUqUT WAH! WagdWWrHrYIGeU! WRUWRGat LW
operating manuals. No significant climatel 130 ¢ q T Wet t e G GqRY Ut W6¢ 2 10WHIIWIUL
financial reporting.
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N6 JWal ¢ Ut RgRYUWI Rt t WeUc¢ct!t Rt WsVYI tt6YGHWAecGGIT W (
and likelihood of their impact. In addition, an overview of policy changes, market trends, and
stakeholder expectations was provided. A scenario analysis of traison risks was carried out in
qélWEYUqU+fFqWYnWgé JWEe |l YGU¢ UWOURYUWf Ulg 6 WWeY Uqld#
the scenarios foresee an increase in the share of renewable energy and electricity consumption

and a consequent reduction in émand for fossil fuels. The reduction in demand for natural gas

is a significant transition risk with high impact for Infortar. While the sale of natural gas as a

transition fuel is in line with the transition to a climateneutral economy, producers of natural gas

will have to make significant efforts to comply with the technical requirements of the taxonomy

| Nedc¢cqRYUOWF UnY!l ¢l kt WHientndvbik bperdicr catlaldd Codtdpaté ¢ ¢ WN ¢
to the transition to a climate-neutral economy by erabling the infrastructure needed for the wider

deployment of biogas. Medium impact risks stem from additional taxation of GHG and energy

efficiency requirements for buildings. The transition risk with a lower impact comes from the

increase in input prices.In the case of the Tallink Group, the existing vessels are exposed to the

risks arising from stricter emission standards, which require investments in hybrid vessels and
vesselsusinglowlJ G Rt + RYUWnea Gt IOWNe¢ adRUE W] | Y dyGwestitdntg | ¢ q IJNR
in decarbonisation technologies, fleet renewal, and resilience measures to ensure sustainability

and mitigate potential financial impacts. Certain older vessels cannot be decarbonised, which

makes these assets incompatible with the transiton to a climate-neutral economy and such

vessels must be disposed of. As the Infortar group is a very dynamic investment company, the

resilience analysis is uncertain as to whethernew investment, especially in new business

segments, may bring additional isks and opportunities.

Process for the identification and assessment of significant IROs related to other
environmental aspects

In order to identify IROs related to pollution, water and marine resources, biodiversity and

DEYE UL quaGt Awe OT W 3t Yel #0Wet ywWe U7 WHRI Hedcel WIHYUYE
and downstream value chains were analysed. The identification of IROrelied on the expert
tOYsaUT NUWYNnWag6 W] | Ye Gkt WIGGOY! DIt WeAHY2 qWaé IWHY G
of necessary inputs and outputs. The analysis was also based on environmental permits issued

to the companies and environmental impact assessmats. The identification of IROs related to

water and marine resources was based on the specificity of the business activities and did not

include a separate assessment of impacts at the water basin level, except where such an
assessment was included in theenvironmental permit documentation. No specific criteria were

taken into account in the determination of the status of water bodies, based on the relevant

Annexes to Directive 2000/60/EC (Water Framework Directive) and the guidance documents for

its implementation. The Water Framework Directive has been taken into account indirectly

through the analysis of environmental permits, which have been issued taking into account the
requirements of this directive. No specific consultations were held with affected communities.

No specific tools were used to identify and assess IROs.
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In identifying IROs related to biodiversity and ecosystems, the workshop analysed whether and
6YsWaq6 W] | YeGkt WeHqR2RQRIY WHY 2Ol W6¢21We UWRG GE Hal
of species, ecosystem extent and condition, and ecosystem serges. It also assessed how
factors related to biodiversity and ecosystems could have a negative or positive financial impact
on the Group. The relevant IROs identified were then included in the materiality assessment. The
identification of IROs also included an analysis of ecosystem dependencies and systemic
ecosystem risks across the value chain, and the relevant IROs identified were included in the
materiality assessment. The analysis did not assess ecosystem services that are being or are
likely to be digupted.

] DYt GeqReGWT ¢cqéelWsct Wet Ui WgYWRT JUqRN! Ws60aqd6l Wab
ARYT R21JIt+ Rq! Wt WUt RqR2Rq! oWl YUWWYnWaqd W] | Ye Gkt Wt
agricultural plots and mines are located near habitats of protectedd R1 T Wt GIIHRIJt OWNS 1JL
activities do not have a negative impact on these habitats, as they fully comply with
environmental requirements and implement the conditions and measures set out in the mineral

extraction permits. The analysis did not identify tB need for additional biodiversity mitigation

measures.

Process for the identification and assessment of IROs relevant to business conduct

issues

Governance impacts were identified through a mapping exercise with business representatives.

For risks and opportunities, the mapping was done at business segment level, taking into account
cCOUWq6 W] | YeGkt WaYRecqRYUL dlt .ql ¢ qUNRAWYATWUHRQR2 It ¢

Significant impacts, risks, and opportunities

The following tables present the impacts, risks, and opportunities assessed as material, by ESRS
thematic area. The relationships between the material IROs and the Infortar strategy and
business model are presented along with the topicased information to be disclosed under the
ESRS. A list of the disclosure requirements fulfilled in the preparation of this Sustainability Report
and the other information required to be disclosed under other legislation is set out in Annexes 2
and 3 to the Sustainability Rport. All the impacts assessed as material have an impact in both
the short and medium term.Upon longterm analysis, none of the impacts initially assessed as
immaterial in the short and medium term turned out to be material. Material risks and
opportunities have no current financial impact on the financial position, financial performance,
and cash flows.

E1 Climate change

Business Segments that | Location of Impact
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain

Positive . Energy
; t Production and sale of . o
Impac Agriculture Own operations;
renewable energy and . .
. ServiceProviders Downstream
alternative fuels
Group-level management

El Relevant IRO

Enabling infrastructure for
the adoption of alternative Energy
fuels

Own operations;
Downstream
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Providing access to data for
managing gas consumption

Own operations;

natural gas

Group-level management

through the installation of Energy Downstream
smart gasmeters
Negative Upstream; Own
Impact GHG emissions All operations;
Downstream
Maritime t_ransport _ Upstream: Own
.| Construction and minerals o
Energy and fuel consumption . operations;
Agriculture
. . Downstream
Service Providers
Opportunity | Growing demand for Energy
renewable energy and Agriculture -
alternative fuels Group-level management
Increased demand for
construction due to climate | Construction and minerals |
adaptation and energy Group-level management
efficiency regulations
Imp_rgvmg compgtltlve Energy
position through investments -
: . Group-level management
in new technologies
Opportunity to use higher
ylel_d crop varieties |_n Agriculture i
agriculture due to climate
change
Risk Decline indemand for Energy

Additional taxation of GHG
emissions or obligation to
participate in emissions
trading

Energy
Agriculture
Group-level management

Reduced access to financing
due to poorsustainability
performance

Energy
Group-level management

Investments in new
technologies are not
economically viable

Energy
Group-level management

Weaker competitive position
due to lack of enforcement of
sustainability regulations

Construction and minerals

Yield reduction in agriculture
due to drought and lack of
snow

Agriculture
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Need to invest in GHG
reduction and energy
efficiency improvements

Agriculture
Service Providers

farming

E2 Pollution
Business Segments that | Location of Impact
E2 Relevant IRO . : .
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Air pollution from »
P . - Maritime transport;
construction, mining, . . .
N Construction and minerals; |Own operations
maritime transport, and .
. . Agriculture
: livestock farming
Negative . :
. Water pollution from livestock . .
impact Agriculture Own operations

Exposure of construction
workers to asbestos and
chemicals

Construction and minerals

Own operations

E3 Water and marine resources

Business Segments that

Location of Impact

E3 Relevant IRO : : .
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Negative : . . .
impgact Water use in agriculture Agriculture Own operations

E4 Biodiversity and ecosystems

Business Segments that

Location of Impact

agricultural practices

E4 Relevant IRO } : .
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
. Improving soil condition
Positive . ) .
: through responsible Agriculture Own operations
impact

E5 Resource use and circular economy

Business Segments that | Location of Impact
ES Relevant IRO Assessed IRO as Material | in Value Chain
" Use of agricultural output
Positive . .
. resources in energy Agriculture Downstream
Impact .
production
Negative Use of input resources in Construction and minerals | Own operations
impact construction and livestock Aaricultur own tion
farming griculture wn operations
Generation of construction .
. . Construction and .
waste, mineral residues, and | _. i . . Own operations
. minerals; Service Providerg
packaging waste
Revenue opportunity from
Opportunity | increased resource prices Construction and minerals | -
through material circulation
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Construction and minerals

Agriculture

Cost increases due to
declining quality of
extractable mineral
resources

Construction and minerals

Costs related to additional
packagingregulations

Service Providers

S1 Own staff

Business Segments that

Location of Impact

S1 Relevant IRO . : :
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Positive Ensuring good and safe
impact working conditions and All Own operations
adequate pay
Training and development of Al Own operations
employees
Equal treatment of employeegAll Own operations
Providing housing for . .
O.Vldl g housing o Agriculture Own operations
agricultural workers
. High-risk working environmen
Negative . . . .
impact related to construction Construction and minerals |Own operations
P activities
nity [Empl refer employer . .
Opportunity . ployees prete .e pgye S Energy; Service Providers;
with a better sustainability -
. Group-level management
reputation
Improving working conditions
and increasing efﬁmgncy Agriculture )
through automation in
agriculture
Risk Shortage of qualified Construction and minerals; |
workforce Agriculture
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S2 Employees in the value chain

Business Segments that | Location of Impact
S2 Relevant IRO . . .
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Regulation of occupational
. health an fety for .
Positive ealtha d saiety fo Energy; Construction and .
. construction subcontractors . Own operations
impact minerals
and framework agreement
partners
Reputational damage related
Risk to poor working conditions or |Energy; Construction and |
misconduct by minerals
subcontractors
S3 Affected communities
Business Segments that | Location of Impact
S3 Relevant IRO . : .
Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Positive Ensuring security of suppl .
. . g. . y PR, Energy; Construction and .
impact gas distribution network : _ Own operations;
. minerals; Group-level
continuity, and energy Downstream
) management
security
. . Energy; Service Providers; .
Societal contribution gy " |Own operations
Group-level management
Providing employment
opportunities in rural areas Agriculture Own operations
through agriculture
.. |Positive r ion
Opportunity ogltlve eput.atlo' due to Group-level management |-
societal contribution

S4 Consumers and endusers

Business Segments that | Location of Impact
S4 Relevant IRO Assessed IRO asMaterial in Value Chain
Positive Maritime transport; Energy;
Impact Ensuring client and product | Construction and minerals; | Own operations;
safety Agriculture; Service Downstream
Providers
Ensuring access to sports Service Providers Own operations;
facilities Downstream
Ensuring access to transport | Service Providers (D)(\;vvr\;nosgreer::rl]ons,
. . Maritime transport; Energy;
Negat|ve Holding large volumes of Service Providers; Group | Own operations
impact customer data level management
Risk Costs and reputational Energy; Service Providers;
damage related to Group-level management |~
cybersecurity incidents
Costs and reputational Energy; Agriculture; Service
damage related to safety Providers -
incidents
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G1 Businessconduct

Business Segments that | Location of Impact

Gl Relevant IRO Assessed IRO as Material in Value Chain
Positive Energy; Construction and
Impact Ensuring an ethical corporatel minerals; Service :
. . Own operations
culture Providers; Grouplevel
management
Contributing to legislation Energy; Construction and
through participation in minerals; Agriculture; Own operations
industry associations Group-level management
Maritime transport;
Responsible selection of Construction and minerals; .
. . . ) Own operations
suppliers and partners Service Providers; Group

level management

Ensuring animal welfare in

. Agriculture Own operations
agriculture
Negative | Operating in a sector with : , :
impact high corruption risk Construction and minerals | Own operations
Potential human rights
violations in the maritime Maritime transport Upstream
transport value chain
Risk Fines and reputational Energy; Construction and
damage related to non minerals; Agriculture; -

compliance with regulations | Group-level management
Reputational damage related| Construction and minerals;
to corruption incidents Group-level management
Supply chain disruption risk
in maritime transport

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION

Information to be disclosed pursuant to Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (the
Taxonomy Regulation)

Pursuant to Article 8 (1) of the Taxonomy Regulation, the Infortar Group is obliged to disclose
RUnNYI GecqRYUOWYUWG Ys We UT WaqYWs e qWU+sqlUaqllgqs W] 1 Ye G
classified as environmentally sustainable under Articles 3 and 8f the Taxonomy Regulation. An
economic activity is considered to be environmentally sustainable if it complies with the
technical screening criteria set out in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139
(hereafter the Climate Act) or (EU) 2023/86 (hereafter the Environment Act). The taxonomy
report presents the key performance indicators related to the consolidated turnover, capital
expenditure, and operating expenses of the Infortar Group, in accordance with the disclosure
methodology set out n the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 (hereafter the
Disclosure Regulation). The performance indicators to be disclosed are the share of economic
activities not covered by the taxonomy, covered by the taxonomy, and aligned with the taxonomy
in sales revenue, capital expenditures, and operating expenses.

Maritime transport -
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Definitions
An economic activity is considered to be covered by the taxonomy if it is described ircémate or
environmental act, regardless of whether it meets some or all of the technical screening criteria
set out in those acts. An activity is considered to be taxonomwligned if it complies with the
technical screening criteria defined in the climateor environmental act and is carried out in
compliance with the minimum safeguards set out in Article 18 of the taxonomy regulation.
Minimum safeguards are the procedures that a business implements to ensure compliance with
the OECD Guidelines for Multinabnal Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business
¢cUTl Wcea@¢cUWARNSEqt AWRURAG2T RUNWqE WWIIRNG qWHAY!I DWHRY U2
Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, and the International Bill of Human Rights. An
economic activity not aligned with taxonomy is any activity not described in a climate or
environmental act.

CALCULATION METHOD AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION FOR THE
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Sales revenue

N6IWW] I Ye Gkt Wt ¢ 0159 idlthdJdhdadiat ddatkdnac@is) hasbeen included in the
numerator in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
accounts.

The taxonomyaligned sales revenue numerator includes sales revenue generated by activities
that meet the compliance criteria. The taxonomy of sales revenue includes sales revenue
generated by activities included in the taxonomy but not meeting the complize criteria. The
sales revenue included in the numerator was calculated based on projeetor account-based
accounting entries, taking into account the projects for which the required criteria for
consideration or compliance were met.This avoids double cainting of the turnover performance
indicator across economic activities.

Almost all of the taxonomy¢ G RNDUT Wt ¢ a3t Wl Y2002 JWRY Wl Ya¢cqlll WaV
maritime transport segment. The volume of passenger and freight related sales revenue
significantly exceeds the sales revenue from solar and electric vehicleharging station activities,

which was in line with the previous reporting year, i.e. before the addition of the Tallink Group. In

the current reporting year, these activities account for less than two per cent of compliant

revenue. In addition to the salegevenue included in the sales revenue performance indicator,

the Infortar Group has sales revenue from taxonomwgligned activities related to internal
consumption: installation, maintenance, and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles

(0.004% ofturnover) and installation, maintenance, and repair of renewable energy equipment

(0.01% of turnover).

Capital costs

Additions to fixed assets during the accounting year, before depreciation and any revaluation,
other than changes in fair value, are included in the denominator. The following additions have
been included in the denominator in accordance with Note 8 to theonsolidated accounts:
investment property based on the fair value model (pag&39); tangible fixed assets (pag 140);
intangible assets (pag 142); right-of-use assets (pa@ 142). It also includes additions to tangible
and intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions.
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The numerator of the taxonomyaligned capital expenditure includes the capital expenditure that
is related to activities meeting the compliance criteria. The numerator of the capital expenditure
covered by the taxonomy includes capital expenditure relatedo activities covered by the
taxonomy but not meeting the compliance criteria. The capital cost included in the numerator
was calculated based on project or account-based accounting entries, taking into account
projects that met the criteria for consideraion or compliance. This avoids double counting of the
turnover performance indicator across economic activities. As the Tallink Group carries out both
passenger andfreight transport with the same vessels (activities CCM 6.11. and CCM 6.10.), the
HCGRacOWHY qt WYNWaqé W21t 4+ Dt k WgWHAESURACGWRU2 13t qf
activities and the costs of the common areas of the vessels have been divided progimnally
according to the number of passenger and freight driversAdditions to rightof-use assets,
intangible fixed assets, and tangible fixed assets are included in the numerator. The quantitative
breakdown of the numerator at the level of economic activity is presented in the capital cost
performance indicator table (page 61).

Approximately half of the taxonomy¢c G RDUIJT WHE GRac¢ O WHYH gt Wel Wl J3ae ql
freight transport and 40% to the construction of solar power plants. The remaining eligible

capitalised costs relate to the installation of smart gas meters. lithe previous reporting year, due

to the absence of Tallink, almost 80% of capital expenditure related to solar power plants and the

rest to gas meters.

Operating expenses
In accordance with Annex I, section 1.1.3.1 of the Disclosure Regulation, the following non
capitalised costs are included in the denominator:

9 labour costs for R&D staff (development and quality managers);

outsourced consulting services for development activities;

staff training costs;

short-term rentals (construction activities);

services, materials, and IT costs used for the maintenance and repair of tangible fixed assets.

= =8 =4 =

Taxonomyaligned operating expenses include operating expenses related to activities meeting

the compliance criteria. The Infortar Group does not have operating expenses pursuant to the
Disclosure Regulation (Annex, Section 1.1.3.2, Subsections 1(b) and))cOperating expenses

included in the taxonomy include operating costs related to activities included in the taxonomy

but not meeting the compliance criteria. The operating expenses included in the numerator was

calculated based on project- or account-based accounting entries, taking into account projects

for which the necessary criteria for consideration or compliance were met. This avoids double

counting of the turnover performance indicator across economic activitiesf U Lla 6 IJ WH¢ + I WY n WN
vessels that carry both passengers and freight, the operating expenses are split equally between

the two activities. In particular, the operating expenses relates to maintenance and repairs.

Similar to the performance indicator for sales revenue, almost all taxonomligned operating

expenses are related to the servicing of vessels due to the addition of the Tallink Group. Less than

one percent of the performance indicator for operating experss is accounted for by

maintenance costs for solar power plants. In the previous reporting period, more than 90% of the
taxonomy-¢c G RNDUWT WYGW!I ¢ qRUNWI+FGUIUL It Wl BGcqT WaVYLWad 1JLWC
power plants, with the remainder related to tle construction of solar power plants and electric

vehicle charging stations.
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Assessment of compliance with the Taxonomy Regulation

In order to identify the economic activities covered by the taxonomy, the conformity of all the

]! YeGkt WeHqR2RaQRIJt Ws R Waqdé JWe #qR2Raq! W It #I RGaqRYU

Act was assessed on a comparyby-company basis. Although there s a large overlap in the

descriptions of activities related to climate change mitigation and adaptation objectives in the

Climate Act, pursuant to point 18 of the Commission Communication C/2023/305, only those

activities carried out in accordance withtheR Y & G¢ U! Kkt WHORG ¢ qUWHEcUNWIWET ¢ «

considered to be covered by the taxonomy from the perspective of adaptation. As the Infortar

]l YeGW6 et WOYqWIt qc HAGRY 6 10T We WHIRAGEC qUWHSEcUNWIWET ¢ G

considered to be covered by the taxonomy from a climate change adaptation perspective.

Twenty-one activities covered were identified, one of which is covered under the environmental
objectives for water, and two under the environmental objectives for biodiversity. There are three
activities related to the circular economy objective, two of vhich are also covered under the
climate change mitigation objective. All other activities are addressed in the taxonomy from a
climate change mitigation perspective. None of the activities identified contributes significantly
to more than one environmentalobjective.

Minimum safeguards

The Infortar Group,through its due diligence process, ensures compliance with international

human rights guidelines and conventions, including the United Nations Guiding Principles on

Business and Human Rights, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the Interraatal

x¢cHY2!l W&l NcURt ¢cqRYUKt W?2PURGecI ¢qRYUW YOW[ 2UT¢aUq
fundamental conventions, and the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights.
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Activities covered by or aligned with the taxonomy

Activity

Description

Electricity generation using
solar photovoltaic
technology (CCM 4.1))

Group companies produce solar electricity. This inherently
contributes significantly to climate change mitigation and no
additional substantial contribution criteria apply. Activities are
aligned with DNSH technical screening criteria and no
significant physical climate risks were identified. Construction
follows environmental impact assessments. Solar parks are not
located in biodiversity-sensitive areas. Therefore, the activity is
taxonomy-aligned.

Transmission and
distribution of electricity
(CCM 4.9)

N6 IWNI Ye Gkt WRYUL ql eqRYUWHRY G
transmission and distribution infrastructure. It meets
substantial contribution criteria but cannot guarantee DNSH
criteria at the end of asset life cycle.

Efficient cogeneration of
heat/cool and power from
fossil gas (CCM 4.30.)

The group operates one cogeneration plant using fossil gas, bu
its emissions do not meet substantial contribution criteria.

Anaerobic digestion of bie
waste (CCM 5.7.)

Group companies have built anaerobic digestion facilities, but
lack sufficient information to demonstrate taxonomy alignment.

Transport by motorcycles,
passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles (CCM
6.5.)

Group companies buy, rent, lease, or use such vehicles, but
qé6 13t Wl YWOYqWaWUqo § hWJG R+ R

Freight transport by sea

Tallink Group uses compliant and norcompliant vessels. For
compliant ones, the activity qualifies as a transitional activity
under Article 10(2).

and coastal waters, service
and support vessels (CCM
6.10.)

The group also charters the LNG bunkering vessel Optimus for
the transport of liquefied natural gas. However, due to the
transport of fossil fuels, thisactivity does not meet the
substantial contribution criteria.

Passenger transport by sea
and coastal waters (CCM
6.11.)

Tallink uses the same vessels for passenger transport, which
are partially taxonomy-aligned under Article 10(2).

Railtransport
infrastructure (CCM 6.14.)

N6 IWNI Ye Gkt WaEYUL ql eAqRYUWRY G
the activity does not meet taxonomy criteria due to
infrastructure specifics.

Construction of new
buildings (CCM 7.1./ CE
3.1)

N6WJWNI YeGkt WARYUt ql eHqRYULWHY G
meet primary energy demand or circular economy criteria.

Renovation of existing
buildings (CCM 7.2./ CE
3.2))

N6IWJWNI Ye Gkt WenNI RAz2Gqel ¢caWlUq
meet primary energy demand or circular economy criteria.

Installation, maintenance
and repair of energy
efficiency equipment (CCM
7.3)

The group maintains district heatingrelated equipment, but
lacks data on material composition to assess alignment.

INFORTAR
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Installation, maintenance
and repair of E\tharging
stations (CCM 7.4.)

The construction company installs EV charging stations. This
inherently contributes to mitigation, meets DNSH criteria, and is
taxonomy-aligned. It qualifies as a supporting activity under
Article 10(1)(i).

Installation, maintenance
and repair of energy
performance measuring
equipment (CCM 7.5.)

Gas distribution companies install smart gas meters. This
contributes inherently, meets DNSH criteria, and is taxonomy
aligned. It qualifies as a supporting activity under Article 10(1)(i

Installation, maintenance
and repair of renewable
energy technologies (CCM
7.6.)

Group companies install and maintain solar PV. The activity
contributes inherently, meets DNSH criteria, and is taxonomy
aligned. It qualifies as a supporting activity under Article 10(1)(i

Acquisition and ownership
of buildings (CCM 7.7.)

The group leases buildings that do not meet energy performanc
thresholds.

Data processing, hosting
and related activities (CCM
8.1.)

The group procures data services, butcks sufficient
information about refrigerants and endof-life handling to
determine alignment.

Data-driven solutions for
GHG emission reductions
(CCM 8.2)

Gas distribution companies use ICT to detect methane leaks.
However, alignment cannot beproven due to lack of lifecycle
GHG calculations.

Sustainable urban drainage
systems (WTR 2.3.)

The group has built sustainable drainage systems, but cannot
prove technical alignment.

Use of concrete in civil
engineering (CE 3.5.)

Construction companies use concrete in civil works but fail to
meet criteria for waste handling and recycled materials.

Protection and restoration
of habitats, ecosystems
and biodiversity (BIO 1.1.)

Group companies have implemented biodiversityrelated
construction works, but projects do not meet substantial
contribution criteria.

Hotels, holiday camps and
other short-stay

accommodation (BIO 2.1.)

Tallink offers hotel services, but activities do not meet
substantial contribution criteria.

INFORTAR
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Percentage of turnover derived from products or services related to economic activities aligned with the taxonominformation for 2024

Financial Year 2024 2024 Substantial cont Do no significant harm (DNSH) criteria
Share of | Climate Climate Climate Climate Share of revenue for activitied Category| Category
. change Circular Bio- ) Circular Bio- Minimum
Economic act Code | Revenue | revenue, | ~H9092 | change Water Pollution ool v change change water |Pollution | G ooy | o e tas| alianed (A.1) or covered (A.2] (enabling| (transitional
2024 ‘;" adaptation Y Y | mitigation | adaptation Y 24 9 by taxonomy, 2023 activity) activity)
thousand YES: NO YES:; NO: [ YES: NO| YES: NO; YES: NO: | YES: NO
Text 2% Not Not Not Not Not Not YES/NO YES/NO YES/NQ YES/NO| YES/NO| YES/NO| YES/NO 2% E T
A a a d| d d
A. ACTIVITIES COVERED BY THE TAXONOMY
A_1. Environmentally sustainable activity (taxonomy-aligned)
Electricity generation using ccm R ©.060% ves Not Not Not Not Not ves ves ves ves ves ves ves 6.0700
photovoltaic technology a.1. a d| a a d
Sea and coastal freight water
transport, vessels required for ccMm 17 oa7 1.24% YES Not Not Not Not Not YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.00% T
port operations and auxiliary 6.10. a |a el a a al
services
Sea and coastal passenger watell CCM o By PPN veo Not Not Not Not Not veo veo veo ves ves ves ves © 6000 .
transport 6.11. d d a a d
Installation, maintenance and
repair of electric vehicle charging | C©CM . ©.000% ves Not Not Not Not Not ves ves ves ves ves ves ves 6.0106 -
stations in buildings (and car 7.a. a q a a d
parks attached to buildings)
Installation, maintenance and
repair of renewable energy C7C’6M 13 0.00% YES Not ala Not o Not o Not o Not o YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.02% E
technologies S
Revenue from environmentally
sustainable acti es (taxonomy- 47 830 3.49% 3.49% 026 0% 0% 0% 0% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.09%
aligned, A.1)
of which enabling activity 18 0.00%% 0.00%% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.02%6 E
of which tran nal activity 46 924 3.42% 3.42% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES ©0.00% T
A.2. Activities covered by the taxonomy but not environmentally sustainable (not aligned)
al a7 as as
/ Not / Not Not a/ Not Not Not
a ql a a
Tran;mlsslon and distribution of ccMm o aos 0.69% Assessed Not Not Not Not Not 0.00%
electricity 4a.o. a |a a a a al
Anaerobic digestion of bio-waste cem 1771 0.13% |Assessed Not Not Not Not Not 0.15%
5.7. d d| d d d|
Transport by motorcycles,
passenger cars and light CGCSM 2 278 0.17% |Assessed Not ala Not g Not g Not ° Not o 0.22%
commercial vehicles =
Sea and coastal freight water
transport, vessels required for ccMm o Not Not Not Not Not o
port operations and auxiliary 6.10. 25 189 1.849% |Assessed a d a d d ©.60%
services
Sea and coastal passenger water] CCM . Not Not Not Not Not o
transport 6.11. 59 437 4.33% Assessed) a la dl a a a 0.00%%
N ccMm Not Not Not Not Not
o o
Rail infrastructure sy 16 aaz 1.20% |Assessed g la o o o o 0.65%
ccm
Construction of new buildings 7.1/CE| 12 087 0.88% |Assessed Not Not Not Assessed Not 2.46%
2 a ql a assessed
Acquisition and ownership of ccm . Not Not Not Not Not o
buildings. 7.7, 14 377 1.05% Assessed) a |a al a a a 1.24%
Sustainable urban drainage WTR 63 0.00% Not Not Assesse Not Not Not 0.00%
systems 2.3. assessed| assessed d d d d|
Use of concrete in civil engineering CE 3.5. 1 s02 0.119% Not Not Not Not Assessed Not 0.00%
a al assessed
Protection and restoration of . BIO 1.1. 349 0.03% Not Not Not Not Not Assesse 0.00%
habitats, ecosystems and species| a a |a ql a a
Hotels, holiday camps, camping
grounds and similar B1O 2.1, 11 006 0.80% Not a Not a Not ol Not a Not a Assesse 0.00%
accommodation services
Revenue from taxonomy-covered 153 908 | 11.229 | 10.28% 0% 0.00% 0% 0.99% 0.83% 5.36%
but non-aligned activities (A.2)
A Revenue from activities covere 201 738 | 14.71% | 13.76% 0% 0.00% 0% 0.99% 0.83% 5.46%
by the taxonomy (A.1 + A.2)
B. NON-TAXONOMY ACTIVITIES
Revenue from non-taxonomy 1 170 oz8 85.2006
activities
TOTAL 1371 775 100%

Wlimate change mitigation: CCM

ircular economy: CE
miodiversity and ecosystems BIO

KKKK

MIater and marine resources WTR
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Percentage of capital expenditure on products or services related to economic activities aligned with the taxonominformation for 2024

Financial year 2024 2024 Substantial contribution criteria Do no significant harm (DNSH) criteria
) o Capital CapEx Climate Climate ) Circular | Biodiy| Climate Climate » Circular |Biodive| Minimum | Share of CapEx in line with| Category| Category
Economic activity Code expenditures share, change change Water Pollution econom ersity change change Water |Pollution econom rsit safeguards taxonomy (A.1) or covered b| (enabling| (transition
P 2024 mitigation | adaptation Y mitigation | adaptation Y Y 9 taxonomy (A.2), 2023 activity) | al activity)
YES; NO;| YES; NO; | YES; NO; | YES; NOJ YES; NO;| YES; NO; YES/N YES/N
@6 Yetx O Wk % Not Not Not Not Not Not oy YES/NO YES/NO | YES/NO| YES/NO| YES/NO o % E T
d d d d d d
A. TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES
A.1l. Environmentally sustainable activities (in line with taxonomy)
N N B Not
Elect It ti hot It: Not Not Not Not
ectrielty generation using photovoltaic ccma. 3,736 0.25% YES © ° © © asses| YES VES YES YES YES | YES YES 0.45%
technology d d d d sed
Freight transport by sea and coastal waters, Not Not Not Not Not
including vessels necessary for port operations CCM 6.10. 508,928 34.48% YES d d d d asses YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.00% T
and auxiliary activities sed
Not
Not Not Not Not
Passenger transport by sea and coastal waters CCM 6.11. 257,179 17.42% YES d d d 4 |@sses YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.00% T
sed
Installation, maintenance, and repair of equipment Not Not Not Not Not
for measuring, regulation and controlling energy CCM 7.5. 667 0.05% YES d d d 4 |@sses YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.12% E
performance of buildings sed
Capital expenditures for environmentally 770,511 52.20% | 52.20% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.57%
sustainable activities (A.1)
of which enabling activity 667 0.05% 0.05% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.12% E
of which transitional activity 766,108 51.90% 51.90% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES
A.2. Taxonomy-covered but not environmentally sustainable activities (not in line with taxonomy)
Not
. R - N Not Not Not Not
Electricity transmission and distribution CCM 4.9. 119 0.01% Covered © d o d © d o d asses
sed
Not
N N . . Not Not Not Not
Anaerobic digestion of bio-waste CCM 5.7. 60 0.00% Covered © d © d © d ° 4 |@sses
sed
: Not
Transport W|th.motor<.:ycles. passenger cars and CCM 6.5. 3,149 0.21% Covered Not Not Not Not asses
light commercial vehicles d d d d sed
. Not
F ht t rt b d tal te - Not Not Not Not
reight transport by sea and coastal waters (non- | L\ o o 929 0.06% Covered o o of o asses
aligned) d di d d
sed
Passer)ger transport by sea and coastal waters CCM 6.11. 1.868 0.13% Covered Not Not Not Not a':so;s
(non-aligned) d di d d
sed
Not
Rail infrastructure ccM 6.14. 71 0.00% | Covered Ot Lot oot | aaiot |asses
sed
CcCM Not
N . PR N N N
Renovation of existing buildings 7.2./CE 365 0.02% Covered ot d ot d ot d Covered |asses
3.2. sed
Not
P N - Not Not Not Not
Acquisition and ownership of buildings CCM 7.7. 7,866 0.53% Covered © d © d © d © q|asses
sed
Not
N N Not Not Not Not
Data processing, hosting, etc. CCM 8.1. 994 0.07% Covered © d © d © d ° 4 |@sses
sed
Not Not Not Not Not
Data-based GHG emission reduction solutions CCM 8.2. 1,164 0.08% Covered d d d d asses
sed
Not
N N Not Not Not Not
Sustainable urban drainage systems WTR 2.3. 1 0.00% © © Covered © © asses
assessed | assessed assessed| assessed sed
Hotels, holiday h it d simil Not Not Not Not Not C
otels, holiday homes, campsites and similar BIO 2.1. 26 0.00% of o o of o over
accommodation d d d d d| ed
Capital expenditures for taxonomy-covered but 16,611 1.13% 1.12% 0% 0.00% 0% 0.02% |0.00%
non-aligned activities (A.2)
A. Capital expenditures for taxonomy-covered 787,123 53.33% | 53.33% 0% 0.00% 0% 0.02% |0.00%|
activities (A.1 + A.2)
B. NON-TAXONOMY-ACTIVITIES
Capl@l expenditures for non-taxonomy-covered 688,863 46.67%
activities
TOTAL 1,475,986 100%
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Percentage of operational expenditure on products or services related to economic activities aligned with the taxonominformation for

2024

Financial year 2024 2024 ubstantial contribution criteria Do no significant harm (DNSH) criteria

Operatin

Climate . - Climate Climate - . Share of OpEx in line witH Category| Category
. o a Circular |Biodiver Circular |Biodiver| Minimum
Economic activity code | (. 09 i change Water |Pollution| (Ziredia 20 change change | water |Pollution | Zireulay 20 D Mis| taxonomy (A.1) or covered (enabling
e adaptation Y i mitigation |adaptation Y Y 9 by taxonomy (A.2), 2023| activity) activity)
YES; NO; YE,\S“;’tNO YE,\SI;tNO YES; NO;
@6 Yot x OT wk 26 Not Not YES/NO YES/NO | YES/NO |YES/NG YES/NO| YES/NO|YES/NJ 26 = T
assesse assesse | assesse
S assessed | assessed o S assessed
A TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES
A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (n line with taxonomy)
. - Not Not Not
Electricity generation using <=M 11 0.02% YES Mot assesse | assesse ot assesse YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.26%
photovoltaic technology a.a. assessed S S assessed S
Freight transport by sea and
coastal waters, including com Not Not Not Not Not
vessels necessary for port 5.392 [10.76% YES assesse | assesse assesse YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.00% T
; fe 6.10. assessed assessed
operations and auxiliary a a el
Not Not Not
= it rt b ccm Not Not
assenger transport by sea a.366 8.71% vES 2 assesse | assesse 2 assesse vES YES YES YES YES vES YES 0.00% T
and coastal waters 6.11. assessed S - assessed P

Operating expenditures for
environmentally sustainable 9,77 19.50% 19.50%6 0% 0% 0% o026 0% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 0.28%
activities (A.1)

of which enabling act °© ©.00% ©.00% o% c% o% 6% o%% YES vES YES ~YES ~YES vES ~YES ©.02% =
of which transitional activity S.758 | 19.48%]| 19.48% YES YES YES YES YES YES YES
A.Z2. Taxonomy-covered but not environmentally sustainable activities (Mot in line with taxonomy)
Electricity transmission and ccm Not Not Not Not
Rl az 0.0996 | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
distribution a.o. assessed S S assessed S
Efficient cogeneration of e ~ot Not Not ~ot Not
heat/cool and power from ° 0.029 | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
! a.30. assessed assessed
fossil gaseous fuels a a o
Anaerobic digestion of bio- cem Not Not Not Not Not
226 0.45% | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
waste 5.7. assessed S S assessed
Transport with motorcycles, Not Not Not
ccm Not Not
passenger cars and light 862 1.7296 covered < assesse | assesse < assesse
6.5. assessed assessed
commercial vehicles a a pe]
. Not Not Not
Freight transport by sea and | CCM Not Not
'S P Y S a,318 8.62% covered assesse | assesse assesse|
coastal waters (non-aligned) | 6.10. assessed S S assessed S
Passenger ransport by sea | o, ~ot Not Not ~ot Not
and coastal waters (non- 3,781 7.55% | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
K 6.11. assessed assessed
aligned) a a o
Not Not Not
Rail infrastructure cn 176 0.35% covered ot assesse | assesse ot assesse|
6.14. assessed S S assessed S
ccm ~ort Not Not Not
Construction of new buildings| 7.1./C 63 0.13% | Covered assesse | assesse| Covered |assesse|
assessed
E 3. a
Renovation of existin ceN Not Not Not Not
. < 7.2./C 189 0.38% | Covered assesse | assesse| Covered |assesse|
buildings assessed
Ea.2. a a o
Installation, maintenance, e ~ot Not Not ~ot Not
and repair of energy 16 0.03% | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
o . 7.3. assessed assessed
efficiency equipment a a o
Installation, maintenance.
and repair of equipment for cem Not Not Not Not Not
measuring. regulation and 335 0.67% | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
7.5. assessed assessed
control of energy a a a
performance of buildings
- Not Not Not
Acquisition and ownership of | CCN ao 0.10% | Covered ot assesse | assesse Mot assesse
buildings 7.7. assessed S S assessed S
Not Not Not
ccm Not Not
Data processing, hosting etc. 1,021 2.04a%6 Ccovered < assesse | assesse < assesse|
s.1. assessed o S assessed S
Data-driven solutions for ccm Not Not Not Not Not
o 119 0.249% | Covered assesse | assesse assesse
GHG emission reduction 8.2 assessed S S assessed S
Conservation, restoration of o ~ot ~ot Not Not ~ot
habitats. ecosystems, ER 0.00% assesse | assesse Covered|
: 1.1, assessed | assessed assessed
species a a
Hotels, holiday homes. Not Not
campsites and similar Blo 1,104 2.20%6 Not Not assesse | assesse Not covered,|
2.1 assessed | assessed assessed
accommodation a a

Operating expenditures for
taxonomy-covered but non- 12,316 |24.58% | 22.37% 0% 0% 0% 0.50% 2.21%
aligned activities (A.2)

A Operating expenditures for|
taxonomy-covered activities 22,086 |44.08% | 41.87% 0% o6 0% 0.50% 2.21%
A1+ A2

B. NON-TAXONOMY-
ACTIVITIES

Operating expenditures for
non-taxonomy-covered 28,021 |55.92%

50.106 100%

¥ Khircular economy: CE
Y miodiversity and ecosystems BIO
For activities listed under A2, non-financial undertakings may complete columns5T17 voluntarily.
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Activities related to nuclear energy and natural gas
Row Nuclear-related activity Yes/ No
The company is engaged in the research, development, demonstration, and
deployment of innovative electricity generation facilities using nuclear
processes with minimal waste from the fuel cycle, finances them or is
otherwise connected to them.
The company is engaged in the construction and safe operation of new
nuclear installations using the best available technology for electricity or heg
2 |production, including district heating or industrial processes such as No
hydrogen production, and enhancing their safety, finances them or is
otherwise connected to them.

No

The company is engaged in the safe operation of existing nuclear installatio
that produce electricity or process heat, including for district heating or for

3 | . . No
industrial processes such as hydrogen production from nuclear energy, and
enhancing their safety, finances them or is otherwise connected to them.

Gas-related activity
4 The company is engaged in the construction or operation of power generatig No

facilities using fossil gas, finances them or is otherwise connected to them.

The company is engaged in the construction, refurbishment or operation of
5 |[cogeneration facilities using fossil gas for heat/cool and electricity, finances| Yes
them or is otherwise connected to them.

The company is engaged in the construction, refurbishment or operation of
6 |facilities using fossil gas for heat/cool production, finances them or is No
otherwise connected to them.

E1l CLIMATE CHANGE

A transition plan to mitigate climate change

fUnYl gqc¢l kt W ql ¢cqUNRAWYATUARQR2 UJWRY WaVY LW J2 100 YGLWe W
with the guidelines of the Climate Resilient Economy Act to be adopted. As the law has not yet

been adopted, the transition plan is still being finalised.

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business

model
For a list of relevant IROs related to the E1 thematic standard, see p=ag9

Positive impact

fUnYl gqc¢l kt WAGcRUWGYt ROR2ZVUWRGGeHqt WI Wacqlll WaqVYLWHDI
FINGUU0qoWw? !l R2IDUWA! W6 WWEe2l YGU¢ UWOURYUK 't WHIRGCE qIL
Ucaqel caWwnNet AWf UnYIl q¢l kt W ql ¢ q lishdrelbRéhtnaideldtgdy 131 0! WY
production. Infortar has a stake in biomethane production through affiliated companies and

plans to continue investing in biomethane production either through possible new acquisitions

or the construction of new biomethane plants Biomethane produced using membrane

purification technology in biogas plants can be used wherever natural gas is used, for example,

by injecting biomethane into the natural gas network or using it as a motor fuel in compressed

natural gas (CNG) vehicles.

INFORTAR 1631



INFORTAR GROUP

CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

N6IWJWUYGRUcOGWREGEHR! WY nwWf UnYl q¢l kt Wt YOcel WGYs I W

Group has several development projects underway for additional solar power plants in Estonia

and Latvia, for which Infortar will make an investment decision aftethe necessary preparatory

work has been completed. Key investments in Latvia in 2024 include a 4 MW solar power plant to

be built by SIA Solar Nica and a 4.9 MW solar power plant to be built by SIA Solar Olaine. The

]I YeGkt W ql ¢ qldn! abRdf rehgwaklReddrgy praductibdla 6 1J W 6

UWRGGY!I q¢ UquWUalauUquWyYnwf UnY!l qc¢l kt Wt ql ¢qn! WRt U
HOgqs DUUOWf UnYl gqc¢l kt WRU21t qa U U0qt towf OWel T RqRYUWqVYL
contributes to the development of the infrastructure needed for the wder deployment of
alternative and lower GHG emission fuels, in particular biomethane. As a gas distribution network
operator in both Estonia and Latvia, the Infortar Group enables producers of green gas to market
their production through the gas network. hfortar also owns and operates one of the largest
networks of compressed natural gas filling stations in Estonia. The vast majority of compressed
Ucaqel caWnet Wt YOl Weqllgé W] | Ye Gkt LWibaRed, @il theddle of ¢ qRY Ut
biomethane as a motor vehicle fuel will make a significant contribution to achieving the climate
targets set for the transport sector. This will involve the purchase of biomethane from the
affiliates of Infortar. In addition, the Infortar Group provides bunkering sgices for the use of LNG
suitable as a transition fuel for ships and offers offyrid LNG station solutions.

Due to the role of gas distribution network operators, Infortar also contributes to enabling more
efficient energy use. By installing smart gas meters, consumers will have access to the
information they need to manage their consumption.

Negative impact

fOnYl q¢l kt WOUNEqR2VWRAOGe HqWYUWRIRGEe qUWHRG e UNWWRY L
Tallink have measured their GHG emissions in impact areas 1, 2, and 3, with the largest impacts

in impact areas 1 and 2 coming from the energy and vehicle fuesed in the maritime transport,

energy, and construction and mineral resources segmentc Y5 132 31 AlWqdé JW] | Ye Gkt LG
comes from emissions in impact area 3, with the largest impact coming from natural gas

purchased and resold in the energy segmentn the Infortar Group, 1,306 MWh of energy was

produced from fossil fuels in the reporting year.

Opportunities

The growth in demand for renewable energy and alternative fuels linked to climate targets is both

cWI Rt WeUT WeUWYGGY! qzaURq! WnYI WfUnYl qc¢l owf UnYl q
segment will ensure that the business opportunities associated wh the growth in demand for
HGUcUOWI Wil N wt YaoeqRYUt Wel W PU+FGaYRqUT OWf UnYIl
competence in managing large investments can give the Group a competitive advantage in

making the technology investments necessary to partipate in the green transition.

In addition to the energy business segment, measures to meet climate goals create business
opportunities for the construction segment. The need to adapt to climate change and stricter
energy efficiency requirements could lead to increased demand for bothnfrastructure and
general construction. In addition, the possibility of cultivating highetyielding varieties, thereby
reducing the cost of growing animal feed, has already materialised to some extent in agriculture
in the context of climate change.

INFORTAR 1641



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Risks
GoWYnWaqéWWf OnYl qel W] YeGkt WHIRAGCqUWI Rt Wet 1
exception of the physical climate risk affecting agriculture, where droughts and lack of snow can
lead to a reduction in yields. A scenario analysis was conductetb identify climate risks, the
description and results of which are presented on pag 46. Natural gas consumption may be
reduced by changes in consumer preferences driven by meeting climate targets, expansion of
district heating areas, regulatory preference for alternative local heating solutions (e.g. heat
pumps), replacement of natural gasfired district heating plants with renewable energy, and
additional taxation of fossil energy. The obligation for gas distribution networks to participate in
the Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) may also impose additional costs on the Group.

Investment in new technologies as a result of the green transition is associated with higher

Het RODH Y W RYtOWF OWY!I T Wl WgYWd RGqRNE qUWaqdé JWI R t ALWF
on the specific objectives and measures of the legislator. Bxecially in the construction business

segment, there may be a significant risk of inadequate state supervision of compliance with the

new requirements if smaller competitors manage to offer services at a significantly lower price by

violating the new requiements. Infortar considers the improvement of its sustainability

GUImYl GecURVDWEUWRAGGY!I q¢c¢Uqt ql ¢cqUNRHAWYATWUHqR2JALWCE
access to financing and investment on favourable terms increasingly depends on this aspect.

Climate change mitigation and adaptation policies, actions, and objectives

Infortar will develop the principles for the governance of the issue and specific objectives and

action plans as part of the transition plan for climate change mitigation. In addition, a unified

policy will be developed that addresses climate change mitiggon, climate change adaptation,

and other sustainability aspects. The timeframe for the transition plan and policy development

will depend on the relevant provisions of the Climate Resilient Economy Act. As the law has not

P JqWAIPBOWET Y Gaq lidy i@ slkg i thelfroce¥seofdring kbEhileted. The strategic level

objectives and actions related to climate change are set out on pag40. Although no common

policy has yet been developed at group level, Tallink and Gaso have their own guidelines and
GYUGRHRIJtI IOW] ¢t YWSet WT 200 YGUT WeUWWU2RI YUOGWUqece G WC
impact.

The Tallink Group, part of the Infortar Group, has set itself targets to reduce absolute €0

emissions from its activities in areas 1 and 2 by 2% per year. This target will be reviewed before
SMZTOWNSWIW] | Ye Gkt WEHRTORGq! Waq VY W Ikerrdléntssidd teduBtiorR #¢ 0 G ! L
targets will depend on advances in crosssectoral technologies and fuel solutions.
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INDICATORS

Energy consumption and distribution of energy sources

In the calculation of the reported energy demand, processes owned or controlled by Infortar have
been taken into account and the same scope as in the calculations of the emissions in GHG
impact areas 1 and 2 has been applied. Overall, the Infortar Group @& solar power plants with

a total rated capacity of 16.7 MW, generating 9,739 MWh of renewable energy during the reporting
year. In the Infortar Group, 10,881 MWh of energy was produced from fossil fuels in the reporting
year. Infortar Group companies areactive in the following sectors with a high climate impact as
defined by the ESRS electricity, gas, steam, and air conditioning supply; wholesale and retail
trade, repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles; construction; mining and quarrying;
manufacturing; transport and storage; agriculture; real estate; maritime and coastal freight
transport, ships required for port operations and auxiliary activities; sea and coastal passenger
transport. The metrics have not been validated by any other external body.

Energy consumption and distribution by energy sources Infortar Tallink (5
(2024 data)] months, 2024)

1) Coal and coal-based fuel consumption (MWh) - -
2) Crude oil and oil-derived fuel consumption (MWh) 7878 479 176
3) Natural gas-based fuel consumption (MWh) 12671 153 047
4) Fuel consumption from other fossil sources (MWh) - 11
5) Purchased or acquired electricity, heat, steam, and 10512 21 392
cooling from fossil sources (MWh)
6) Total fossil energy consumption (MWh) 31061 653 652
Share of fossil sources in total energy consumption (%) 97% 41%
7) Nuclear energy consumption (MWh) - 2228
Share of nuclear energy in total energy consumption (%) - 0,01%
8) Renewable fuel consumption (incl. biomass, biogenic 613 -
waste, biogas, renewable hydrogen) (MWh)
9) Purchased or acquired renewable electricity, heat, steam 337 -
and cooling (MWh)
10) Self-produced renewable energy 43 -
for non-fuel use (MWh)
11) Total renewable energy consumption (MWh) 992 2243
Share of renewable energy in total 3% 0,2%
energy consumption (%)
Total energy consumption (MWh) 32 054 657 252
Energy consumption from activities in highly climate- 28 216 657 252
relevant sectors (MWh)

GaYtqWeddWYnWaqsé W] 1 YeGkt Wt ¢cadt wl W20002 JWRY W 130 ¢
impact. Revenue from other sectors is shown in Note 12 to the consolidated accounts (pad59)
2UT Ul W6 WWeWel RUNYt Wh~¢UenNWBGWUqWYnWt GYI qf Wné¢ HROR
passengers.
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Energy Intensity Based on Net Turnover Infortar Tallink
Net turnover from activities in high-climate-impact sectors used for 997 239

energy intensity calculation(k)

Other net turnover(x) 57 773

Total net turnover(k) 1371775

Total energy consumption from high-climate-impact sectors per net 0,03 208
turnover from those sectors(MWHk)

Impact area Ir3 GHG emissions and total GHG emissions

fUnYl gqc¢cl kt WHcOAR20cqRYUWYnWNI WJIUG6Yet IJUPDIOdILW bI] ¢ ] b
Corporate Standard (hereinafter the GHG Protocol) and the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3)
EqcUT ¢l TWfUnYl q¢el kt W] c] WHecOGHa2GEqRYUY Ws I WWHE! |
principle for the consolidated parent companies and subsidiariesin impact areas 3 in this
Sustainability Report, in addition, GHG emissions related to the use of assets leased/rented by

Infortar companies were reported (based on the principle of operational control)Greenhouse

gas emissions included in the calculatons include CQ,, CH,, N;O, HFCs, PFCs, Sf-and NF.

Infortar has previously calculated GHG emissions in impact areas 1 and 2, but from 2024

onwards, GHG emissions will also be calculated in impact area 3. As compared to 2023, the
agricultural company Halinga OU, the maritime transport company Tallink GrupAS, and the

energy company Gaso AS have been added to the calculations, Infortar has decided to use the

results of 2024 as the base year to ensure comparability and relevance.

2elllWllqYWaqdlWnecHqWaabeqWNecaaRUY WHcOH2G¢c qt WRat WHEe
methodology and results separately. Tallink calculates its greenhouse gas emissions on the
operational control principle and the calculations have been carried otion the platform of an

external consultancy. The calculations are based on the KHG protocol and 1SO 14040 and 14044
guidelines.

Emissions in impact areas 1 and 2 include all direct emissions from sources owned or
controlled by the company and emissions from purchased electricity and heat. For the
HeliHz O cqRYUWYNWRAGe AHqWe! et WNWe UT W=zAW GUARRNRHELWIIG
model, the Latvian Environmeat, Geology and Meteorology Centre, the Association of Issuing
Bodies (AIB), and the model commissioned by the Ministry of Regional Affairs and Agriculture
were used. For the calculation of purchased electricity enssions in impact area 2, both a market
based and a locationbased approach were used. Markebased approach emissions have been
calculated using the specific emission factors of the AIB electricity residual mix. The emissions
of the location-based approachare calculated using the specific emission factors of the supplier
mix issued by AIB. In addition, Infortar has reported biogenic emissions from the combustion of
biofuels only in impact area 1 based on 2024 data, and biogenic emissions were not calculate
in impact areas 2 and 3 due to lack of data availability.

NedaRUt Kkt W GUARNRHLWIIG Rt r2RNgbatErfron tiieYHstbnidm Ministd/Fotl G ¢ H q LU
QURGCEC UKkt WEYT WaWeUT WagswHY!I 1 3t GYUT RUNDWU¢ qRYUe O WR
has also used both a market and locatiorbased approach. Naobiogenic emissions are generated

H! WN¢daRUt kt WeHqR2RQRIY WRUWRGGe HaWe ! ¢ WNWe UT Wel 1
of data availability.
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The emissions in impact area 3 include indirect emissions across the value chain. For the
calculation of impact area 3, a mapping of the important categories of impact area 3 was carried
out in 2024 and the calculations were performed according to the Corporate Value Chain (Scope
3) Standard. Infortar divided the mapping of important impact area 3 categories among the
company segments (energy; construction and mineral resources; general management,
services, and real estate) and conducted workshops with the to identify key categories and data
collection opportunities. The categories for the maritime transport and agriculture segments
were calculated separately. In agriculture, the tool mentioned above was used for the
calculations, and in maritime transport, the Tallink Group has carried out a separate materiality
assessment and used the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard as a basis for mapping and
calculating material categories. Infortar identified all impact area 3 categories where data could
be collected and then started collecting data. Calculations were carried out on both a quantity
and a cost basis for all categories identified. No calculations were carried out with the primary
data. The calculations were based on specific emission factors fronthe Ministry of Climate
96c¢UNUKY WAYT VGAWe WA YT WaWHYAGAGRY Y RYUDT WA! W6 3W~RUF
DEFRA database, and the Exiobase database. Celased specific emission factors were
adjusted for inflation. Tallink performs the calculaions on both a quantity and a cost basis, using
specific emission factors from the Exiobase database, supplemented with information from the
scientific literature. Tallink included in impact area 3 calculations suppliers with an annual
turnover above EUR 00,000, reaching around 380 suppliers, covering more than 80% of the
volume. The table below highlights the significant and nowignificant categories for Infortar and
Tallink, with reasons provided

In the calculation of impact area 3 emissions, neither the linking of emissions nor purchased or
sold carbon credits are taken into account.

Infortar Tallink
Scope 3 Categor . iti i . iti i
p gory Materiality Was it included in the Materiality Was it included in the
assessment? assessment?
1. Purchased Yes, costbased Yes, costbased
goods and + . + )
i calculations calculations
services
. Yes, costbased Yes, costbased
2. Capital goods |+ . + .
calculations calculations
3. Fuel and
engrgy—related Yes, quantity-based Yes, quantity-based
activities + ) + )
. calculations calculations
(excluding those
in Scope 1 and 2)
4. Upstream No, due to limited data
- pstrear Yes, costbased or availability. Will be
transportation " roxy data " included in future
and distribution proxy
years.
5. Waste . Yes, quantity-based Yes, quantity-based
generated in + . + .
. calculations calculations
operations
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Yes, costbased (only
. Yes, costbased air travel); other
6. Business travel | + .
calculations transport modes not
deemed material
Yes, partially. Yes, partially. Proxy
! Emplqyee + Quantity-based based using Baltic
commuting
(survey) market peer data
Not applicable;
8. Upstream emissions already Not a material
T . .
leased assets included in Scope 1 category
and 2
No, due to limited data
9. Downstream . oo .

. Not a material availability. Will be
transportation ! categor included in future
and distribution gory

years.
10. Processing of . Not a material Not a material
sold products category category
. No, due to limited data
11. Use of sold Quantity-based availability. Will be
+ calculations (e.g., gas . ;
products ) included in future
at point of use)
years.
12. Endof-life | No, due to fimited data
Not a material availability. Will be
treatment of sold |T . ;
category included in future
products
years.
Not applicable;
13. Downstream emissions already Not a material
leased assets included in Scope 1 category
and 2
14. Eranchises T Not ap_pllcabl_ez no Not a material
franchise activity category
Yes, quantity-based or No,.due_z_to “m.'ted data
availability. Will be
15. Investments |+ proxy-based . ;
: included in future
calculations
years.

GHG Results

The GHG data for Infortar, Tallink, and Halinga are presented separately in the table below due to

nmaUl ¢calU0q¢caWT RnnJI WURDY WRUWq6 WWHcOGHz20cqRYUOUWE QB
bl 2RNet qWaYW?2 IHPJGHD! b AWlect Wf UnVYl q¢l WRUAI ¢t T WRat L
data reflect nine months of emissions for the same reason. Theada have been calculated
proportionally and under the assumption that monthly variations are not significant.
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GHG Emissions Results (t COTefdl) Infortar Tallink (5 | Halinga (9
months) months)

Scope 1 GHG Emissions
Scope 1 total GHG emissions 15213 175 881 12 777
Share of Scope 1 emissions under regulated ETS (%) - 28 -
Scope 1 biogenic emissions 110 - -
Scope 2 GHG Emissions
Location-based Scope 2 GHG emissions 6 446 9 050 908
Market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions 6 206 9079 908
Scope 3 GHG Emissions
Scope 3 total GHG emissions 5653 836 92 076 6 506
1. Purchased goods and services 121178 50 135 5 382
2. Capital goods 41 545 835 -
3. Fuel- and energy-related activities (not included in 1933 861 39 607 267
Scopes 1 and 2)
4. Upstream transport and distribution 80 139 402
5. Waste generated in operations 95 765 26
6. Business travel 22 248 1
7. Employee commuting 10 486 427
8. Upstream leased assets - - -
9. Downstream transport and distribution - - -
10. Processing of sold products - - -
11. Use of sold products 3 399 458 - -
12. End-of-life treatment of sold products - - -
13. Downstream leased assets - - -
14. Franchises - - -
15. Investments 114 920 - -
Total GHG Emissions
Total location-based GHG emissions 5675 495 277 008 20 190
Total market-based GHG emissions 5675 255 277 037 20 190
Grand total location-based GHG emissions 5972 694
Grand total market-based GHG emissions 5972 482

f U6 W] c] WHIAGRt+ RYUt WHcOHR20G¢qRYUL AWlqd IWf UnYl q¢l

statements, p. 159)is used to determine the emissions volume.

GHG Intensity (2024) Infortar Tallink

Location:based toEa! GHG emissions per net turnoveft COR LU 5 493

eg/q6 Yet x Ul WK

Market-based total GHG emissions per net turnoveft COR LU

. . 5 493

eg/q6Yet x Ul Wk

Total GHG Emissions by Segment (Market-based approach) 2024 (t COTFeld))

Energy 5526 19C

Construction and minerals 26 688

Maritime transport 3

General management, real estate, and services 7 457

Agriculture 20 190
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E2 POLLUTION

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

In the Infortar Group, the environmental aspect of pollution has significant negative impacts in
several business segments. Construction and excavation work involves air pollution (dust), noise
and vibration, and construction workers may also be exposed tasbestos and chemicals. These
impacts are unavoidable with construction and extraction activities and the focus is on
implementing effective mitigation measures.

In the maritime transport segment, ship emissions represent a significant area of impact. Air
GYlUldeqRYUWn! YOW 6 RGH WRt W RI WAqG! W PDGcqlT WqYW 6RG
challenges for Tallink Group due to regulatory pressure. Todece emissions in the long term, an

alternative fuel solution for ships is needed. In the short term, emission reductions are mainly

feasible through improving the energy efficiency of ships.

In the agricultural segment, air and water pollution is particularly important in relation to livestock
production. Livestock farming inherently poses a risk of water pollution if manure is not properly
managed, but measures set out in the environmental penits are taken to prevent this risk from
materialising.

Significant impacts have been identified in the value chain in its own operations and in the
geographical area. The interests of stakeholders have not been specifically taken into account.
There are no timeframes for the implementation of the actions andhere are no cases with
significant impacts.

Pollution policies and measures

Set out below are the pollution policies and measures by relevant business segment. Stakeholder
interests have not been specifically taken into account in the establishment of pollution
management policies for all segments and the policies have not been naa available to external
stakeholders. For pollution-related measures, Tallink Group has a separate action plan with
specifically allocated resources. For the other business segments, pollutiorrelated measures
are part of the normal activities of the compnies and no significant financial resources are
allocated to them separately.

Construction and mineral resources

ECHOWYNnWqS6 W] | YeGkt WHYUt ql eHqRYUWHRYGGECURIIt W6cEt L
place, which includes the assessment of environmental impacts, the definition and
implementation of guiding principles, and the evaluation of performance. An environmental

action plan will be drawn up for each construction project, based on the environmental impact
assessment, legal requirements, and the environmental register. The environmental action plan

includes the procedures for obtaining the necessary permits, a lisdf environmental aspects with

mitigation measures, waste management, responding to environmental incidents, and the
identification of responsible parties. The environmental action plan is also presented to

t e HARYUq! ¢HqVYIl t We U7 W 2 HHEYHe @hvicorhopivtal Actiobllby is @elifled U H 1J W5 |
during the weekly general inspection of construction sites. The policy does not specify how
substances of concern will be replaced or minimised and how substances of very high concern

will be phased out. Each conG¢ U! k+ Wa¢UeNUGWUqWRY W1 It gGYUtL RAG
management system and its implementation, in cooperation with the quality manager and the

heads of unit
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The environmental aspects register also covers aspects of noise, vibration, and dust generation

and possible control measures. The aim of vibration and noise management is to prevent damage

to buildings, disturbance of living organisms, and damage to worket k W6 J¢ G q 6 OW HHEYI T

]I YeGkt WWU2RI YOGUWUqqcecadWaGeUenNWGUWUqWt 't qPladWnyY!l WHEY

earplugs are used to prevent adverse effects when noise levels exceed 85 dB or when required by

q6WIhe RGGWUQqkt WY G ¢ giRdadodbiRtiHe Gpét thatt apvivdikdd ma@ibide R+ La ¢ t

able to hear an approaching vehicle or warning signals when wearing headphones. Noisy work is

not carried out at night. To reduce the harmful effects of vibration, care is taken to ensure that the

time spent working with the equipment during a shift is not too long. Alternatives to vibratien

inducing work and tools are always sought and vibraticdamped tools are selected. The noise

limits for residential and recreational areas and the vibration limits for reidential buildings are

also respected. Vibration and noise management is the responsibility of the site manager and the

subcontractor.

As regards dust, the aim is to prevent the spread of dust to neighbouring properties. To this end,
the environmental management system stipulates that excessive dusting must be avoided and
that machinery must be shut down during downtime. If possible, thevork routes will be watered
using a water truck. For work where dust cannot be avoided, workers use personal protective
equipment and follow work protection and safety rules. The design of the works will seek to plan
measures to minimise dust where possib¢é and use the technologies identified in the project.
Dust management is the responsibility of the site manager and the subcontractor.

When handling chemicals, safety cards and instructions are presented to workers to manage
potential harmful effects. Where possible, materials are delivered to the site in the quantities
required for a particular stage of the works to prevent chemical spd from the storage of
materials on site. Materials are stored properly, taking into account the specific nature of the
product.

In the case of asbestos, the asbestos content of old buildings is determined before demolition or

repair. In the case of asbestos, the respective work is contracted out to specialised
subcontractors and carried out in accordance with the requirements laiddlown in the Regulation
hclleclqobWe Ul WEENUq! WADe RI WGWUqt WnY!I W + ALY qYt Wi Yl

Maritime transport

As part of its own safety management system, Tallink Group has adopted an environmental policy
for the management of air pollution in maritime transport, based on the provisions of the
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (M®POL). The environmental
policy is the basis for specific procedures and routines to avoid unwanted outcomes or incidents
that could have a negative impact on the environment. All incidents are thoroughly analysed and,
where necessary, policies and procedues are reviewed and amended as a result. Responsibility
for implementing the safety management system lies with the management of Ship Management
(a subsidiary of the Group) and with the captain of each ship.
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Since 2019, Tallink Group has installed high voltage shore connection (HVSC) equipment on most

YnlWRat W20+ D0t WagYWnel q631 Wl JT eH#HJIWUIGRY + RYUY we U1

passenger vessels were equipped with HVSC receivers between 2019 a2@24. Emissions from

HVSGCequipped ships have decreased by 3% per ship in absolute terms. In addition, catalysts

have been installed on some ships to reduce NOx and particulate emissions, and solutions are

being sought in cooperation with technology partnes to reduce methane emissions from LNG

ships. We collaborate with current and prospective fuel partners to identify the optimal fuel mix

and explore future fuel options, along with the technological advancements needed for a

transition to more sustainableand lower-emission fuels.

During 2024, Tallink Group has invested EUR 0.8 million in various projects, such as Romantika
CéEQWe¢UT WERGTCECWE! aG6YU! kt WIIOWI N! WInnmRHRIVUH! WRA G
projects are on the agenda for the coming years, such as the HVAC oapisation of Silja
E'GG6YU! WeUT Waq6WaYT Wl URt ¢cqRYUW YN E2aGUI nct qluf
microplastics will be used or generated during the activities. In addition, there is a lack of
information on the production, use, distribution, marketing, aad import/export of substances of

very high concern and substances of very high concern on their own, in mixtures, or in products.

Agriculture

There is no separate policy for managing agricultural air and water pollution and Halinga OU
bases its activities on the provisions of the integrated environmental protection permit. As we are
currently focused on mapping the situation, concrete measures ad policies are still being
finalised. Outdoor air pollution primarily results from cows, natural processes, and manure
management. In a freerange barn for cows, operating conditions that reduce the air emissions
of pollutants are implemented, such as optmally sized resting pens, regular manure removal with
automated scraper equipment, and the use of sufficient bedding. To reduce odour pollution,
manure storage facilities are located as far as possible from residential buildings and positioned
downwind of prevailing winds. Outdoor air pollution is also generated by the production of heat
in a local boiler plant. In order to reduce the need for thermal energy production, the residual heat
nl YOWAGRGE WHYYOGRUNWRY W Wet UT WaYWEWeqWaddWnel Gkt LWe

Potential water pollution is mainly related to the risk of animal feed or manure getting into the
water. When storing silage, the silo isvaterproofed, and collection pits are used to prevent silage
effluents from leaking into the environment. Livestock buildings and manure storage facilities are
insulated from the soil with leakproof materials. When manure is spread, it is immediately moved
into the soil and adequate clearance is ensured from areas where there is a risk of rHafff into
water. Solid manureis not used in the windrows. Procedures are also in place to prevent
accidents and minimise the potential consequences of manure storage by containing the spread
of manure with peat or straw.

Liguid manure storage facilities are monitored quarterly for leakage by taking a water sample from
the drainage system at the bottom of the manure storage facility and organoleptically assessing
for signs of pollution. Semi-annual rainwater sampling is also carried out.
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POLLUTIONRELATED METRICS AND TARGETS

Objectives

The Infortar Group does not have any pollution targets other than to comply with all local and
international regulations on pollutants. The Tallink Group is preparing to set targets for the
reduction of nitrogen oxides (NOXx), particulate matter (PM), andufphur oxide (SOx) emissions
and is currently in the process of gathering the necessary data to set targets.

Indicators

The disclosure of pollutant quantities is based on the pollutants reported under each
environmental permit or regulation (such as MARPOL for maritime transport) that are deemed to
have a significant impact. Therefore, not all pollutants listed in Annex ¢if Regulation (EC) No
166/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council (European PRTR Regulation) that are
released into air, water, and soil are reported. The existing regulatory requirements are based on
the pollutant register of the aforementioneddirective. The Group assumes that reporting under
environmental permits and MARPOL covers pollutants relevant to the specific activity, ensuring
no relevant information has been omitted for the reader.

As significant pollution impacts from construction and mining activities involve dust, noise, and
vibration T which are not measurable pollutants T no emissions data are reported for this
segment.

In the maritime transport segment, air pollutants are monitored in accordance with MARPOL
requirements and methodology. In 2024, the ships of Tallink emitted 154 tonnes of sulphur oxides
into the air. For nitrogen oxides and particulate matter, the NOx esgions for a specific engine
are defined in itstype of approval certificates. Actual NOx and particulate emissions can be
measured directly through exhaust gas analysis, conducted on a vessély-vessel basis. For
MARPOLcompliant ships, the Group relies & qq R1 Jd! WY UWq6 JWIUNRUWDWGcecUene¢
the basis for compliance. However, for vessels that are performing significantly better than
regulatory requirements due to the technical improvements installed, the Group carries out NOx
and PM measuremets every three years to verify and document their improved environmental
performance. The last measurements were carried out in May 2024 on the Baltic Princess and the
results were consistent with the expected emission levels.

In agriculture, air and water pollutants are measured in accordance with the requirements and
methodology of environmental permits. In 2024, 261 tonnes of methane, 71 tonnes of ammonia,

and 0.3 tonnes of nitrous oxide was emitted to the atmosphere. The gatants entering the water

Cl IWaWet el DT WAYq6 We qigédWnel Gkt W Rt H6¢I NWWGYRUqL
for 2024 are presented in the table belowThe metrics have not been validated by any other

external body.

Indicator Average annual measurement result Unit
Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD?7) 5,67 mg/l
Suspended solids 3,03 mg/l
Chemical oxygen demand (COD) 58,67 mg/l
Hydrogen ion concentration (pH) 7,15 mg/l
Total phosphorus (P total) 0,07 mg/l
Total nitrogen (N total) 4,64 mg/l
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E3 WATER AND MARINE RESOURCES

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

In the Group, the only waterrelated impact assessed as significant is water consumption for
livestock production. Water consumption is essential for livestock production and the strategic
focus is on the implementation of watersaving measures. The impact of watr consumption is
directly linked to the impact of water pollution, as outlined in the thematic standard on pollution.
The implementation of measures will always consider both water consumption and pollution
prevention aspects.

Water-related policies and measures

No specific policy has been adopted to manage water consumption, as we are currently focused
on mapping the situation and it will take time to finalise a concrete policy. However, Halinga OU,
an agricultural company part of the Infortar Group, holds an iegrated environmental permit and
two special water use permits, the requirements and measures of which guide the company. The
permits ensure the use and procurement of water, water treatment, and the prevention and
reduction of pollution.

The activities of the agricultural company pay attention to the sustainable use of water and the
prevention of water pollution. Drinking water is always available to the cattle and group drinkers
are used to ensure the purity of the water and reduce thesk of contamination. The technical
condition of the group drinkers is monitored by the workers on a daily basis and regular
maintenance is carried out by the technicians. Freezgroof group drinkers are located at the
ends of the resting pens to avoid coramination of drinking water with feed and the ruroff water

is directed directly into the manure chute, preventing contamination of the drinkers with bedding.

Water meters are used in cattle barns to monitor water consumption and prevent water losses.
The workers monitor the watering systems daily and any leaks discovered are quickly repaired by
mechanics. Pressure washers are used to wash the cattle barns andadces are removed
mechanically. The waiting area for milking is cleaned using wash water intended for cleaning the
equipment, if necessary.

Milking is carried out using a stable vacuum milking system, operating at optimal levels, ensuring
animal welfare and milk quality. The milk is delivered from the udder to the cooler without contact
with the air in the barn and the milking equipment is waged using automatic washing machines
that ensure optimal quantities of water and detergents. Wash water from the milking equipment
is reused to clean manure from the milking area, helping to redudeeshwater consumption and
promote sustainable water use.Rainwater collected for this purpose is also used. In addition,
water used to wash technological equipment is also used for cleaning theoms andis sent to a
wastewater treatment plant or storage facility before being discharged.

The company is committed to the sustainable use of water, using watesaving equipment, such
as automatic group drinkers, level drinkers, and pressure washers. Monitoring the condition of
pipes and the regular maintenance of equipment will help reduce watdosses. Sensors, pressure
washers, and a fully automatic pump are used to reduce the consumption of process water and
the wash water from the milking equipment is reused to clean the milking area.

Water-related metrics and targets
The Group has not set any waterelated targets, but complies with local requirements, as the
situation is currently beingmapped, and it will take time to set concrete targets.
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In agriculture, water consumption is measured in accordance with the requirements and

methodology of environmental permits to assess compliance.The quantities of water used are

determined based on direct measurement. Water is not reused. Total water consumption is

shown in the table below. In total, 1% of water consumption is for domestic purposes and 99% is

for agricultural use. The metrics havenot been validated by any other external body. As water

consumption significantly impacts only the agricultural HY 0 Ge¢ U! AWl q6 WW a W aql RAELW R

HYUt e GqRYUWRUWYsUOUWYGWI ¢ qRYUt Kk WRY WHecOAR2GEqT WHAHE

BJUOqRI DWW 1 Ye Gkt 1O

Indicator Amount
Total water consumption(ms3) 101 617
Water consumption in water-stressed areas, including high -
water stress areas
Total volume of water reused and recycled -
Total stored water and changes in the volume of stored water -
Water consumption from own operations(ms3 per million euros 13 688
of net revenue)

E4 BIODIVERSITY AND ECOSYSTEMS

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business

model

Audne!l TRUNWARYT R2WI + Ra! We UT WWHEYL Tt qUaGWt 2t q¢ RUE ARC
recognised for having a significant positive impact on soil condition through the implementation

of responsible agricultural practices. Ensuring good soil conditin is critical to the overall
sustainability of the agricultural company. Responsible soil management practices determine

business performance, both through production efficiency and qualification for public subsidies.

The identified impacts are manifestedin the work areas of the agricultural company itself. The

company has not identified any activities that could affect endangered species. The ecological

b qcqget WYnWadWWe NI RAzdqel ¢caWAYAGGeU! kt Ws YI t Wel et U
of that ecosystem.

No separate analysis has been carried out on the resilience of the business model and strategy
to physical, transitional, and systemic risks to biodiversity and ecosystems. In addition, there are
no timeframes for planning activities.

Policies and measures related to biodiversity and ecosystems

No specific policy has been adopted on biodiversity and ecosystem management, as we are
currently focused on mapping the situation and it will take time to finalise a concrete policy.
However, Halinga OU, an agricultural company within the Infortar Grougholds an integrated
environmental permit, complies with its conditions, and implements the required measures. The
integrated environmental permit does not monitor the coverage of the value chain.
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Agricultural activities have an impact on soil condition and biodiversity. In order to minimise the
impacts, Halinga OU implements a number of sustainable agricultural practices that focus on
protecting soil health and ecosystems. To this end, the rules oénvironmentally friendly
management are followed. Organic fertilisers are used in the fields to help maintain and improve
soil carbon and promote the activity of micreorganisms. Grasslands play a key role in crop
rotation by reducing invasive interferene with soil biota, with each field remaining as grassland
for two to three years. Fields with peat soils are predominantly used as permanent grassland,
which requires the least intervention and supports the natural balance of the soil. Minimised
tillage is used to maintain soil structure and tractors use dual wheels to help prevent soil
compaction. Chemical herbicides are used only when absolutely necessary. Fertilisation and
plant protection are carried out with precision equipment that ensures the desiredate per unit
area.

The integrated environmental permit sets out monitoring measures to help conserve and protect
biodiversity. The waste management site is monitored to ensure that waste management is
carried out in a safe and environmentally sound manner, avoiding contamitian of soil and
water, which are essential for the preservation of biodiversity. Emission monitoring helps to
monitor and control the release of pollutants into the environment, thereby reducing potential
damage to ecosystems and biodiversity. Odour mondring reduces odour pollution, which can
affect the health and biodiversity of local ecosystems. Water pollution monitoring helps maintain
water quality, which is critical for sustaining the species that live in aquatic environments. The
progress of measues taken in previous periods has not been monitored.

Metrics and targets related to biodiversity and ecosystems

The Infortar Group has not set specific targets and metrics for biodiversity aretosystems but
monitors compliance with local requirements. We are currently focusing on mapping the
situation to determine what data can be collected, what metrics can be set, and how to establish
the targets based on that. Setting targets now would be premature. We eatherefore currently
focusing on monitoring compliance with local requirements.

In agriculture, activities supporting soil condition are carried out on a regular basis, including
during this reporting year. These actions are part of the regular activities and are not allocated
significant financial resources.

1 Liming of acidic soils. Liming of acidic soils is done to reduce acidity and enhance
biodiversity. This measure improves the physica&chemical balance of the soil and supports
the activity of soil biota.

9 Fertilisation based on soil samples and soil maps. Fertilisation is based on soil maps drawn
up on the basis of soil samples to ensure an even distribution of nutrients in the soil. This
helps to maintain the right balance of nutrients in the soil and redetes overfertilisation.

¢ Ot JWYnWrHY21JI WHI YGt WAGecUqRUNDWHY21JI WHI YGt WG G
conserve soil moisture, and promote microbial activity. It also helps to reduceoil erosion
and degradation.
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E5 RESOURCE USE AND CIRCULAR ECONOMY

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

Positive impact

Positive impacts on the circular economy result from the use of agricultural outputs in energy

Gl YTl eAqRYUKWNGSUW] I Ye Gkt Wt ql ¢cqUNRAWRU21It qad WUqlLIGY
synergies between investments, with investments in agriculture direét ! Wt 2 GGY ! qRUN Wa 6 1J1
activities in biomethane production.

Negative impact

The use of input resources has a significant impact on the Group in relation to resourigensive
construction and animal husbandry. In addition to the construction and mineral resources
segments, waste is also a significant factor in service companies, ere packaging waste and, to
a lesser extent, hazardous waste from printing services are generated.

Opportunity

The activities of the construction and mineral resources segments generate large volumes of
residual materials, but these are mainly recyclable materials. It is therefore possible to generate
revenue from the recycling of these materials, especially in theontext of a general increase in
the price of input resources.

Risks

While recycling materials in construction and mining offers an economic opportunity amid rising
input resource prices, these segmentst along with agriculture T also face negative financial
impacts, as input prices significantly affect company performanceln mining, alongside the rising
price of purchased input resources, there is also a significant risk of increased costs due to the
declining quality of mineral resources available for extraction. Service businesses face a
significant risk to their resoure output if additional packaging regulations result in substantial
added costs.
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Policies and actions related to resource use and the circular economy

fUllq6 W] | Ye Gkt WHYUt ql eA#gqRYUWRYGGe URWDY A6 WWGI RUH

established in the environmental management system described in the E2 standard (pagd1l).

The environmental management system aims at the careful and sustainable use of resources.

The management system emphasises design and informed procurement as key measures for

enhancing environmental awareness and preventing environmental damage and iriefent

resource use. The environmental management system establishes the general principles of

waste management, including waste prevention, a preference for the reuse of materials and

excavated soils, proper waste storage to enable recycling, and coopetian with authorised

waste handlers. The policy does not include other recovery, recycling, and disposal activities, or

the prioritisation of waste prevention or minimisation. The principles of resource use and circular

DHRYUOUYG! WHY21J1 Waqd |Jlep land ath@se t ofsibeddttHobols apik AllRsites. The
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implementation, in cooperation with the quality manager and the heads of unit. All waste

generated at construction sitesis sorted at the source into at least the following categories:

hazardous waste, mixed municipal waste, mixed construction waste (handed over to a waste

handler for further sorting), and soils by type. If it is economically feasible and can be done with

reasonable effort, then untreated wood, film and plastic, paper and cardboard, mineral

construction and demolition waste, and metal waste are also collected separately.

There is no specific policy in place in service companies to manage the impacts, risks, and
opportunities related to resource use and the circular economy, as we are currently focused on
mapping the situation. For service companies, the main impact is thgeneration of waste, which
is managed in line with legal requirements and collected separately, and hazardous waste is
transferred to an authorised partner for disposal.

There is no specific resource use and circular economy policy in agriculture either, as we are
currently focused on mapping the situation. Today, our activities are carried out under the
conditions of the integrated environmental permit and we implement te measures required by
the permit. Among other measures, we implement actions to ensure the sustainable use of raw
materials, chemicals, auxiliary materials, and water, reduce energy and fuel consumption, and
minimise waste. We also monitor the consumptionof raw materials, auxiliary materials, water
and electricity, and the amount of waste generated.

Stakeholder interests have not been specifically considered in the development of the policies,
nor have the policies been shared with external stakeholders. The policies do not cover the
sustainable purchase and use of renewable resources. In addition, #re are no measures, as the
focus is currently on mapping the situation.
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Metrics and targets
The Group has not set any targets for resource use and circular economy.

Due to the size of the Infortar Group and the diversity of its data management systems, a greup
level system for collecting data on resource input and output flows is under development, with
efforts underway to standardise and automate data management. Ithis Sustainability Report,
the collection of circular economy data is linked to the calculation of GHG impact area 3 and
covers the business segments and resource types included in the impact area 3 calculations. The
table below shows the resource input ad output flows, which are the most important in terms of
size and were collected on a volume basis during the reporting period. Resource input flows
reflect the quantities of LNG, natural gas, and electricity purchased, as well as the amounts used
for transportation, primarily from the energy segment. Output flows reflect the volumes of LNG,
CNG, and natural gas sold. The data comes from internal company invoices. Other outsourced
products and services are not included in the energy segment due to the lack quantity-based
information. In addition, for the same reason, there are no input flows from the construction and
mineral resources, general management, agriculture, and maritime transport segments. In the
coming years, the Group will seek to collect gantity-based information. The metrics referred to
have not been validated by any other external body.

Resource input and output flows | Unit| 2024
Resource inputs

Products and materials purchased during the reporting
period

Fuel used for the transport of products purchased during the
reporting period

Share of sustainably sourced biological materials (and
biofuels used as non-energy sources) used for the productio
of products and services (incl. packaging), with information -
on the certification system applied and cascading use
principle

Mass of secondary, recycled, or reprocessed components,
intermediates, and materials used for the production of -
products and services (incl. packaging) in absolute terms
Mass of secondary, recycled, or reprocessed components,
intermediates, and materials used for the production of -
products and services (incl. packaging) as a percentage
Resource outputs

Products and materials sold during the reporting period TWh 17

TWh 19

t 22416
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In addition, one of the output flows of the Infortar Group is waste, which is mostly collected
separately. For example, in the general management, energy, and maritime transport segments,
separate collections are made of packaging waste, paper and cardbody and bio-waste. In the
construction and mineral resources segments, there is a wide variety of waste types, including
construction waste, hazardous waste (such as batteries and oitontaining waste), non
hazardous waste, and wood waste. There is no furélm information on the materials contained in
the waste. Only mixed municipal waste is included in the agriculture segment. Information on
waste quantities is derived from waste reports, with a conservative approach taken when
including quantity data in the report if more detailed information on the waste management
method is unavailable. Therefore, such waste is recorded under disposed quantities. The table
below gives an overview of the quantities of waste from the construction and mining, general
management, energy, agriculture, and maritime transport segments. The metrics have not been
validated by any other external body.

Waste

Waste category Quantity (t)
Total waste generated 3508
Total hazardous waste 37
Total waste diverted from disposal 685
Hazardous waste

T Riepared for reuse -
T RHcycled -
T Qther waste treatment 2

Non-hazardous waste
T Rtkpared for reuse -

T RHcycled 3
T Qther waste treatment 682
Total waste directed to disposal 5379
Hazardous waste

T Ibdineration (with or without energy recovery 36
T Laindfilling -

T Qther disposal operations -
Non-hazardous waste
T Ibidineration (with or without energy recovery 385
T Laindfilling 2 403
T Qther disposal operations -

SOCIAL INFORMATION
S1 OWN STAFF

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

Important IROs related to our staff are set out on pab2. Disclosures related to material impacts
include all employees of the Infortar Group, except for those of Elenger Polska, who joined the
Group at the end of 2024.
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Positive impact

N6 DWaYt qWRAGGY!I qecUqt YRRCOWRAOGGEHqWYNWaq6 WWf UnYl q¢

BaGayY! 3l wowf OnYl qcel kt W ql ¢cqUNRAWET 2¢U0qenNdWet we UWR

managing large and complex investments. Complex and highly ratated operations are carried

out in all business segments of the Group: in the energy business segmenthe operation of the

gas network and trading in financial derivatives; in the real estate business segmert

development and construction, etc. Thesecomplex processes require technical precision, care

and attention, strict compliance with applicable regulations, including health and safety and

competition rules. Therefore, it is important for Infortar to value its employees, to ensure good

and safe woking conditions, adequate pay, training and development opportunities, and equal

treatment to remain competitive.

Negative impact

The negative impact on workers is especially relevant for construction companies, where the
working environment is inherently higherisk. In order to protect its employees, Infortar
prioritises compliance with the principles of occupational safety and impements continuous
internal controls in its activities related to buildings and infrastructure. The process of the double
materiality assessment did not identify any significant impacts on the workforce, resulting from
the transition plans to reduce negatve environmental impacts and to achieve greener and more
climate neutral activities. The materiality assessment also did not identify people with specific
characteristics, in specific circumstances, or carrying out specific activities that may be at higher
risk, in addition to a segmental view.

Risks and opportunities

7Yq6Waq6 JWYGGY! qa URqRIJt We UT W W R ¢+ W Jdeqlldl WaVYLl
its management and other key people to remain competitive and to execute its business strategy.
As competition in the labour market for competent and skilled empiyees is intense, the Group
may not be able to recruit or retain a qualified, skilled, and experienced workforce. The loss of key
personnel or the inability to recruit and retain qualified personnel could have a material adverse
DnnWHEqllyY U G<n fhangal torditiad,Faad bRsthéds results. On the other hand, by
enhancing its sustainability performance, Infortar can boost its appeal as an employer,
particularly to the younger generation, who increasingly prioritise working for companies that
value people and the environment. In the agricultural segment, automation solutions can be
introduced to mitigate the risk of labour shortages, which will improve working conditions and
also have a positive financial impact through efficiency gains. Monitoringhe realisation of
employee-related risks and the effectiveness of mitigation measures is the responsibility of every
HYOGGeU! kt WG¢UenNWGUUqlto

Policies and actions relating to own staff

Infortar has established principles and priorities for people management at the Group level, as

outlined in the principles of responsible business conduct. The principles of responsible

Het RUOUDH Y WHYUT eHqlle GGO! Wa VY We O O WaakHemBRcéesvidibvideY n Wa 6 1J L
HeqWad WT Dg¢ ROt We Ul WRAGONWAGNWUqeqRYUWYnWUIEHSEWHYOG
company or segmental group management. The HR principles of the Group rely on the following:

a caring attitude towards its employees; appeciation for its people and mutual respect; a high

work culture; purposeful, reliable, and loyal professional relationships; equal treatment; and

good social behaviour. The known interests of employees and other stakeholders were taken into

account in the establishment of the principles of responsible business conduct, but there was no

further stakeholder involvement in the policymaking process.

INFORTAR 1821



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
The Group has not adopted a general process for communicating with its employees. In addition
to ongoing communication and the collection of employee feedback within each company, an
annual groupwide satisfaction survey is conducted at the Group level tassess employee
opinions. Employees of the Group can report their concerns to their line manager or use the email
address rikkumine@infortar.ee to report violations. Whistleblower protection policies and
processes are described under the G1 thematic standal. The Group does not evaluate whether
its workforce is aware of or trusts these structures and processes as effective means for raising
concerns or addressing their needs. Across the Group, employee feedback is taken into account
in management decisionson an ongoing basis, but there is no formal process for informing
employees how their feedback has influenced decisions. The code of conduct for companies in
the construction segment requires managers at all levels to involve workers and their
representatives in health and safety discussions and decisiormaking. The human resources
manager of the Group is responsible for the involvement of employees across the Group. Greup
wide policies have been communicated to the companies and each employee has access the
HR policies in force in his or her company.

fOnYl qc¢l W] YeGkt W ql ¢ qUNREWYATWHqR2 It Wel WqVYWRU

employer, to prevent accidents at work, and to reduce the time away from work due to accidents
or illness. These objectives will be supported by the measuresutlined below, which will continue

to be implemented in the future. As the Infortar Group is an investment group with a very dynamic
mix of companies, there are no groupwide measurable and timebound workforce targets, and
the results of the measures havenot been evaluated separately.

§UNWYNWa6WW] 1 YeGkt WGI RYI RqgRIJY WRY WaqYWHIWE Wal 2t qs
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become shareholders by allowing them to benefit from the increase in share value as a result of
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should enjoy working for the Group. Employes are provided with opportunities to maintain and
restore their health and improve their physical fitness. Employees are provided with a safe and
healthy working environment and, where necessary, appropriate training to prevent accidents at
work and to reduce the time away from work due to accidents or sickness. Construction
companies with higherrisk work environments have established safety management systems
with relevant policies and guidelines. The effectiveness of occupational safety measures is
assessed by recording and analysing safetyelated incidents. The remediation of negative
impacts related to the work environment is based on the requirements of occupational health
and safety regulations. Any loss or damage incurred is remedied based on thegulatory
requirements of each country of operation.

Infortar also believes it is important to create opportunities for professional and personal
development for everyone. Infortar helps employees feel valued and appreciated, involved and
connected, and that their knowledge and skills are being used to the aximum. Infortar
contributes to the development of its employees by providing professional training and
supporting the acquisition of new knowledge. The Group values loAgrm employment and work
life balance and supports parenthood.
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It is important to Infortar that all employees are treated fairly and equally, without discrimination.

All employees are valued, regardless of their gender, race, religion, or social background. The

definition of social background also includes sexual orietation, disability, age, political views,

and ethnicity, but these characteristics are not specifically mentioned in the policyRecruitment

Rt WAH¢t DT WYUWq6WIWaeUT RT ¢qlkt W RIRNUWURVAWRUqUGORDN
openness to tedd UY G YNRHECOTWIT W20 YGaWUqOW NSIIW] I Ye Gkt W1 ¢
responsibilities of the position and the performance, competencies, and capabilities of the

employee. Infortar does not use child, forced, or compulsory labour in its companies. Adherence
qYWagdWWe AY2 JWGI RUARRGH Ut WRY We UWRUqUNI ¢ dWGe ! qlyYnWaq
specific policies aimed at eliminating discrimination or promoting diversity and inclusion.

Indicators

f Ullgq6 Rt WEzat q¢ RUCHRGRq! WANUGY! qAWEGUUNUI WAYGH t ¢kt |
DG GOY! JWWnRNa | 1JH-ikdldyudveElédt] nunyoer @ik emplogeed] iincluding those at

Elenger Polska, is presented on pag&60 o the financial statements.

As a rule, the methodology, concepts, and definitions set out in the disclosure and application
requirements of ESRS have been followed in the calculation of the measures. If the approach

differs from the standard, an explanation is given for the specifid IJaq | REOW Y UWDWYn Wad LU
workforce-related metrics have been externally validated, except by the insurer.

Characteristics of paid employees
N6 WOz ANl WYNWXI3GGHY! WUt WRt W WEY! qUT Wet Waé WaY aé i
employees work in Estonia.

During the reporting period, 1,207 employees left the group and the employee turnover rate was
16%. When calculating the turnover rate, the numerator is the number of paid employees who left
the Group during the reporting period, and the denominator is theumber of paid employees who
worked for the Group during the same period.

Number of employees by gender:

Numberof| the number of salaried Number of
Gender employees employees by country, for (Country employees
Women 3126 countries where the Group |Estonia 3593
Men 3038 has 50 or more employees [ atvia 998
Other_ 0| and they represent at least |Finland 957
Not disclosed O 10% of the total workforce:
Total 6 164
employees

Employee data by contract type, categorised by gender
Employment type Women Men| Total
Permanent (indefinite-
term) employees

Temporary (fixed-term)

98% of temporary workers are
2921 2842 5763 employed by the Tallink Group, where
seasonal demand and flexible work

204 197 401| opportunities are common in the
employees . .
Emblovees with zero maritime  transport and tourism
ploy 0 0 0| sectors.

hour contracts
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Characteristics of non-paid employees in own workforce
As of 31/12/2024, the total number of norpaid employees in the group was 76. Primarily, this
I Inl t WqYWRUTR2RT eciat WsYI t RUNDWaUT U HWOGIB&EY £ IIT &L 1
individuals working under civil law contracts.

Involvement in collective bargaining and social dialogue

The Group has 4,486 employees covered by collective agreements. In the case of the employees
of Tallink Group, the data are based on information voluntarily provided by the employees and the
company does not have accurate data on the number of persons cowed by collective
agreements. All employees of the Latvian gas network company Gaso are covered by a collective
agreement. The Group has 185 paid employees represented by employee representatives. The
Group has no employees outside the European Economic éa. The Group does not have any
agreements with its employees to be represented on the European Works Councils, the European
Company (SE) Works Council, or the European Cooperative Society (SCE) Works Council.

All Group locations with more than ten employees have an employee representative, either in the
form of a work environment representative or a trade union representative.

The overall percentage of Share of Employees Covered| Share of Employees
employees covered by |Country by Collective Agreements | with Representation
collective bargaining |Estonia 0% 99.2%
agreements and  the |Latvia 69% 100%
percentage of employees |Einland 0% 99.6%

represented by employee
representatives at the company level in each country where the Group has a significant number
of employees (i.e., at least 50 employees, representing at least 10% of the total workforce).

Diversity indicators
i YouUwaet WWe GUW=ZZEWYnWaq6 W] 1 Ye Gkt WaqYGWa¢cUenNWGWUq
defines top management as the group and country management, which includes managers of

Number of | different fields, deputy CEOs, and other top managers who are
Age group employees | responsible for the strategic and operational management of
Under 30 years 1160 the entire organisation. In the rest of the Group, the members
30T150years 2738 YnWqé WWHYGGEU! kt WAHAYC!I T WYnwWacecUenNG
Over 50 years 2 2661 management.

Age distribution of employees:

Adequate remuneration
All employees of the Infortar Group are paid an adequate remuneration in line with Directive (EU)
2022/2041 of the European Parliament and of the Council on adequate minimum wages.

Social protection

All Infortar Group employees in all countries of operation are covered by social protection through
public programmes in the event of loss of income due to any of the following liehanging events:
a) illness; b) unemployment that starts while the employe is working for the company; c)
acquired disability, work-related injury; d) parental leave; e) retirement.
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Persons with disabilities

The calculation of the disabled persons metric was based on the number of individuals with

reduced work capacity known to the employer, as determined by the decisions issued by the

Estonian Unemployment Insurance Fund. In view of legal and ethical constras, no further

identification of persons with disabilities was carried out. The proportion of people with

TRt cARGRQRIt WeaYUNWaSWWf UnYl ¢l W1 YeGkt WIGGHY! L

Training and skills development metrics

GYUNWq6 W] | Ye Gkt WGERT WIGGHEY! DUt AWPNOTEWY nWs Ya U
performance and career development appraisals. 100% of the annual interviews agreed by
management were carried out.

The average number of training hours per employee was 6.44. The average number of training
hours for women was 6.25 hours and for men, 6.62 hours.

Health and safety metrics

99.8% of the total number of Infortar Group employees are covered by the health and safety
management system. There have been no fatalities in the Group due to wemiated injuries and

ill health. There were 76 registered workplace accidentsof which 74 occurred in the Tallink
group. The workplace accident rate for the Group, excluding Tallink, is 0.8. This accident rate is
an estimate and is calculated using the standard number of hours worked in 2024, taking into
account a basic annual leave of 20 workig days. In the Tallink Group, the workplace accident
rate is 9.2.A total of 58 calendar days were lost due to accidents within the Group, excluding the
Tallink Group. In the Tallink Group, the number of days lost due to workplace accidents is not
measured, as the reasons for sick leave vary by country and cannot be ditly attributed to
workplace accidents. The Group is not in a position to collect data on workelated medical
HYUT RqRYUt WAHUAC 2t Wb WWHeE2t JWYnWaq6 1J18dd GoGiieY ! 1J1IK t 1L
employer.

Work-life balance metrics
All Group employees are entitled to family leave through the social policies of the countries where
they are located. Family leave was taken by 9% of women and 4% of men.

Remuneration metrics

N6WJW] 1 YeGkt WNWUT U1 TG calculdtd ¢he gesdeér tpall §ay oM @Qeralye gross

hourly wages of employees at each company within the Group were collected by gender. These

5101 DWaqéWUWet T WagVYW gl GRUVWq61IW] | Ye Gkt Ws IRNEG qlI]
men.

The data needed to calculate the ratio of the highesE¢ RT WG + YUkt We¢ UUzc¢ G WqY q
annual median wages of all employees (excluding the highegtaid employee) cannot be

collected at the Group level. Therefore, this metric has been calculated athe level of each

individual company.

Infortar AS has an overall pay ratio of 6.7, which is primarily due to the fact that the highgsdtid
employee receives bonuses, shares, and options in addition to their basic salary.

In the maritime transport business segment, the overall pay ratio is calculated on a country basis,
ranging from 1.05 in Germany to 20.33 in Finland. In Estonia, the ratio is 11.58. In this business
segment, high ratios result from substantial oneoff bonuses and other special payments to the
highest-paid employees and do not reflect permanent salary levels.
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In the energy business segment, the ratio ranges from 1.62 to 7.73. The highest ratio is in a
company with only four employees. In the energy business segment, the company with the most
employees is the Latvian gas network company Gaso, with a ratio of 8.9In Estonia, the largest
employer in this segment is Elenger, with a ratio of 2.72.

In the construction and mineral resources business segment, the ratio ranges from 1.14 to 2.55.
The ratio for the largest employer in the segment, AS EG Ehitus, is 2.55.

In the agriculture business segment, the ratio is 2.84.

In the services business segment, the ratios range from 1.68 to 4.27. The ratio for the largest
employer in the segment, Tallinna Raamatutriikikoja OU, is 2.70.

Cases, complaints, andserious human rights impacts

During the reporting period, there was one reported case of discrimination and one pending
employee grievance in the Group. Both incidents occurred in the Tallink Group. There were no
cases of human rights violations in the Group.

S2 EMPLOYEES IN THE VALUE CHAIN

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business

model

For important IROs related to employees in the value chain, see pa®3. Important IROs are

I Jacqll WaYWaqs W | YeGkt WARYUL ql eHqRYUWRY O Ge URIIE Alls
for construction work. As the energy segment in turn uses the services of construction
companies, the impacts related to subcontractors inthe value chain were also assessed as

material.

Positive impact

As general contractors, the construction companies of the Infortar Group have the ability to
RUntGeWBUHDW q6W sYl t ROUNDW #YUT RqRYUt W YnWwt eARYUq! ¢
management is about setting health and safety requirements.

Risk

As the public associates construction projects primarily with the main contractor, incidents of
poor working conditions or behaviour by subcontractors may cause reputational damage with a
significant financial impact to the Infortar Group.

Policies and actions for employees in the value chain

In line with the Groupwide principles of responsible business conduct, Infortar works with

companies that operate in all markets in accordance with the law and the principles and rules
established within the organisation, and adheres to ethical values, ternationally recognised

human rights standards, and working practices. The use of child labour, trafficking, and forced

and compulsory labour is prohibited. While respect for human rights is also expected from

partners, their staff are not involved intheG1 YHIJt + WY N WGYU RHA! Wt DagqRUNOWNGE
policy also does not impose measures to remedy and/or enable the remediation of impacts on
qélWsaacUWI RNEqt WYnNWWIGGaY! WUt WRUOWq6WIW2¢te DWHGER
occupational safety regulations.
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The policies and processes related to employees in the value chain only cover the issue of safety

at work, which has a significant impact, and not all aspects of human resources management.

fUnYl gqc¢l kt WHRYUL ql e #qRYULW Raq lJ Ubkfféerentartiedladd Wortingl 2 | 1J Wt

simultaneously on a common construction site or worksite, the parties must enter into a joint

operation agreement on occupational health and safety (OHS) and environmental health and

safety (EHS), which regulates the divisionf roles and tasks and responsibilities between the

parties. The management of each construction company is responsible for the implementation

YnWYHrHAH2 GEqRYUcOW ¢nllJg! WGI RUARRGHG I towW7 ¢t WT WYULWq6 1

employees must at YW nVYadVYs WfUOnYl qel kt W8cEWe¢ Ul WEcEWNe2RI ¢

when carrying out the work, which may include, for example, the occupational safety plan, the

work procedures for the joint construction site, work environment risk analyses and risk

assessi WUqt AWf UnVYl qc¢l kKt W8cEWCUT WEcEWGYORH! W Ut AHI RG

as well as occupational safety, fire safety and electrical safety guidelines, and other documents

with similar orientation and content. Based on the agreement, Inforta® ¢ + W¢ A#HI1J+ + Waq VY Wa 6 1J W

documentary records and can carry out an internal audit of the working environment.

Subcontractors can report infringements to a representative of Infortar or through the reporting

email address. During the year under review,msignificant human rights issues or cases were

reported upstream or downstream in the value chain. The Group has no general process for

communicating with employees in the value chain.

Construction companies regularly carry out sel and internal inspections of the working
environment, both in the form of monitoring and audits, with the central objective of collecting
and analysing information on the effectiveness and efficiency of the ggfformance of the work
environment management system and compliance with applicable requirements to ensure the
safety of the working environment. The safety coordinator carries out a selispection of the
construction site on a weekly basis and draws up aeport on the inspection. The quality
department staff regularly inspect the construction sites through internal monitoring on a
monthly basis and carry out internal audits at least once a year. The quality department, together
with the administrative manager, also carries out monitoring of work environment parameters
and emergency preparedness checks. Emergency preparedness is assessed at least once a year
on a structural unit basis.

The Infortar Group does not have established tim&ound and performance-based objectives for

the employees in the value chain and action plans to achieve these objectives. The strategic level

objective of preventing accidents at work also applies to emploges in the value chain. The
GecUcnNPUINUqUWYnNWEWchqéWe UT Wt enldq! WRAGGEHat WRt We UK
dedicated resources have been allocated to it.

S3 AFFECTED COMMUNITIES

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

Important IROs related to affected communities are listed on pag53. The identified IROs are not
associated with any specific groups. The significant impacts of the Infortar Group are felt in the
communities where the group operates and through economic and energy security impacts in
Estonian society at large. The doublessessment also took into account communities in the
value chain and indigenous peoples, but impacts directly related to them were not assessed as
significant.
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Positive impact

The Infortar Group plays an important role in society, creating jobs and managing assets in a way

that promotes economic growth and prosperity. Infortar supports projects that contribute to the

development of future generations, both at the Group and subdiary level. The agricultural

segment also supports life in rural areas by providing employment opportunities there. In

CTTRqRYUAWTf UnY!l q¢l Kkt WeHqR2RaqRUt WRUOWq@q6 WU NI W

positive impact on communities. Gas distrbution network companies play an important role in

fUnYl gqc¢l kt WHz2t ROWDHY WAGYT DoAWG!I Y2RT RUNDWcEW2Race O Wt L

strategy of investing in increasing local renewable energy capacity and developing the

infrastructure necessaryn Y| Waq6 WWs RT J1 Wet DWYnWHRYNct 3t AWf Un VYl

security of supply and energy security.

Opportunity

Contributing to the community and playing an important role in energy security has a positive
ROGeHqWYUOUWf UnYIl q¢l kt W UGegq¢caqRYUW + We WiRY qUlT WHRYG
significant positive financial impact. In particular, this opporunity relates to the Estonian market,

where Infortar has greater visibility compared to its other countries of operation.

Policies and actions for affected communities

The Infortar Group does not have a specific policy for managing impacts, risks, and opportunities
related to affected communities. It has not been necessary to develop a policy because the
Group does not have significant negative impacts on communities, ahthe management of
positive impacts and the exploitation of potential opportunities are inherently covered either by
the implementation of the strategy or by other policies. The process of contributing to the
community is also managed separately at the leel of each subsidiary. The Infortar Group has not
established a general process for engaging with affected communities or for monitoring the
effectiveness of community support measures. The Group does not take additional measures
beyond regulatory compliance to ensure that its own practices do not cause or contribute to
significant negative impacts on affected communities. The views of communities were taken into
account in the double materiality assessment through a survey of the views expressed by the
communities, and there is ongoing needsbased engagement with affected communities in each
business segment. No serious human rights concerns and cases have been reported in relation
to affected communities during the reporting year.

As a gas distribution system operator, Infortar is responsible for the operation and maintenance
of the gas network and is obliged to develop the network in such a way as to ensure the connection
of consumers in the network area to the network. In additionthe gas network, as a provider of a
vital service, is subject to additional requirements under the Emergency Act.

Infortar has played an important role in ensuring security of supply throughout the Baltic and

Finnish region, especially in recent years. The fuficale war launched by Russia against Ukraine

in February 2022 and the resulting tense security situation letb a complete change in the

I WNDRYUKt WNeét Wt eGGa! WAS¢ RUL tOWNs W] | YeGWaYU21I1 qIT I
g6 JW=M=Z=zWnRUcURRecOGW! Wel OWf UnY!l q¢l WHa !+ Wx ] W2 RE W
which allow LNG to be regasifiecnd transported through gas networks.
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fOULWOGRUVWs RQ6Wq6 W] I YeGkt WGl RURRGOIUt WYnw! Ut GY U

consistently to Estonian society by supporting young people, their development and sports

opportunities, and entrepreneurship through active partnerships. In the fiel of sports, the

]I YeGkt WHRNNUt qWGe!l qUIII + Wel WWgé WWEY qYUR¢ UWNIWUURY

fowl IHJIU0qW! Jel +t AWqé W] | Ye Gkt WaecRUW YRR GWIUq!l UG

Tallink Tennis Centre through investment and ope¢ q RUNDWNI ¢ Uqt oW UWY211 2RI |

H6c¢l Roqc HOGWWHYOGGEAY!I ¢qRYUt WYl Wl YOecqRYUt WT 21 RUNWGq ¢

strategic objective is to contribute to community development, unless the Group has set time

bound and result-oriented objectives for the affected communities, and specific action plans and

allocated resources to achieve these objectives.

Business Segment Key Charitable Partnerships or Recurring Donations, 2024
Group-level Estonian Tennis Association; Tallink Tennis Centre; Estonian Golf
Management Association; Niitvalja Golf Centre Estonia Society

Tallinn Volunteer Maritime Rescue Association; My Dream Day;
Tallink employee Christmas gifts for large and low-income families
Estonian National Opera; Vanemuine Theatre; John Nurminen
Foundation (Finland); Kummit Childrenis Hospital Collaboration
(Finland); Hope RY (Finland); Finnish Lifeboat Institution; Min Storal
Tag or My Dream Day (Sweden)

Maritime Transport

Song and Dance Festival; Tallink Tennis Centre; Food Bank;
Successful Estonia; Estonian Biathlon Federation; Celies
Development Fund (Latvia); International Roma Humanitarian
Foundation (Latvia); Latvian Movement for Independent Life (Latvig

Energy

Carolin lllenzeer Fund; Tartu University Hospital Children's
Foundation

Roof renovation of Parnedaagupi Church Excursions for school and
kindergarten groups

Service Sector Supporting athletes with free training and facilities

S4 CONSUMERS AND ENIDISERS

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how theyelate to strategy and business
model
Important IROs relating to consumers and endlisers are set out on pag 53.

Construction and Mining

Agriculture

Positive impact

EUt el RUNDWa6 W ¢nllq! WYnwreet qyYadl + wWe Ol WGI YT 2 Hat WRY
fOnYl qc¢l kKt WNeéet W Rt qf RHz2qRYUWUOWqs YI t WHRYAGGe URIJY WG
safety. The gas network contributes to raising the awarenessf customers, partners, and the

general public on gas safety through information sharing, training, and cooperation exercises

(with the Rescue Board, Elering, its partners) and participation in the work of the standards
development committee. The Tallink Goup carries over five million passengers annually on its

ship routes, accommodates thousands of customers in its hotels, and serves many more across

its markets with its products and services. The safety and security of their customers will always

beoneYn W6 DWHYAG¢cU! kKt WqYGWGI RYlI RqRIJY WRUWE G @ WRat WeE
milk quality and safety through the responsible treatment of animals and the prevention of
contamination is a critical part of the business.
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reduced mobility with better access to transport and sports opportunities. It is possible to play
wheelchair tennis at the Tallink Tennis Centre and the centrsupports the Estonian Invasport
Association in using tennis courts and organising competitions.

Negative impact

Due to the large number of customers in the maritime transport, energy, and services segments,

fUnYl gqc¢l kt WARYIGcURWt WeYal Wewacl nwWwecaYeUqWYnWGII
protection of personal data and cybersecurity may have negative effég on consumers. There is

also an inherent risk to the physical safety of building users associated with real estate and
construction activities.

Risk

The occurrence of negative incidents involving personal data or physical safety among
consumers and end users may result in negative financial consequences for the Infortar group.
This is the case both through fines applied by the administrative authoritee and through
significant reputational damage.

Policies and measures relating to consumers and end users

The Infortar Group does not have a general policy for consumers and enders. Instead, the
management of issues related to them is handled through the management of specific themes.
fOW PDecHRSGW HYGGeU! W YnW qé6JW ]I YeGAW q6lW #Ythee U! kt W
implementation of these policies. The Infortar Group has not adopted a generic process to
communicate with consumers and/or end-users. Consumers and endusers can raise concerns
through national formal channels, by contacting companies directly, or byeporting breaches via
email, as detailed in the G1 TS thematic standard. The Group does not have separate processes
to support the availability of channels for raising concerns in its business relationships and does
not assess whether consumers and/or ed-users are aware of and trust these structures or
processes to raise their concerns or needs and have them addressed. There is no process in place
within the Group to identify what actions are necessary and appropriate to respond to specific
actual or potential negative impacts on consumers and/or endusers. Deciding on measures to
counter negative impacts is a normal part of the business operations of consumeelated
companies, the specifics of which depend on the particular characteristics of each busiess. In
remedying potential damage, the Group complies with the requirements of the relevant country
of operation.

Infortar values confidentiality and the protection of personal data. The Group complies with the
general data protection principles, the rules under the General Data Protection Regulation, and
the principles on the use of personal data established in the @ampanies of the Group. Infortar
treats all information obtained while providing services with strict confidentiality. It is the
responsibility of each member of staff to ensure that confidential information is protected by
appropriate safeguards that allowaccess only to authorised persons.
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The safety and security of people, the environment, and property is a top priority for the Tallink

Group. The implemented safety management system is kept ufp-date and fully operational at

all levels of maritime operations. The safety management systemully complies with the

requirements of ISM (International Safety Management) and ISPS (International Ship Port Facility

Security) and the international standard for environmental management systems (ISO

14001:2015). Established routines and procedures pragie a solid basis for preventing accidents

and loss of life and minimising the environmental impact of ships and shorbased operations.

NeadaRUt W] I YeGkt Wt ecnWg! WacUenNWaWUqWt 't quawe Ur 131 1

authorities (the Estonian, Finmsh, Latvian, and Swedish maritime administrations) or by

recognised organisations authorised by these authorities, as well as the certification body LRQA

(ISO 14001 Environmental Management System).

N6 DWGI RUARGH Ut WnY!I WRUqWI UcaWwWrHYUq! YOWYnWIl R €4 WY
infrastructure facilities and real estate, as well as compliance with regulatory requirements, are
outlined in the risk management policy of the managementeport on page 26.

Infortar ensures that the goods and services it provides comply with the legal requirements and
are safe for the health of the consumer. Where appropriate, the product is labelled with a health
warning label and a product safety and information label. Infdar avoids providing misleading
information to consumers and processes and resolves consumer complaints digitally and as
quickly as possible.

Metrics and targets related to consumers and endlisers

In the Infortar Group, the overall strategic objective is to prevent all safety incidents, both physical
and cyber, and this is monitored through incident statistics. The Group does not have a time
bound and result-oriented target for consumers and/or endusers with a corresponding action
plan. During the reporting year, the Group has not experienced any significant physical security
incidents or data protection or cyber security incidents. Likewise, no serious human rights
related issues or incidents concening consumers and/or end users have been reported.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
G1 BUSINESS CONDUCT

Material impacts, risks, and opportunities and how they relate to strategy and business
model

Positive impact

The Infortar Group is committed to sustainability and accountability, ensuring responsibility in all
its actions and values while striving for openness and transparency. Ensuring an ethical corporate
culture and contributing to lawmaking through industry asociations are therefore important
impacts for the Group. In animal husbandry, ensuring animal welfare is also a key aspect of
fostering an ethical business culture. Managing environmental, social, and management risks is
also part of ethical behaviour, vhich is why suppliers and partners are chosen responsibly.
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Negative impact
N6 IUW] I YeGkt WHYUL ql erqRYUWEUT WaRUWI ¢aWwl 13t Yel #HI1Jt W
traditionally high risk of corruption. Managing this negative impact and avoiding corruption is a
priority for the Group. In the maritime transport segment, dueathe volume of goods and services
provided and the extensive value chains, the potential for human rights abuses in the value chain
is significant. To prevent involvement in human rights abuses, Tallink Group carefully selects and
continuously monitors its suppliers and partners.

Risks

N6IWJW] I YeGkt WGcUenNWGWUqWl Rt t+ We | Ricohiblimhc¥ Withlthed 1J W HY 2
compliance requirements of regulations or involvement in corruption incidents can lead to
reputational damage, which may significantly weaken the financial positiomf a publicly traded

company. As the maritime transport segment depends on extensive international supply chains,

disruptions in the supply chain can lead to significant costs.

Business conduct policy and business culture, prevention and detection of corruption

and bribery

NeWJWf OnYl q¢l W] 1 YeGkt WHet RUIIY t LW A Xdirlptior guidéied RH! W R
Infortar, together with the companies in the Group, is committed to ethical business practices.
E200Wq6 WG JWt et GRARY UWY n WHY h, unele@ajrie theididhatyofll 6 ¢ | G LWf
the entire Group, and tarnish the personal credibility of each director and employee. Infortar

complies with all applicable anti-bribery and anticorruption laws in every jurisdiction, even if it

means foregoing new businessyrefraining from using certain thirdparty services or business

partners, or tolerating delays in existing operations. The policy was not developed with
consideration of the interests ofstakeholders, and it has not been made available to external
stakeholders of the Group.

The anticorruption guidelines apply to all Infortar subsidiaries worldwide, their board members,
employees, and affiliated persons. The management boards of Infortar and its subsidiaries are
responsible for ensuring compliance with the anticorruption guidelines, with assistance from the
internal audit unit. Compliance is also overseen by the board of directors and the boards of the
subsidiaries. The internal audit unit reports annually to the board of directors of Infortar on the
execution of compliance monitoring. The management board reports annually to the board of
directors on the execution of compliance monitoring and on any significant concerns that have
arisen.

All persons to whom the anticorruption guidelines apply must ensure that they understand and
fully comply with the guidelines at all times. The guidelines have been published and
communicated to the management boards of Infortar and its subsidiaries, whae duty it is to

inform employees about the guidelines and the principles set out therein. All new Infortar
employees are introduced to the anticorruption guidelines when signing an employment
contract. No additional anti-corruption and anti-bribery training programme has been

implemented.
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N6 IJW] | Y acGhuptiod guidgliRes list potential areas of concern that may indicate that a
bribe is given omeceived orgive rise to suspicion. All members of the management bodies and
employees of the Infortar Group who suspect that a violation of the law or the guidelines may have
occurred or may occur in the future, or who become aware of suspicious, dangerous, or obvisly
corrupt activities by any person, must immediately report their suspicions to their line manager,
who must immediately pass the information on to a member of the internal audit unit. Any
suspicions can also be reported to the email address rikkumine@infortar.ee.

Reports made under the anticorruption guidelines are first investigated by the internal audit unit,
which subsequently involves relevant individuals from any other relevant unit. Persons who
receive a notification of a suspected violation will consider whther it is necessary to notify the
authorities in the relevant jurisdiction. The information prepared by staff and members of the
management bodies is kept confidential until the internal audit unit confirms that it is no longer
necessary.

Whistleblower protection

To manage the whistleblowing process and ensure protection against retaliation, the Group has

adopted a whistleblowing guideline. The whistleblowing procedure applies to and is intended for

all employees of the Group, members of management, persons proviag services to the Group,

regardless of their position or status, and other persons specified in sectioB of the Protection of

Persons Reporting WorlkRelated Breaches of European Union Law Act to whom protection

extends. The reportable violation may conce various areas, including public procurement,

competition law, corruption, accounting, financial and tax law, environmental protection, privacy

and personal data protection requirements, network and information system security, and other

areas specified in section 2 of the Protection of Persons Reporting WorRelated Breaches of

European Union Law Act. A breach report can be submitted either with personal information or
anonymously, through the email address rikkumine@infortar.ee, by contacting the direct

manager, or using other methods in line with the legislation governing breach reporting. The

HI DeHSWI DGY! qWRY WIGYNNUT WH! WagéWJW] 1 YeGkt WRUqWI Uc¢ al
UYgRNRACqRYUWqY We Ws YI t RUNWN I gélaunt by of interadjdridit)) WY n W |
and human resources manager. The Group ensures that whistleblowers are protected against

retaliation.

Animal welfare

The Group does not have a specific animal welfare policy in place yet, as the current focus is on
assessing the existing situation, and developing a policy will take time. Halinga OU follows the
requirements of the integrated environmental permit and the bst practices in the field when
ensuring animal welfare. Animals are guaranteed free movement, a comfortable and clean lying
area, and access to feed and water at all times. Feed rations are drawn up according to the age
of the animals, milk production, and lactation stage and are reviewed weekly. The pens have
proper lighting, a suitable temperature for the animals, and plenty of ventilation to ensure clean
and fresh air.
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The health and welfare of the animals is checked at least once a day by a qualified professional.
Milk testing is conducted once a month, providing information on milk quality and, consequently,
on animal health and metabolism. All cows have their hoovesre¢ated twice a year. Animal
activities and key parameters are monitored and analysed in real time to identify animals in need
of attention or treatment as quickly as possible. Cows are milked regularly and udders are
cleaned and disinfected before and afte milking to reduce the risk of infection. Animals with
special needs are housed and treated in specially adapted conditions under the close supervision
of a qualified specialist.

Animal records are carefully documented and maintained to ensure that mating between related
animals does not occur. Calves up to one month old are kept in separate pens and are fed water
from bottles in a natural manner. Young animals are provided withguificantly more free space
than legally required to support their development.

Relations with suppliers

As a general principle, the Infortar Group only cooperates with competent and trustworthy
companies that operate in compliance with the law in all markets and adhere to high ethical
values, internationally recognised human rights standards, and labour praies. For example,
after Russia launched a fulscale war against Ukraine, the Infortar group completely reorganised
its natural gas supply chains by transitioning to liquefied natural gas, now purchasing LNG
instead of the historically dominant Russian mtural gas. While the Group has set out responsible
business principles to which suppliers and partners are expected to adhere, more specific
supplier management processes have been managed by subsidiaries. Growpide supplier
sustainability policies and processes are being developed. Tallink Group has implemented a
supply policy and supplier code of conduct to address significant value chain impacts, while also
extending its human rights policy to suppliers and partners. Provisions in the supplier code of
conduct cover, among other things, worker safety, precarious work, human trafficking, forced
labour, and child labour. These provisions are in line with applicable ILO standards. Tallink
monitors suppliers through regular audits.

Indicators
None of the metrics are externally validated.

Cases of corruption or bribery
There have been no cases of corruption or bribery in the Infortar Group during the reporting period.

Political influence and lobbying

f Ulle #HEY I T ¢ UHIIWsHRY 61 Uef GapRyY UnlidN ek R TWEGORRIt AWf Un Yl q¢l Kkt
be used for political contributions, financial or inkind. Group companies do, however, contribute

to policy debates that address legitimate concerns about INf | q¢ | Kkt WHeat RO+ AW
customers, or the communities in which the company and its subsidiaries operate. This
contribution is primarily achieved through participation in sectoral alliances.
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qWqéWWGel JO0quWraYGGeU! WaWw2laAWfUnYl q¢l WRY WEHQR
9YUNWT Wl ¢cqRYUAWeT 2YHECqRUNDWNYI W6 XWIHYUYG! Wet Wad L
political activity as a parent company is therefore primarily concernedwith ensuring the
continued positive impact on employees and affected communities. In the maritime transport
segment, a key lobbying focus is climate and air pollution, as related regulations present
significant transition risks to the industry. The maritme transport segment is also actively
involved in maritime safety and labour issues, which are among its primary areas of impact.
Subsidiaries in the energy segment mainly participate in the work of the Estonian Gas

bt YRHRec qRY UKW U W G éconpanigs: tinve| beehl opdiied! in [th¥ a@fing and
amendment of energyrelated laws, such as the Electricity Market Act, the Natural Gas Act, and
the Climate Resilient Economy Act. Subsidiaries are also involved in the development of energy
related development plans. Influencing these regulations is commercially crucial for managing
the risks and opportunities posed by climate change. Subsidiaries in the construction segment
belong to sectoral associations and have mainly contributed to the regulation of pfessional
standards to ensure a highquality and safe product for end users
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Annexes to the Sustainability Report
ANNEX 1. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS BY REFERENCE

Disclosure Requirement Referenced Document Page in Annual Report

ESRS2 GOM § 20 (a); 8 21 (¢ Corporate Governance Report 23,29

ESRS2 SBM § 40 (a); 8§42 | Management Report 13,14

ESRS2 SBM § 40 (d) Appendix 5 to the Consolidated 133
Financial Statements

ESRS S4 Management Report 26

ANNEX 2. LIST OF DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FULFILLED IN
THE PREPARATION OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Disclosure Requirement Sustainability
Report Page
ESRS 2 GENERAL DISCLOSURES
BP-1 T general basis for preparing the sustainability report 34
BP-2 T disclosures specific to particular circumstances 34
GOV-11role of administrative, management and supervisory bodies 35
GOV2TRUNY!I G¢qRYUWGI Y2RT U1 WqVY Waqé IWwe U
their handling of sustainability matters 35
GOW-3 1 linking sustainability performance to incentive schemes 36
GOW-4 1 statement on due diligence obligations 36
GOM5 T1risk management and internal control of sustainability reporting 37
SBM1 T strategy, business model and value chain 38
SBM2Tt qq¢ t W6 YaTl DI+ kK WWIRUqII 3t qt WwWe U7 WG 42
SBM3 T material impacts, risks and opportunities and their connection to the
strategy and business model 43
IROC-1 1 description of the process to identify and assess material impacts,
risks and opportunities 44
IRO-2 T ESRS disclosure requirements covered in the sustainability report 46
E1 CLIMATE CHANGE
E1-1 T transition plan for climate change mitigation 63
E1-2 T policies on climate change mitigation and adaptation 65
E1-3 T actions andresources related to climate policies 65
E1-4 T targets for climate change mitigation and adaptation 65
E1-5 T energy consumption and energy mix 66
E1-6 T total GHG emissions across Scopes 1, 2, and 3 67
E1-7 T GHG removals and offset projects financed through carbon credits
E1-8 Tinternal carbon pricing
E2 POLLUTION
E2-1 71 pollution -related policies 71
E2-2 T pollution -related actions and resources 71
E2-3 1 pollution -related targets 74
E2-4 T air, water and soil pollution 74
E3 WATER AND MARINE RESOURCES
E3-1 T policies on water and marine resources 75
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E3-2 T actions and resources on water and marine resources 75
E3-3 T targets for water and marine resources 75
E3-4 T water consumption 75
E4 BIODIVERSITY AND ECOSYSTEMS
E4-1 1integration of biodiversity and ecosystems into strategy and transition
plans 76
E4-2 T policies on biodiversity and ecosystems 76
E4-3 T actions and resources for biodiversity and ecosystems 76
E4-4 T targets for biodiversity and ecosystems 77
E4-5 T indicators of changes in biodiversity and ecosystems 77
E5 RESOURCE USE ANCIRCULAR ECONOMY
E5-1 T policies on resource use and circular economy 79
E5-2 1 actions and resources for resource use and circular economy 79
E5-3 T targets for resource use and circular economy 80
E5-4 T resource input flows 80
E5-5 T resource output flows 79
S1 OWN WORKFORCE
S1-1 1 policies related to own workforce 82
S1-2 T processes for engaging with own workers and their representatives or|
impacts 82
S1-3 1 remediation processes and grievance mechanisms enabling own
workers to raise concerns 82
S1-4 T measures taken in relation to material impacts, approaches to mitigate
significant risks and capture opportunities, and their effectiveness 82
S1-5 T targets for managing significant negative impacts, enhancing positive
impacts, and addressing significant risks and opportunities 82
S16THG6C| ¢Hql Rt qRHEL WYNnWaqdéJWe U1 JI qct 84
S1-7 1 characteristics of non-employees in own workforce 85
S1-8 1 coverage by collective agreements and social dialogue 85
S1-9 1 diversity indicators 85
S1-10 T adequate wages 85
S1-11 71 social protection 85
S1-12 1 persons with disabilities 86
S1-131training and skill development metrics 86
S1-14 1 health and safety metrics 86
S1-15 1 work-life balance indicators 86
S1-16 T pay gap and total remuneration metrics 86
S1-17 tincidents, complaints, and serious impacts on human rights 87
S2 WORKERS IN THE VALUE CHAIN
S2-1 71 policies related to workers in the value chain 87
S2-2 1 processes for engaging with value chain workers on impacts 87
S2-3 1 remediation processes and grievance mechanisms enabling value
chain workers to raise concerns 94
S2-4 1 measures taken in relation to material impacts on value chain workers
approaches to mitigate significant risks and capture opportunities, and their
effectiveness 87
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S2-5 1 targets for managing significant negative impacts, enhancing positive

impacts, and addressing significant risks and opportunities 87
S3 AFFECTED COMMUNITIES

S3-1 1 policies related to affected communities 89

S3-2 1 processes for engaging with affected communities on impacts 89

S3-3 1remediation processes and grievance mechanisms enabling affected

communities to raise concerns 94

S3-4 1 measures taken in relation to material impacts on affected
communities, approaches to mitigate significant risks and capture

opportunities, and their effectiveness 89
S3-5 1 targets for managing significanthegative impacts, enhancing positive

impacts, and addressing significant risks and opportunities 89

S4 CONSUMERS AND ENDSERS

S4-1 71 policies related to consumers and endusers 91
S4-2 1 processes for engaging with consumers and endisers on impacts 91
S4-3 T remediation processes and grievance mechanisms enabling

consumers and end-users to raise concerns 91

S4-4 T measures taken in relation to material impacts on consumers and end
users, approaches to mitigate significant risks and capture opportunities, ang

their effectiveness 91
S4-5 T targets for managing significant negative impacts, enhancing positive

impacts, and addressing significant risks and opportunities 92

G1 BUSINESS CONDUCT

G1-1 T policies and culture regarding business conduct 93
G1-2 1 relationships with suppliers 95
G1-3 1 prevention and detection of corruption and bribery 93
G1-4 1 incidents of corruption or bribery 95

G1-5 1 political influence and lobbying 95
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ANNEX 3. INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED UNDER OTHER LEGISLATION

INFORTAR GROUP

Disclosure Requirement (EN)

Sustainability

SFDR Regulation
(23 53 66 88 93

Pillar 3 (24 54 67 89 109)

Benchmark
Regulation (25 55

European
Climate Law (26

report page 108 132) reference 110) reference 56) reference
reference

ESRS 2 GO 35 Annex | table 1 Commission
Gender diversity of the indicator no 13 Delegated Regulation
administrative, management and (EV) 2020/1816 (27
supervisory bodies, paragraph 57), Annex Il
21(d)
ESRS 2 GO 35 Delegated Regulation
Percentage of independent (EU) 2020/1816
members of the administrative, Annex I
management and supervisory
bodies, paragraph 21(e)
ESRS 2 GO 36 Annex | table 3

Statement on due diligence,
paragraph 30

indicator no 10

ESRS 2 SBM

Involvement in fossil fuetrelated
activities, paragraph 40(d)(i)

Annex | table 1
indicator no 4

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013
Article 449a;

Commission Implementing
Regulation (EU) 2022/2453
Table 1: Qualitative
information on environmental
risk and Table 2Qualitative
information on social risk

Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1816
Annex Il

ESRS 2 SBM

11001


https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr27_57-E0005
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr27_57-E0005
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr27_57-E0005
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr27_57-E0005

Involvement in chemical
manufacturing activities,
paragraph 40(d)(i)

Annex | table 2
indicator no 9
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Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1816
Annex Il

ESRS 2 SBM

Involvement in controversial
weapons-related activities,
paragraph 40(d)(iii)

Annex | table 1
indicator no 14

Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1818 (29
59) Article 12(1),
Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1816
Annex ||

ESRS 2 SBM

Involvement in tobaccocultivation
and production, paragraph 40(d)(iv]

Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1818
Article 12(1),
Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1816

Annex I

ESRS E1L 32,63 Regulation (EU)
Transition plan for achieving 2021/1119
climate neutrality by 2050, Article 2(1)
paragraph 14
ESRS EAN Article 449a Delegated Regulation
Undertakings excluded from Regulation (EU) No 575/2013; | (EU) 2020/1818
benchmarks aligned with the Paris Commission Implementing Article 12 points (dx
Agreement, paragraph 16(g) Regulation (EU) 2022/2453 | (g) and Article 12(2)

Form 1: Banking book climate

change transition risk: credit

quality of exposures by sector,

emissions and residual

maturity
ESRS E4 40 Article 449a

11011


https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ET/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:L_202490408#ntr29_59-E0007

GHG emission reduction targets,
paragraph 34

Annex | table 2
indicator no 4

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013;
Commission Implementing
Regulation (EU) 2022/2453
Form 3: Banking book climate
change transition risk:
alignment metrics
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Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1818
Article 6

ESRS EbB 66 Annex | table 1
Energy consumption from fossil indicator no 5
fuels, broken down by source (only and table 2
sectors with high climate impact), indicator no 5
paragraph 38
ESRS EbB 66 Annex | table 1
Energy consumption and indicator no 5
breakdown of energy sources,
paragraph 37
ESRS Eb 66 Annex | table 1
Energy intensity related to activities indicator no 6
in sectors with high climate
impact, paragraphs 40r43
ESRS Eb 67 Annex | table 1 | Article 449a; Regulation (EU) |Delegated Regulation
Scope 1, 2 and 3 total emissions indicatorsno 1 | No 575/2013; Commission (EU) 2020/1818,
and GHG total emissions and 2 Implementing Regulation (EU) | Article 5(1), Article 6
paragraph 44 2022/2453 Form 1: Banking |and Article 8(1)
book T climate change
transition risk: credit quality of
exposures by sector,
emissions and residual
maturity
ESRS E®b 67

11021
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paragraphs 5355 Article 449a; Commission
Implementing Regulation (EU) | Delegated Regulation
ﬁlg?fa’i;rtig'esl 2022/2453 Form 3: Banking | (EU) 2020/1818
book T climate change Article 8(1)
transition risk: alignment
metrics
ESRS E/ Regulation (EU)

GHG removals and carbon credits,
paragraph 56

2021/1119
Article 2(1)

ESRS EB

Portfolio exposure to climate-
related physical risks, paragraph
66

DelegatedRegulation
(EU) 2020/1818
Annex Il; Delegated
Regulation (EU)
2020/1816 Annex Il

ESRS ED

Breakdown of monetary amounts
by acute and chronic physical
risks, paragraph 66(a)

ESRS EB

Location of material assets
exposed to significant physical
risks, paragraph 66(c)

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013
Article 449a; Commission
Implementing Regulation (EU)
2022/2453 points 46 and 47,
Form 5: Banking book
physical risk: exposures
subject to physical risk

ESRS ED Real estate distribution
by book value and energy
performance classes, paragraph
67(c)

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013
Article 449a; Commission
Implementing Regulation (EU)
2022/2453 point 34; Form 2:
Banking bookT climate change
transition risk: real estate-
backed loansT energy
performance of collateral
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Portfolio exposure to climate-
related opportunities, paragraph
69

Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2020/1818

Annex Il
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ESRS E2 74 Annex | table 1
Amount of each pollutant listed in indicator no 8;
Annex |l of theE-PRTR Regulation Annex | table 2
released to air, water and soil, indicator no 2;
paragraph 28 Annex | table 2
indicator no 1,
Annex | tables 2
indicator no 3
ESRS E34 75 Annex | table 2
Water and marine resources, indicator no 7
paragraph 9
ESRS E& 75 Annex | table 2
Specific policy, paragraph 13 indicator no 8
ESRS E& 75 Annex | table 2
Sustainable oceans and seas, indicator no 12
paragraph 14
ESRS E3} 75 Annex | table 2
Total amount of water reused and indicator no 6.2
recycled, paragraph 28(c)
ESRS E31 75 Annex | table 2
Total water consumption (m3) indicator no 6.1
relative to net revenue from
operations, paragraph 29
ESRS 2 SBM 3T E4 76 Annex | table 1

Paragraph 16(a)(i)

indicator no 7
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ESRS 2 SBM 3T E4 76 Annex | table 2
Paragraph 16(b) indicator no 10
ESRS 2 SBM 3T E4 76 Annex | table 2
Paragraph 16(c) indicator no 14
ESRS E2 76 Annex | table 2
Sustainable practices or policies indicator no 11
related to land/agriculture,

paragraph 24(b)

ESRS E4 Annex | table 2
Sustainable practices or policies indicator no 12
related to oceans/seas, paragraph

24(c)

ESRS E4 Annex | table 2
Policy related to deforestation, indicator no 15
paragraph 24(d)

ESRS EH 81 Annex | table 2
Non-recycled waste, paragraph indicator no 13
37(d)

ESRS EH® 81 Annex | table 1
Hazardous and radioactive waste, indicator no 9
paragraph 39

ESRS 2SBM3- S1 82 Annex | table 3
Risk of forced labor incidents, indicator no 13
paragraph 14(f)

ESRS 2SBM3- S1 82 Annex | table 3
Risk of child labor incidents, indicator no 12
paragraph 14(g)

ESRS S11 38, 87 Annex | table 3

Human rights-related policy
commitments, paragraph 20

indicator no 9
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ESRS S11 38 Delegated Regulation
Due diligence policy on topics (EV) 2020/1816
covered by ILO core conventions i Annex Il

8, paragraph 21

ESRS Si1 87 Annex | table 3

Processes and measures to indicator no 11

prevent human trafficking,

paragraph 22

ESRS Si1 87 Annex | table 3

Occupational accident prevention indicator no 1

policy or management system,

paragraph 23

ESRS SB 87 Annex | table 3

Grievance mechanisms, paragraph indicator no 5

32(c)

ESRS S114 86 Annex | table 3 Delegated Regulation
Number and rate of fatalities and indicator no 2 (EU) 2020/1816
occupational accidents, paragraph Annex I

88(b)(c)

ESRS S114 86 Annex | table 3

Number of lost days due to
injuries, accidents, fatalities or
illnesses, paragraph 88(e)

indicator no 3
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ESRS S116 86 Annex | table 1 Delegated Regulation
Unadjusted gender pay gap, indicator no 12 (EU) 2020/1816
paragraph 97(a) Annex I
ESRS S$116 86 Annex | table 3
Excessive CEO pay ratio, indicator no 8
paragraph 97(b)
ESRS S117 87 Annex | table 3
Discrimination incidents, indicator no 7
paragraph 103(a)
ESRS S117 Non-compliance with |38 Annex | table 1 Delegated Regulation
UNGPs and OECD Guidelines, indicator no 10 (EV) 2020/1816
paragraph 104(a) and tabeli 3 Annex Il; Delegated
indicator no 14 Regulation (EU)
2020/1818 Article
12(1)
ESRS 2T1SBM3T S2 87 Annex | table 3
Significant risk of child labor or indicators no 12
forced labor in the value chain, and 13
paragraph 11(b)
ESRS S 87 Annex | table 3
Human rights-related policy indicator no 9
commitments, paragraph 17 and tabeli 1
indicator no 11
ESRS SZ Policy related tovalue |87 Annex | table 3
chain workers, paragraph 18 indicators no 11
and 4
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ESRS S2Z. Nonrcompliance with 38 Annex | table 1 Delegated Regulation

UNGPs or OECD Guidelines, indicator no 10 (EV) 2020/1816

paragraph 19 Annex Il; Delegated
Regulation (EU)
2020/1818 Article
12(1)

ESRS S2A 38 Delegated Regulation

Due diligence policy on topics (EU) 2020/1816

covered by ILO core conventions 1 Annex I

8, paragraph 19

ESRS S2& 87 Annex | table 3

Human rights issues and incidents indicator no 14

linked to upstream and

downstream parts of the value

chain, paragraph 36

ESRS S3 38, 87 Annex | table 3

Human rights-related policy indicator no 9

commitments, paragraph 16 and tabeli 1

indicator no 11

ESRS S3a 38 Annex | table 1 Delegated Regulation

Non-compliance with UNGPs, ILO indicator no 10 (EU) 2020/1816

principles and OECDGuidelines, Annex Il; Delegated

paragraph 17 Regulation (EU)
2020/1818 Article
12(1)

ESRS S31 87
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Human rights issues and incidents, Annex | table 3

paragraph 36 indicator no 14

ESRS S41 Policy related to 91 Annex | table 3

consumers and endusers, indicator no 9

paragraph 16 and table 1

indicator no 11

ESRS S4 38 Annex | table 1 Delegated Regulation

Non-compliance with UNGPs and indicator no 10 (EU) 2020/1816

OECD Guidelinesparagraph 17 Annex Il; Delegated
Regulation (EU)
2020/1818 Article
12(1)

ESRS S4 92 Annex | table 3

Human rights issues and incidents, indicator no 14

paragraph 35

ESRS Gi1 38 Annex | table 3

UN Convention against Corruption, indicator no 15

paragraph 10(b)

ESRS Gi1 94 Annex | table 3

Whistleblower protection, indicator no 6

paragraph 10(d)

ESRS G4 93 Annex | table 3 Delegated Regulation

Fines for breaches of anti indicator no 17 (EV) 2020/1816

corruption and anti-bribery laws, Annex I

paragraph 24(a)

ESRS G4 93 Annex | table 3

Standards for anticorruption and indicator no 16

anti-bribery, paragraph 24(b)
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REMUNERATIONREPORT

The Supervisory Board has concluded service agreements with the members of the Management
7Y¢clTowf UWWEMZNAWqs WagYgqedaWl WaeUWl ¢qRYUWGERT WaqVYU
amounted to EUR 0.7 million. The remuneration of Management Board membersdstermined

by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has adopted, and the General Meeting of
Shareholders has approved, the principles for the remuneration of members of the Management

Board of AS Infortar.

The general principles considered important for the londerm development of the Group and
taken into account when determining remuneration are as follows:

Competitiveness

The remuneration of a Management Board member must be competitive, considering the specific
HYGGe U! WeUT W6 W] 1 YeGUWRqWADGYUNt WqYAWq6WWRYGGe U
experience, their responsibilities, and the broader labour market conitions.

Performance orientation

The remuneration of a Management Board member, including the option programme, must
motivate them to achieve results and act in the best interests of the Group. This performance
orientation must be balanced by effective risk management. It is important tensure alignment
between the interests of the Management Board member and those of the Group and its
shareholders.

Long-term perspective and sustainability

AlGaUll ¢qRYUWOG 2t qlWlt 2 -@EnYsustpihbhlé deilopmEre, Gohievehiet OfD
strategic goals, and growth in shareholder value, taking into account environmental and
corporate social responsibility aspects.

x RUf WagVYWqé W] I YeGkt WnRU¢cURReOWHYUTI RqRYU

The total payments made by the Group to a Management Board member must be reasonable in

| Jad¢cqRYUWqYWq6WRI WT 2qRIJF WeUT Wq6éWW] 1 YeGkt WnRU¢UF
deteriorates significantly and the continued payment of agreed remunet#&n or other benefits

would be extremely unfair to the Group, a reduction of such payments and benefits may be
demanded.

Clarity and transparency

The rules for Management Boardemuneration must be clear and transparent, ensuring the
protection of the legitimate interests of the Board members, the Group, investors, and creditors.

When determining base salary, the following are considered:

The required professional experience and qualifications of the Board member;

Their duties and scope of responsibility;

Remuneration levels of Management Board members in other Group companies;
Labour market conditions, including the salaries of Board members in similar sectors.

S S =
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The Supervisory Board has the right to set performancéased pay, which depends on achieving

set goals. In evaluating 2024 performance, the volume of new investments and efforts related to

being a listed company are planned to be taken into account. The targetised to determine

GUIl  nYl Gc¢cURDWGE! Wade¢! WAVWRUT R2RT 2c¢ WY W J0¢ qldWa Y Wa
remuneration principles, Board members are also entitled to severance payments and a share

option programme.

The following table provides an overview of the gross remuneration of the Management Board and
Supervisory Board members of the Infortar Group, excluding social tax expenses.

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Enn Pant 140000 94000 84000 54000 24000
Toivo Ninnas 84000 54000 48000 31800 15600
Kalev Jarvelill 84000 54000 48000 31800 15600
Mare Puusaag 84000 32477 - - -
Ain Hanschmidt 455000 815000 975000 525000 325000
base salary 455000 380000 300000 300000 300000

performance-based pay - 435000 675000 225000 25000

Eve Pant 240000 420000 470000 220000 120000
base salary 240000 220000 160000 120000 120000

performance-based pay - 200000 310000 100000 -

The following table provides an overview of the share options granted to the members of the
Supervisory Board and Management Board of the Infortar Group as of 31 December 2024:

Name Stock options Exercised

Enn Pant 42 900 18 900
Toivo Ninnas 42 900 18 900
Kalev Jarvelill 42 900 18 900
Mare Puusaag 6 000 0
Ain Hanschmidt 42 900 18 900
Eve Pant 42 900 18 900

Infortar owns 722,610own shares (as of 31 December 2023, it was 945,000), which represents
3.4% of the share capitalOwn shares have been acquired for the purpose of the option program
and do not grant shareholder or voting rights to the members of the Management Board or

Supervisory Board.

The General Meeting votes on the principles of remuneration at least once every four years. Any
significant amendments to the remuneration principles must be submitted to the General

Meeting for approval each time. The Supervisory Board reviews the remuagon principles as

gusudtt el ! WqYWIUOt el DWaqd6 DRI Wt 2Rag¢cHRGRq! AW WGW2¢ UH
business and risk strategy, and to ensure that the principles align with changes in the internal and

external environment.

INFORTAR
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INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
APPROVAL OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

APPROVAL OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD OF THE
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT

We hereby accept responsibility for thepreparation of consolidated annual report of Infortar AS

bthGel DO0qUWeYGGeU! k WRUWq6JWHYUY YORT ¢qT WeUUe¢ bWl UC
the consolidated annual report, which consists of the management report, sustainability report,
consolidated financial statements, remuneration report, and the board's confirmation of the

report).

The management board confirms the following:

n the consolidated sustainability report is following international sustainability reporting
standards as adopted by the European Union;

n the consolidated annual report has been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union;

n the consolidated annual report reflects the financial position, economic results, and cash
flows of the group and the parent company correctly and fairly;

n Infortar AS and its subsidiaries continue to operate at least for the year following the year of
approving this consolidated annual report.

Ain Hanschmidt

Chairman of the Management Board

s Aoy

Eve Pant

Member of the Management Board

D Ko
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CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Consolidated statement of Financial Position

Notes on pagesl20-179are integral part of the annual accounts.

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 167 579 87 115 6.1
Short-term derivatives 8 333 28 728 14.4
Settled derivative receivables 676 5958 7.1
Other prepayments and receivables 155 351 162 575 7.1
Prepaid taxes 3831 925 7.1
Trade and other receivables 38517 20185 7.1
Prepayments for inventories 2 498 3493 7.7
Inventories 215914 146 884 6.2
Biological assets 941 0
Total current assets 593 640 455 863
Non-current assets
Investments to associates 16 603 346 014 9.2
Long-term derivative instruments 3214 1125 14.4
Long-term loans and other receivables 35163 9072 7.1
Investment property 67 931 176 024 8.1
Property, plant and equipment 1909 458 446 748 8.2
Intangible assets 38 874 14 366 8.3
Right-of-use assets 47 598 11 300 8.5
Biological assets 2753 0
Total non-current assets 2121594 1004 649
TOTAL ASSETS 2715234 1460512
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Liabilities and Equity

Notes on pagesl20-179 are integral part of the annual accounts.

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE

Current liabilities

Loan liabilities 497 162 184 259 10.1

Rental liabilities 9020 1766 8.4

Payables to suppliers 87 941 74 751 7.3

Tax obligations 49 354 32822 7.3

Buyers' advances 31126 3099 7.3

Settled derivatives 8728 1463 7.3

Other current liabilities 63 431 10 851 7.3

Short term derivatives 27704 3659

Total current liabilities 774 466 312 670

Non-current liabilities

Long-term provisions 9 946 8 399

Deferred taxes 2816 33233 7.3

Other long-term liabilities 43 209 30679 7.3

Long-term derivatives 1471 186

Loan-liabilities 676 670 246 410 10.1

Rental liabilities 40 435 8725 8.4

Total non-current liabilities 774 547 327 632

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1549013 640 302

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE

Equity

Share capital 2117 2105 11.1

Own shares -72 -95 11.2

Share premium 32484 29 344 11.1

Reserve capital 212 205

Option reserve 6 223 3864 11.6

Hedging reserve* -21 674 24118 115

Unrealised exchange rate differences 45 -39

Post-employment benefit obligation reserve -185 -44

Retained earnings from previous periods 890 167 759918

Total equity attributable to equity holders of 909 317 819 376

the Parent

Minority interests 256 904 834

Total equity 1166 221 820 210

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2715234 1460512
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Consolidated Income Statement of Comprehensive
Income

Notes on pagesl20-179are integral part of the annual accounts.

12 months 12 months

(in thousands of EUR) 2024 2023 NOTE
Revenue 1371775 1084626 12
Cost of goods (goods and services) sold -1243034 934811 13.1
Write-down of receivables -113 -342  13.1
Gross profit 128 628 149 473
Marketing expenses -21 086 -1620 13.2
General administrative expenses -50 438 -22 085 13.3
Profit (loss) from biological assets -139 0

Profit (loss) from the change in the fair value of the -949 -4 074 8.1
investment property

Profit (loss) from changes in the fair value of fixed assets -8 691

Unsettled gain/loss on derivative financial instruments 26 672 1969 9.1
Other operating revenue 4682 2523 7.6
Other operating expenses -1 655 -2 558
Operating profit 77 024 123 628

Profit (loss) from investments accounted for by equity 22974 39639 9.2
method

Financial income and expenses 13 392 0

Other financial investments -50 -4
Interest expense -38 274 -22573 10.3
Interest income 4979 2 765

Profit (loss) from changes in exchange rates 100 -173

Gain from bargain purchase 93 659 159158 9.1.2
Total financial income and expenses 73 806 139 173

Profit before tax 173 804 302 440
Corporate income tax 19 866 -8 610 7.5
Profit for the financial year 193 670 293 830
including:

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent company 191 253 293778

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest 2417 52

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation of post-employment benefit obligations -141 -44

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the income

statement:

Revaluation of risk hedging instruments -45 792 -58 189
Exchange rate differences attributable to foreign 53 -42
subsidiaries

Total of other comprehensive income -45 880 -58 275

Total income 147 790 235 555
including:

Comprehensive profit attributable to the owners of the 145514 235503

parent company

Comprehensive profit attributable to non-controlling 2417 52
interest

Ordinary earnings per share (in euros per share) 9,36 1462 11.8
Diluted earnings per share (in euros per share) 9,12 14,15 11.8
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes on pagesl20-179 are integral part of the annual accounts.

Cash flows from operating activities
12 months 12 months

(in thousands of EUR) 2024 2023 NOTE
Profit for the financial year 193670 293 830
Adjustments:
Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of non- 68 251 19 655 8.1,8.2
current assets
Change in the fair value of the investment property -22 974 -39 639 9.2
Change in the value of derivatives -1 483 54122 144
Other financial income/expenses -112 030 -161 965
Calculated interest expenses 38 274 22573 10.3
Profit/loss from non-current assets sold -955 -91 0
Income from grants recognised as revenue -643 784 7.6
Corporate income tax expense -19 866 8 610 7.5
Income tax paid -10 551 -267
Change in receivables and prepayments related to 52 023 54 540 7.5
operating activities
Change in inventories -12 831 -61 914 7.1
Change in payables and prepayments relating to -81 275 -406 6.2
operating activities
Change in biological assets -322 0 7.3
Total cash flows from operating activities 89 288 189 832
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of associates 0 -10 314
Purchases of subsidiaries -111 684 -103 414
Received dividends 20 862 0 9
Given loans 1918 6 652
Interest gain 4 953 2691 151
Purchases Investment property -10 352 -18 304
Purchases of property, plant and equipment -27 835 -18 143
Proceeds from sale of property 1561 -252
Total cash flows used in investing activities -120 577 -141 084
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Notes on pagesl20-179 are integral part of the annual accounts.

12 months 12 months

Cash flows used in financing activities 2024 2023 NOTE
Proceeds from targeted financing 225 0 7.6
Changes in overdraft 12 863 14348 104
Proceeds from borrowings 358 731 287 606 10.4
Repayments of borrowings -151 790 -312846 104
Repayment of finance lease liabilities -11 300 -2233 104
Interest paid -39 153 -22 224  10.3
Dividends paid -60 997 -15 750
Gain from share emission 3174 29 464
Total cash flows used in financing activities 111 753 -21 635
TOTAL NET CASH FLOW 80 464 27 113
Cash at the beginning of the year 87 115 60 002 6.1
Cash at the end of the period 167 579 87 115 6.1
Net (decrease)/increase in cash 80 464 27 113
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Consolidated Statement of changes in equity

Notes on pagesl118-178 are integral part of the annual accounts.

INFORTAR GROUP

CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

. Post
Unrealised
Share  Share Own Option  Reserve Risk hedging currency emé)loyrpent Retained  Minority Total
capital premium shares reserve capital reserve  transiation oblizgfi(;tns earnings  interest ota

(in thousands of EUR) differences reserve

Balance as at 31.12.24 1985 0 -95 1650 205 82 307 3 0 481890 732 568677
Share capital expansion 120 29 344 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 464
Stock options 0 0 0 2214 0 0 0 0 0 0 2214
Change in minority shareholding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50
Profit for the financial year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 293778 52 293830
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 -58 189 -42 -44 0 0 -58275
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -15 750 0 -15750
Balance as at 31.12.23 2105 29344 -95 3864 205 24118 -39 44 759918 834 820210
Share capital expansion 12 3 140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3152
Increase of mandatory reserve 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 -7 0 0
capital

Stock options 0 0 23 2 359 0 0 0 0 0 2 382
Change in minority shareholding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 253685 253685
Profit for the financial year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 191 253 2417 193670
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 -45 792 84 -141 0 -32  -45881
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -60 997 0 -60997
Balance as at 31.12.24 2117 32484 -72 6 223 212 -21 674 45 -185 890167 256904 1166 221

Additional information on changes in equity is provided in Note 1(p. 153)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE1L. BASIS OFPREPARATION

EWf UnYl qc¢cl Wot6 31 WRUEn Il Whf UnYl q¢l kWYl WhGel WUqlL
Republic of Estonia on 9 April 1997. The registered office of the parent company is located at
Liivalaia 9, Tallinn, 10118, the Republic of Estonia. The consolitkl annual accounts of AS
Infortar comprise the parent company and its 25 subsidiaries and their 75 subsidiaries
b6 WRUE N qUI Waé WWh NI Ye Gk b KohANtién&ttHisportatias IBRergidland R U G ! WY
real estate sectors andfields that support these sectors. The notes to the accounts disclose
detailed information on the subsidiaries. The annual accounts presented in this report have been
prepared pursuant to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted thg
European Union. The accounting and reporting principles described herein have been
consistently applied to all periods included in the report. The consolidated annual accounts were
approved by the management of the group on 25 April 2025. In accordamwith the Commercial
Code of the Republic of Estonia, the annual report must also be approved by the supervisory
board of the group and the general meeting of the shareholders.

Going concern

At the time of the approval of the financial statements, the management board has a justified
expectation that the group has sufficient resources for continuing its operations in the near
future. Therefore, the management board will continue to prepare anral reports based on the
going concern assumption.

NOTEZ2. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NEW AND UPDATED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)

Changes in Accounting Policies

Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out
in Note 3 to all periods presented in these financial statements.

The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including
any consequential amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January
2024.

CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group applied the following amendments to standards initially on 1 January 2024.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Ne@urrent Liabilities with
Covenants

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Early application is permitted. Specific transition requirements apply for
companies that have early adopted the previously issued but not yet effecti@20 amendments.
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Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when they do not have

an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The
amendments, as issued in 2020, have removed the requiremenor a right to be unconditional

and instead require that a right to defer settlement must exist at the reporting date and have

t e Ht qc URVW bl W HOGECt t RnRACqRYUW YnW G REHRIORQRIJY W F
expectations about whether the company wi exercise its right to defer settlement or will choose

to settle early). The amendments, as issued in 2022, further clarify that when the right to defer

settlement is subject to a company complying with conditions (covenants) specified in a loan
arrangement, only covenants with which the company must comply on or before the reporting

date affect the classification of a liability as current or norcurrent. Covenants with which the
HYOGGeU! Waet quWAYAGGT! WEnaldl Wad IJWI 1IsSificationRtthatidiatec a 1J WT Y LU
However, the amendments require companies to disclose information about these future

covenants to help users understand the risk that those liabilities could become repayable within

12 months after the reporting date. The amendmets also clarify how a company classifies a

liability that can be settled in its own shares (e.g. convertible debt).

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024; to be applied retrospectively to
the date when the entity initially applied IFRS 16. Early application is permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases impact how a selldgssee accounts for variable lease payments
that arise in a saleand-leaseback transaction. The amendments introduce a new accounting
model for variable payments. The amendments confirm the following:

91 On initial recognition, the sellerlessee includes variable lease payments when it measures
a lease liability arising from a saleand-leaseback transaction.

9 After initial recognition, the sellerlessee applies the general requirements for subsequent
accounting of the lease liability such that it recognises no gain or loss relating to the right of
use it retains. A sellerlessee may adopt different approaches hat satisfy the new
requirements on subsequent measurement.

N6 WwWe aWUT al0qt wéel WUOYWEeqW!l ReEGWRAGeHqWYUWaq6 W] |
applied.

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED
STANDARDS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale @ontribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

Effective date deferred indefinitely. Available for optional adoption in full IFRS financial
statements. The European Commission decided to defer the endorsement indefinitely, it is
unlikely that it will be endorsed by the EU in the foreseeable future.

1 The amendments clarify that in a transaction involving an associate or joint venture, the
extent of gain or loss recognition depends on whether the assets sold or contributed
constitute a business, such that:a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction between
an investor and its associate or joint venture involves the transfer of an asset or assets which
constitute a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not), while
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9 apartial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction between an investor and its associate
or joint venture involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are

housed in a subsidiary.

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements
when initially applied.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax Refomfrillar Two Model Rules

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes, which provides temporary

relief from the requirement to recognise and disclose deferred taxes arising the Pillar Two model

rules. The relief is effective immediately upon issuance of the amemdents on 23 May 2023 and

applies retrospectively. Disclosure requirements, other than those about the relief, apply from 31

December 2023. No disclosures are required in interim periods ending on or before 31 December

2023.

hARGGE! WNs YWqce Wt kWel JWae+13+ Wel R RUNDWNI Y Wa ¢ # WD
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Gaperation and
Development. The Pillar Two model rules aim to ensure that large multitianal groups pay taxes

at least at the minimum rate of 15 percent on income arising in each jurisdiction in which they

operate by applying a system of topup taxes. There are three active mechanisms under Pillar Two

model rules that countries can adopt: he income inclusion rule, the undertaxed payment rule

and a qualified domestic minimumtope Glg ¢ # FOWNG 1! We 1 WY naqdow JInidl | J71
2 Glq ¢ # & BV ldI 1 ¢f YOG

NSWJWwWeaWOT a0t WeT T 1 JHE W gqet B6Yal It xkwWH#HYURW O We
the new top-up tax under IFRSs by

9 providing entities with a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for tepp
tax; and
9 requiring entities to provide new disclosures in relation to the toqup tax and the relief.

The Group will apply the amendments once the respective tax law is enacted.

The Group expects that the amendments, when initially applied, will not have a material impact
on its financial statements as Pillar Two rules include an exclusion for relevant shipping income.

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of
exchangeability

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier application is
permitted.

Under IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, a company uses a spot exchange
rate when translating a foreign currency transaction. In some jurisdictions, no spot rate is
available because a currency cannot be exchanged into another curregclAS 21 was amended

to clarify:

1 when a currency is exchangeable into another currency; and
1 how a company estimates a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability.

The amendments also include additional disclosure requirements to help users to assess the
impact of using an estimated exchange rate on the financial statements.
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The Group plans to apply the amendments from 1 January 2025.

The Group does not expect theamendments to have a material impact on its financial statements
when initially applied.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify when a financial asset or a financial liability is

recognised and derecognised.

The Group plans to apply the amendments from 1 January 2026.

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements
when initially applied.

Annual Improvements to IFRS StandardsVolume 11
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Earlier application is
permitted.

In this volume of improvements, the IASB makes minor amendments to IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and to a further four accounting standards. The amendments to IFRS 9 address:

M a conflict between IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers over the
initial measurement of trade receivables; and
1 how a lessee accounts for the derecognition of a lease liability under paragraph 23 of IFRS 9.

The Group plans to apply the amendments from 1 January 2026.

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements
when initially applied.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. Earlier application is
permitted.

Under IFRS 18, companies are no longer permitted to disclose operating expenses only in the
UYqt oW weYGGeUO! WGl 3t WU0qt WYGW!l ¢ qRUNWI+FGIUUOL 3t WRU W
tedGcl ' kWY NnWRat WI+FGUUL It WAH! WIRq6 I all

1 nature;
9 function; or
1 using a mixed presentation.

If any operating expenses are presented by function, then new disclosures apply.
The Group plans to apply the new standards from 1 January 2027.

Other changes
Other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective are
UYqWU+GUHqUT WaVYWse2We Wt RDURNRACUqUWRAGe ALY UlLlgd L

INFORTAR 11231



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with thinternational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, and the Accounting Act
of the Republic of Estonia.

3.2. Basis of preparation

The cost method was used for preparing the consolidated annual accounts, except in the case of
the following items in the statement of financial position:

vessels, which are measured at revalued amounts;
financial instruments T pursuant to subsection 3.8
investment property T pursuant to subsection 3.7
buildings that are measured at revalued amounts
affiliated undertakings 1 pursuant to principles on 3.4

S = 5 X

3.3. Functional currency and presentation currency

The presentation currency of the consolidated annual accounts is the euro, which is also the
functional currency of the parent company and itssubsidiaries. The numeric indicators in main
statements and notes are presented in thousands of euros rounded to the nearest thousand
(unless stated otherwise).

3.4. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual accounts present the financial indicators of the parent company and its
subsidiaries, consolidated line by line.

3.5. Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, which consists of acquisition, manufacturing, and
other costs that are required for bringing the inventories to the current location and condition.
Purchasing costs of the inventories include, in addition to tB purchase price, any customs

duties, other non-refundable payments,and transportation costs which are related to purchasing
the inventories, with any discounts or subsidies deducted.The cost of inventories is based on
FIFO or the weighted average pringie. For same type ofssets, the similar methodology is used.

3.6. Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and Measurement

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are recorded at acquisition cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Land is recorded at its actual acquisition cost and is not
depreciated. If an item of PPE comprises parts with different usefuiMes, they are recognized as

FUGel cqlWet t Uat Weit RDURNRACUqWHYGGYUWUqt b IOWECE HE LW
individually based on its estimated useful life.

Construction in progress reflects actual expenditures for assets being constructed for internal
use. If bringing an asset to its intended use takes a significant amount of time and is financed by
a loan (or another debt instrument), the directly attributalle borrowing costs (including interest
calculated using the effective interest rate method) must be capitalized into the acquisition cost
of the asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs begins when such costs are incurred (the loan is
issued) and construction has commenced, and ends when the asset is substantially complete
and ready for its intended use by the entity.
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The cost of selfconstructed assets is determined based on the same principles as for acquired
assets. Construction in progress is recognized as fixed assets based on an acceptance certificate
qé6caqWl InRUOUY WaqdldWet t gkt We t diatheriouidach ¢cds@late ladl 1J1 ¢ T L ¢
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment. The acquisition cost of assets received
q6l Yenswny2Wl 0aWlUqwnN!l ¢Uqt WRt WT Wgql GRUVDT WRUW ¢ At
accounting policy. Land and buildings are cargd in the balance sheet at revalued amounts, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
ROGERI GUWUqWaGYHt D WOW[ ¢RI W2¢de DWRY WT Wl GRUJT WHAHE
Revaluations are performedat each reporting period to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from the fair value. Increases in value resulting from revaluation are recognized
in equity under the revaluation reserve, except to the extent that they reverse a piews
revaluation decrease of the same asset recognized in profit or loss. Decreases in value are
recognized as an expense, except to the extent that they reverse a previous upward revaluation
recorded in equity.

Subsequent Expenditures

Depreciation is calculated using the straightline method, allocating the acquisition cost of the
asset, net of its residual value, over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is recognized in the
income statement.

The useful life of property, plant, and equipment by asset groups:
nHiiildings in use 25% per year;

mWae s RO Wea0%dper yeR GG 13U q WY

n W2 13t 6% ikt yHAE:
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Tallink's vessels are measured at revalued amounts, with fair valugetermined at the end of the

reporting period. Tallink used assessments from three independent appraisers to determine the

fair value of the vessels. The fair value was based on markkased inputs, which are primarily
unobservable. Where necessary, Tallin K WG ¢ U¢ NG UqWe at YWY UL RT I+ WI:
chartered vessels. The frequency of revaluations depends on changes in fair value, which are

assessed at the end of each year. If the fair value differs significantly from the carrying amount, a

revaluc qRYUWRY WGl nYIl GUT tOWNc G aRUt kt WaecUenNWGWUqWAG
were no material differences between the carrying amount and fair value of the vessels (similarly

as of 31 December 2023).

3.7. Investment property

An investment property is a property asset (land or a buildingr part of a building or both) held
primarily to earn rental income, for capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Investment property is inially recognized in the balance sheet at its
acquisition cost, which includes the purchase price and any directly attributable transaction
costs. If the fair value of arinvestment property can be reliably measured without undue cost or
effort, it is subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value is determined annually based on
market prices established by independent property valuers, recent transaction prices invoiwg
similar properties (adjusted for differences), or using the discounted cash flow method.
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Investment properties for which fair value cannot be reliably measured without undue cost or
effort are carried at cost, similar to property, plant, and equipment, until fair value becomes
reliably measurable. Construction projects in progress are measuredt acquisition cost.

Under the fair value model, investment properties are measured at fair value at each reporting
date. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement
2UT I We Wt WGl ¢cqlWia RUNWRq G a Lvakje offmvdstmentypropestiedn |
No depreciation is charged on investment properties measured using the fair value model. When
the purpose of use of an investment property changes, the asset is reclassified in the statement
of financial position, and fromthe date of the change, the accounting policies applicable to the
new asset class are applied.

3.8. Financial instruments

The group holds derivative instruments to hedge its natural gas and electricity price risk
exposures. Derivatives are measured at fair value both initially and subsequent to initial
recognition. The group designates most of the derivatives as hedging instnents to
hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast transactions
arising from changes in the commodity prices. At the inception of designated hedging
relationships, the group documents the risk management objective and sategy for
undertaking the hedge. The group also documents the economic relationship between
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the changes in cash flows
of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each otheWhen a
derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised under other comprehensive
income (OCI) and accumulated in the hedging reserve. The effective portion dfanges

in the fair value of the derivative that is recognised in OCI is limited to the cumulative
change in fair value of the hedged item, determined on a present value basis, from the
inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in the faialue of the derivative
is recognised immediately in the income statement. The amount accumulated in the
hedging reserve is reclassified to the income statement or in the cost of inventories in the
same period or periods during whichthe hedged expected @iture cash flows affect the
profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting
or the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated, or is exercised, then hedge
accounting is discontinued prospectively. When helge accounting for cash flow hedging
instruments is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in the hedging
reserve remains in equity until it is reclassified to the incomeAdditional information
regarding hedging reserve, note 11.& 155).

3.9. Recognition of revenue and other income

Revenue Recognition

YO WH
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Revenue is recognized at thd@ransaction price. The transaction price is the total amount the
Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
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The Group recognizes revenue when control of the goods or services is transferred to the

customer. Revenue is recognized in an amount that excludes valugdded tax (VAT) and various

excise duties applicable to the Group.

Revenue recognition principles for the maritime transportation segment

Revenue in the maritime transportation segment is recognized based on the consideration
specified in the customer contract. Revenue is recognized when control over the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. The following specific criteria mustlao be met:

Sale of goodsr includes sales on board ships and in onshore restaurants and shops. Revenue is
recognized when goods are delivered and accepted by customers at their locatigntypically
retail shops, bars, and restauranty and usually paid for in cash or byard.

Ticket and cargo transport sales revenue from the sale of passenger tickets and cargo transport
services is recognized upon rendering of the service. At yeand, revenue related to tickets and
transport services for departures not yet taken place is remrded as deferred revenue.

Hotel accommodation sales T revenue is recognized when guests have used the hotel rooms. At
year-end, any sales related to unused accommodations are recognized as deferred revenue.

Travel package sales consist of ferry tickets, hotel accommodation (operated by third parties),
and excursions in various cities not organized by the maritime transportation segment. The total
consideration from package sales is recognized as revenue, hgust the agency commission for
accommodation, excursions, or entertainment, as the Group has discretion over the content and
pricing of the package and selects service providers at its own discretion. Revenue from travel
packages is recognized when the ustomer uses the package. It is reported under ticket revenue.

Charter incomeT charter income under operating lease arrangements is recognized on a straight
line basis over the charter period. The term "charter" refers to rental arrangements as defined by
IFRS 16.

Customer loyaltyprogramT Tallink allocates a portion of the transaction price to Club One loyalty
points, based on their relative standalone selling prices. The amount allocated to the loyalty
program is recognized as deferred revenue and recognized as revenue when lingalty points are
redeemed or when redemption is no longer expected. Deferred revenue is recognized as a
contractual liability.

Revenue Recognition Principles for the Energy Business Segment
Sale of natural gas, electricity, and network services

Revenue from the sale of natural gas and electricity is recognized on a gross basis, as the Group

is responsible for fulfilling the promise of delivery, bears inventory risk, and has pricing discretion.

Revenue is based on quantities determined by meter aeslings or agreedjuantities. Thequantities

2UT W1 0! RUDWq6 W ¢ lWYnwUecqel ¢cawnet weUl WYIaWHql RA
exchange platform. Quantities related to the sale of natural gas network services are measured

by the network operator using metering data, forecast, or, in exceptional cases, agreements

based on mutually accepted quantity protocols. Where relevant, the Group also takes into

account unreported, late-reported, or estimated misreported readings as of the reporting period

end, to ensure revenue more acarately reflects actual consumption.
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Revenue from network services is based on the volume of natural gas delivered through the
distribution network. In accordance with regulations in Estonia and Latvia, the network operator
must submit the prices and pricing methodology for network servicesa regulators for approval
and justify the price structure. The network operator must publicly disclose the approved network
service prices for its service area and inform customers under the terms set by applicable
legislation. Revenue from the sale of natral gas, electricity, and network services is generally
recognized over time, except when natural gas is sold from storage. In such cases, revenue is
recognized at the point in time when ownership is transferred. Payment terms are shetgrm.

For certain products (such as compressed gas and renewable gas), customer cards are offered
that provide discounts. Revenue is recognized when the goods are transferred to the customer.
Payment terms are shoriterm.

Connection Fees

Customers pay a connection fee when connecting to the gas network, which is determined based
on the costs incurred to establish the connection. The portion of the performance obligation
related to activities required to establish the connection is consideed fulfilled over the period
during which network services are provided through the connection point using the fixed asset
acquired with the connection fee. This period is considered to be either the weighted average
useful life of the fixed asset acquiredwith the connection fee or the estimated duration of the
customer relationship. The weighted average useful life is calculated by dividing the average
annual acquisition cost of fixed assets by the annual depreciation charge. Connection fees are
recognized as revenue over a period of up to 67 years. At AS Gaasivork, the amortization period
for connection fees is up to 30 years (2023: 30 years), at AS Gaso it is 55 years (2023: 20 years),
and in the EWE Polska Group it is 67 years. Connection fees not yetagnized as revenue are
reported in the statement of financial position as longterm contract liabilities.

Revenue recognition principles for the real estate business segment

Revenue includes income earned during the reporting period, including sales revenue, rental

income, and other income related to the real estate segment such as rental and development

YnWAz2 RGT RUNt We UT WG WHE!I RAR! W &al WY W6 JWNI RT Wn

Operating lease income from investment properties is recognized on a straighine basis over the
lease term. Foreign exchange gains or losses are reported on a net basis. Interest income and
dividend income are recognized when it is probable that the ingoe will be received and the
amount can be measured reliably. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate
method, unless the receipt of interest is uncertain, in which case it is recognized on a cash basis.
Dividend income is recognizedvhen the legal right to receive the dividend has been established.

Revenue recognition principles for supporting business areas

Revenue is recognized from the sale of goods (including mineral resources, construction
materials, printed products, and retail and wholesale trade) when the performance obligation is
fulfilledy i.e., when the goods are transferred to the customer.

Operating lease income from investment properties is recognized on a straighine basis over the
lease term.
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Revenue from construction contracts is recognized over time using the codiased input method.
Costs related to the performance of the service are recognized in profit or loss when incurred.
Advance payments received are recorded as contract liabilities. He duration of contracts
depends on the object being constructed and may exceed one year.

3.10. Taxation

According to the Estonian Income Tax Act, the profit earned by companies registered in Estonia
is not subject to corporate income tax. Instead, income tax is charged on dividends, fringe
benefits, gifts, donations, entertainment expenses, norbusiness-related disbursements, and
transfer pricing adjustments.

In 2024, the income tax rate was 20% (calculated as 20/80 of the net distribution), and a reduced
rate of 14% (14/86 of the net dividend) applied to regularly paid dividends. As of 1 January 2025,
the tax rate will increase to 22% (22/78 of the net distriliion), and the previously applicable
reduced rate of 14% for regular dividends will be abolished.

Personal Income Tax on Dividends and Security Tax

Dividends paid to individuals that werepreviously subject to the reduced 14% tax rate remain
subject to an additional 7% personal income tax withholding.

Income tax related to dividend distributions is recognized as an income tax expense in the period
in which the dividends are declared. The maximum potential income tax liability, which could
arise if the entire undistributed profit were paid out as divideds, is disclosed in Note 11.3.

In addition, a temporary security tax has been introduced in Estonia, consisting of the following
components:

The standard VAT rate will increase from 22% to 24% as of 1 July 2025.
An additional 2% tax will apply to the taxable income of individuals starting in 2026.

A 2% tax on corporate profits will be introduced in 2026. Companies will be required to make
¢l 2¢URIWGE! GWUqt WAHeH VT WYUWq6WWGI J2RYet WnRUcCUARR
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The aim of the security tax is to fund national defense expenditures and investments related to
national security.

Income Tax Accounting

In accordance with paragraph 39 of IAS 12, the Group recognizes deferred tax liabilities for all
taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint
ventures, and branches, unless both of the following conditions are t:

a) the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and
b) it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
If both criteria (a) and (b) are fulfilled, no deferred tax liabilitg irecognized.

N6 WIW] I YeGkt WaGeUecnNUaGWUqWset W W2RIsJIT WRU21I3t qalUqt L
temporary taxable differences exist, both conditions are met and therefore no deferred tax
liability arises.
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Applicable Corporate Income Tax Rates as at 31 December 2024:
Estonia: 20/80 on distributed profits
Finland: 20%
Latvia: 20% on distributed profits (effective rate 25% on gross profits)
Poland: 19%

Income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which
the Group operates.

3.11. Segment reporting

IFRS 8 Operating Segments establishes segment reports that must be submitted on the segments
of business activities, the results of which are constantly monitored by the management of the
parent company when making decisions on business activities. The maibasis of segmentation

is business activity. Operational segments are parts of the business activity of an economic
entity, for which separate financial information can be obtained to make decisions on the
resources allocated to the segment and to assessts performance. The main criteria for
monitoring operational segments are: external sales revenue, EBITDA, assets and liabilities, and
investments.

3.12. Events following the reporting period

The consolidated annual report reflects any significant circumstances which have an impact on
the assessment of the assets and liabilities and which arose within the period between the end
date of the reporting period and the date on which the report wasrdwn up by the management,
and which involve transactions which occurred during the reporting period or in previous periods.
Events following the reporting period which do not impact the assessment of assets and liabilities
but have a significant effect onthe financial results of subsequent financial years are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4. THEMOST IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
MANAGEMENT DECISIONS WITH BIGGEST IMPACT

fUWcHAYI T ¢cURVDWs RS Waqé UMW | YeGkt WeHAY2 UqRUNWGY O RAR
to make judgments and use estimates and assumptions concerning the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities where sufficient information is not available fromother sources. These

estimates and judgments are based on historical experience and other relevant factors deemed
appropriate. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes @&counting estimates are recognized

in the period in which the change occurs.

N6WJWnYdaYsRUNDWE!I DWagdJWt RDURNRHCUqWTel NG Uqt WGc¢
accounting policies that have the most significant impact on the information presented in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Measurement of fair value
Several accounting policies and disclosure requirements of the company prescribe the
measurement of fair value. Fair value is the amount that could be earned when selling an asset
or transferring a liability from one market participant to another in the carse of a normal
transaction on the measuring date. When measuring fair value, it is presumed that the
transaction of the sale of an asset or transfer of a liability takes place: either on the main market
of the asset or liability; or in the absence of thenain market, on the market that is most beneficial
for the asset or liability. The company must have access to the main or beneficial market on the
measuring date. Measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability is based on the assumptions
which market participants would use for determining the price of the asset or liability, presuming
that the market participants act in their best economic interests. Measuring the fair value of non
financial assets is based on the capability of the market participargt to create economic benefits
by using the assets in the best manner or selling them to market participants who would use them
in the best manner.

The company uses assessment methods which are suitable in a particular situation and for which
it has a sufficient amount of data necessary for measuring fair value, by relying on appropriate
observable inputs to the maximum extent and norobservable inputs as little as possible, which
are relevant for the entire measurement process:

n levely quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for assets or liabilities;

n levely measurement methods where the input for the lowest level that is relevant for the
entire measurement process can be directly or indirectlyobserved;

n levely measurement methods where the input for the lowest level that is relevant for the
entire measurement process is honobservable.

Fair value measurement is applied across all four business segments of the Groyp maritime
transport, energy, real estate, and supporting business areas. Independent appraisers are used
to determine fair value.

Useful life of Property, Plant and Equipment

When estimating the useful lives of property, plant and equipment (PPE), the Group considers the

operating conditions and scale of business, past experience in the relevant field, and future

GuacUt oINS Wet Wne Wi RNIJWRY WHCE t pafiodldutingrhictitberasdeét 1D U g k + L
will actually be used. The actual useful life may turn out to be somewhat longer or shorter than

the estimated life. Additional information on the useful lives of PPE assets is provided in Note 3.6

(p. 124).

4.2. Management decisions with the biggest impact

Classification of Property

The classification of a property asset as either investment property or property, plant and

e RGANWUqWuAAESL WRY WHet BT WYOWaGeUeNWaGWUqkt WRUqqUWUqR
earn rental income or for capital appreciation are recognized as i@stment property. This also

includes properties intended to be held for the long term and that have multiple potential uses.

Properties are classified as PPE if they are intended to be used for the provision of services or for
administrative purposes for a period longer than one year.
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Recognition of Connection Fees
N6IW] I YeGkt W eAt RTRe!l ! AWEGUUNUI W] 1 YeGAWG!I Y2RIT 13t |
gas in exchange for a connection fee to the gas network. In accordance with IFRS 15, the portion
of the performance obligation that involves the activities necessar to establish the connection
is considered fulfilled over the period during which network services are provided through the
connection point using the fixed asset acquired with the connection fee.

N6 Rt WGWI RYT WRt AWRUWGcUecNUIGUUqkt WTal NGNWUqAWNue R2 «
asset acquired with the connection fee, as future reconstructions of the asset will be financed

through network service charges. The weighted average usefulelifs calculated by dividing the

average annual acquisition cost of the assets by the annual depreciation charge.

4.3. Uncertainties of assumptions and estimations

Management makes its judgements based oexperience and information available as of the date
of the completion of the annual report. As a result, there is a risk that estimates related to the
assets and liabilities, and the income and expenses recognized as of the reporting date, may
require adjustment in the future. The following assumptions and sources of estimation
uncertainty involve a significant risk of material adjustment within the next financial year:

In the maritime transportation segment, key assumptions and uncertainties relate to the
potential difference between the fair value and carrying amount of vessels, which may require
revaluation. Uncertainties may also arise in assessing the impairment oight-of-use assets such
as buildings and premises, and in estimating the useful lives of tangible and intangible assets.
The value of goodwill in the maritime segment is reviewed for impairment at least twice a year. In
addition, management assesses the reognition of deferred tax assets related to unused tax
losses. In the energy segment, significant assumptions and uncertainties are associated with
determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, and with the recognition of
provisions and contingent liabilities for potential future losses.

In the real estate segment, the fair value of properties depends on various factors, including rental

yield and discount rates. The Group uses independent appraisers to determine fair value.
Revaluation depends on changes in the fair value of the properself the fair value of a property

differs significantly from its carrying amount, revaluation is required. Revaluation gains or losses

Cl UWGH Wt W0qUT WRUWg6 WWRUHYGUIW q¢ qlGUIUquwyUWe Wt WG |
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Additional information on fair value measurement of fixed assets is provided in Note 8(fh 139).

Impairment assessment of rightof-use buildings and premises

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment for
buildings and premises classified as rightof-use assets. If such indications exist, an impairment
test is performed at the reporting date.

To assess impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined based on its value in
use. The value in use is calculated using the discounted cash flow method.

Additional information on rightof-use assets is provided in Note 8.4p 142).
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NOTES. SEGMENT REPORTING

The management uses segment reporting for assessing the economic results of the group and
making management decisions. The reports present the consolidated segmeiitased
information of the companies in the group, which, in turn, are based on the reports of the
companies, divided by the main areas of activity of the group.

The group distinguishes between three main areas of activity, which are presented as segments
qYWHPDWI Rt #GYH UT WRUTR2RT 2c¢ca0! AWe Ul WG RUYI WEl 3¢t WYn

n Maritime transport (includes Tallink Grupp and its subsidiaries);
n Energy (includes resale and distribution of natural gas, sale of electricignd biomethane

production);

n Real estate(includes all companies in the group that lease or develop investment
property);

n Other (smaller companies that provide services to the segments and other smaller
enterprises).

The management assesses the results of the segments mostly based on EBITDA but also
monitors business profit. Financial income and expenditure and income tax expenditure is not
divided between the segments. The assets and liabilities of the group are dieid between the
segments based on their purpose.

The maritime transport segment is monitored for decisiormaking purposes on the group level by
relying on the financial statements of Tallink Grupp, and therefore, segment reporting includes
the financial data of Tallink Grupp.

The sales revenue of the companies in the energy segment is mainly earned from the sale of gas
and other energy products. The result of the business operations &lenger Gruppis seasonally
dependent on the weather, as market demand for natural gas and electricity is higher in the first
and fourth quarters of the year, i.e. during the winter heating period, and lower in the second and
third quarters, when the weather is warmer.

The sales revenue of the companies in the real estate segment derives mainly from the lease of
real estate to the companies of Tallink Grupp.

N6WUWh&§qé1dl kWt INGUUqWeat YWRUHG 2T It Wel et WYnlWeE H#HaqR2
the sales revenue or EBITDA of the group. None of the areas of activity exceed quantitative criteria
where disclosure of information is required individualy.

The companies in the group are managed, its assets are located, and its economic activity takes

place mainly in Finnish-Baltic region. The maritime segment company, Tallink, operates in the

markets of Estonia, Finland, Sweden, Latvia, Lithuania, and Cyprus. The energy segment

company, Elenger Grupp is active inEstonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Finland, Poland, and Germany.
Additionally, the real estate segment company, SIA Happy Trails, operates in the Latvian market,

and Infortar Marine Ltd. operates in the Qyrus market. With the acquisitions of Tallink Gasoand

EWE Polskagq 6 JWNI Y2 Gkt Ws Yl t nYl #JWGE ¢t Wt RDURNRACUqO! WR
employees does not affect the company's management principles at the group level.

INFORTAR 11331



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Maritime Real Other
12 months 2024 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
External sales revenue 785222 966180 9354 79477 1840 233
Intersegment sales revenue 600 14 611 8 564 24 022 47 797
Total segment sales revenue 785822 980791 17918 103499 1888 030
Profit/loss based on the equity 0 1219 0 934 2153
method
Segment profit 40 274 54 497 5088 3157 103 016
Operating profit before 175181 77235 10295 2736 265 447
depreciation and revaluation of
non-current assets (EBITDA)
Maritime Real Other
31.12.2024 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
Assets of the segment 1468 105 1 034 123 212 037 130 540 2844 805
Liabilities of the segment 682592 613321 127 135 264 313 1687 361
Maritime Real Other
Investments 2024 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
in property, plant, equipment 20 356 12897 9386 1896 44 535
and real estate of the segment
in intangible assets of the 1904 2977 0 0 4 881
segment
Depreciation of property, plant, 91738 17 903 33 1830 111504
and equipment
Change in the fair value of the 0 0 -6808 58 -6 750
investment property
Amortisation of intangible 6 013 2242 0 306 8 561
assets
Comparison of financial information with
the consolidated report Turnover Profit Assets Liabilities
Reported segments 1784531 99859 2714265 1423048
Other segments 103 499 3157 130 540 264 313
Elimination and adjustment in the line-by-line  -47 505 93672 -129571 -138 348
consolidation
Elimination of affiliated undertakings -468 750 -3018 0 0
Total in group report 1371775 193670 2715234 1549013
Maritime Real Other
12 months 2023 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
External sales revenue 834983 1021523 14379 48 724 1919 609
Intersegment sales revenue 342 3189 1454 38 068 43 053
Total segment sales revenue 835325 1024712 15833 86792 1962 662
Profit/loss based on the equity 0 1259 0 155 1414
method
Segment profit 78872 121524 7846 -5742 202 500
Operating profit before 214528 135999 9528 -2 244 357 811
depreciation and revaluation of
non-current assets (EBITDA)
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Maritime Real Other
31.12.2023 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
Assets of the segment 1555221 879722 229 835 114510 2779 288
Liabilities of the segment 769 467 464 494 126 343 125812 1486 116
Maritime Real Other
Investments 2023 Transport Energy Estate Segments Total
in property, plant, equipment 32123 5349 25710 2 655 65 837
and real estate of the segment
in intangible assets of the 0 2930 2498 22 5450
segment
Depreciation of property, plant, 1 11088 94635 2730 108 454
and equipment
Change in the fair value of the -9 935 0 0 -770 -10 705
investment property
Amortisation of intangible 0 1516 6 589 245 8 350
assets
Comparison of financial information with
the consolidated report Turnover  Profit Assets Liabilities
Reported segments 1875870 208242 2664778 1360304
Other segments 86792 5742 114 510 125812
Elimination and adjustment in the line-by-line  -42 711 130 563 -95119 -76 347
consolidation
Elimination of affiliated undertakings -835325 -39233 -1223657 -769 467
Total in group report 1084626 293830 1460512 640302

In the real estate segment, the management report for the followint2 months of 2024 shows an
NOI (Net Operating Income) of 71,550 thousand euros and an EBITDA 0f3]567 thousand euros.
Compared with segment report where deduction of consolidated revaluations is taken into
account, the actual companies figures are used for management reporting.

NOTEG6. CASH ANDINVENTORIES

6.1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

(in thousands of eur) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Cash on hand 1748 13
Current accounts in banks 160 385 87 102
Short-term deposits in banks 5417 0
Cash in transit 29 0
Total 167 579 87 115

6.2. Inventories

(in thousands of eur) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Natural gas inventory in storage 152 075 140 891
Inventories and production progress 15627 3217
Unfinished goods 3557 1977
Finished goods 44 655 799
Total 215914 146 884
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6.3 Prepayments for inventories

(in thousands of eur) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Prepayments for construction subcontracting 2 456 3311
Other prepayments for inventories 42 182
Total 2498 3493

6.4 Inventories according to segments

The increase in inventories is mainly due to the addition of raw materials, supplies, and goods in
the maritime transportation segment. In the Other business segment, inventories increased by
EUR 2.1 million from Halinga OU and EUR 0.846 million from Tatia Raamatutriikikoda.

(in thousands of eur) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Energy 154 881 142 878
Maritime transport 54 984 -
Construction 2 304 2741
Other business areas 3745 1264
Total 215914 146 884

NOTE7. RECEIVABLES, LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

7.1. Short-/Long-Term Receivables

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.24 31.12.23 LISA
Trade receivables: 12
Remaining term up to 12 months 155351 162576
Remaining term1715 years 531 5
Including receivables from related parties 12 2370 15
Loans issued: 7147 9065 14.3.1, 15
Including loan receivables from related parties
Remaining term1715 years 7147 9 056
Interest receivables: 450 424
Including interest receivables from related parties 354 335 15
Accruals and deferred income:
Remaining term up to 12 months 8641 2039
Remaining term1715 years 23041 2
Other short-term receivables and prepayments 29 426 17721
Prepaid taxes 3831 925 7.4
Receivables from realized derivative instruments 676 5958
Other long-term receivables and prepayments 4444 0
Total receivables 233538 198 715
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7.2. Change in provisions

Employee-related provisions 2024 2023
Initial balance at the beginning of the financial year 584 645
Provisions set up and revalued during the yei 1977 44
Calculated interest 150 6
Provisions used during the yea -362 -111
Balance at the end of financial year 2349 584
incl. short-term portion 31 31
incl. long-term portion 2 318 553

Other provisions
Initial balance at the beginning of the financial year 7 649 108
Provisions set up and revalued during the ye: -631 5536
Added provisions through business combinations 0 1781
Calculated interest 639 308
Provisions used during the yea 0 -84
Balance at the end of financial year 7 657 7 649
incl. short-term portion 29 0

incl. long-term portion 7 628 7 649

7.3. Short-/Long-Term Liabilities

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE
Term up to 1 year:
Trade payables 87 941 74 751
Including debts to related parties 908 16
Tax liabilities 49 354 32822
Liabilities from realized derivative instruments 8728 1463
Employee related liabilities 36 291 7 462
Interest liabilities 2179 724
Prepayments received 31126 3099
Derivatives 27 704 3659
Short-term provisions 60 31
Other liabilities 24 901 2634
Term 1-5 years:
Revenue from goverment grants in future periods 8 646 5662
Other liabilities 401 197
Long-term provisions 9946 8 202
Derivatives 1471 186
Term over 5 years:
Deferred income tax liability* 2816 33233
Revenue from connection fees in future periods 34162 25017
Total 325726 199142
Including short-term liabilities 268 284 126 645
Deferred income tax liability 2816 33233
Other long-term liabilities 54 626 39 264
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As of December 31, 2024, additional provisions were recorded as follows: A pension provision for
AS "Gaso" in the amount of 0.476 million euros. Postmployment benefits for members of the
Infortar group's management board totalling 1.971 million euros andallink Grupp management
board post-employment benefits totalling EUR 1.768 million euros. AS "Gaso" recorded
environmental provisions of 0.904 million euros. Additionally, a provision was added for AS
Elenger Grupp related to detrimental contracts assoated with long-term electricity purchase
agreements in the amount of 5.598 million euros. The provision was based on the amount by
which the unavoidable costs associated with fulfilling the contracts exceed the expected
economic benefit from the contracts.

7.4. Tax liabilities and prepaid taxes

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Prepaid taxes:
Income tax 3332 919
VAT 499 6
Total prepaid taxes 3831 925
Tax liabilities:
VAT 27 793 28 192
Social tax 5153 1571
Personal income tax 4319 762
Mandatory funded pension 586 21
Unemployment insurance 213 40
Income tax on fringe benefits 158 301
Excise duty* 11132 1935
Total tax liabilities 49 354 32 822

W Nc+1Jt WEaqaql RAzq¢c HIWWqYWaqd WWacl RqRA VWl ¢ Ut GY I aq Wt L

7.5. Income tax

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Income tax related to dividend distribution -5443 0
Income tax of foreign subsidiaries -5108 -267
Deferred tax assets/change in liabilities 30417 -8 343
Total income tax expense/income 19 866 -8610

Income tax expense consists of payable income tax and deferred income tax. Income tax expense
is recognised in profit or loss, except for the part that is recognised in entries in other
comprehensive income or loss. In the latter case, income tax liabilitis also recognised in other
comprehensive income or loss.

The income tax liability that arises when dividends are distributed from retained earnings of the
group.
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7.6. Grants

In 2018, Infortar received a grant from the public sector through the Connecting Europe Facility
(CEF) and concluded a support contract with the Innovation and Networks Executive Agency
(INEA), which coordinates thamplementation of the CEF programme of the European Union, to
construct a bunkering vessel called Optimus for liquefied natural gas (LNG). The maximum
amount of the grant was 5,423 thousand euros, part of which was received as a prepayment and
the rest after the project was completed in 2022. A condition for concluding the support contract
was completing the LNG bunkering vessel Optimus by 2021 and commissioning it for at least five
years. The LNG bunkering vessel Optimus was completed and acquired as eefixasset in 2021
and itis still in use. The compensation from the grant was paid to the recipient after INEA validated
the eligible costs in 2022. The received grant is recognised as income of the period when the ship
is depreciated.

NOTES. FIXEDASSETS

Investment property

(in thousands of EUR) Real estate
As 0f 31.12.22 160 540
Acquisition of real estate 18 304
Transfer from tangible fixed assets 1254
Profit/loss from change in fair value -4 074
As 0f 31.12.23 176 024
Reclassification 01.08.2024 -117 796
Acquisition 10 352
Addition through business acquisition 300
Change in asset value -949
As 0f 31.12.24 67 931

2024 2023 NOTE
Lease and rental income earned 8793 13 497 12, 15

Direct administrative costs of
investment property

-2 358 -1 667

The fair value of real estate, including land and buildings, is based on market prices determined
by an independent property valuer. The valuation is based on the discounted cash flow method
and the comparable sales method. Where the discounted cash flow mthod cannot be applied,
the value of development properties is determined based on market prices of similar purchase
and sale transactions, adjusted for changes in the real estate market.

Assumptions used in property valuation
Ware- Premises under

2024 Hotels Offices  houses* development*
Discount rate 8,25%-9% 7,8%-8,1% 8,20%  appraised
Cost growth rate 2%-4% 2%-4% 2%-4% mostly based
Capitalization rate 8%-10,25% 6,5%-7,2% 7,2% on the
Cash flow forecast 5+1years 5+1years 5+1years comparison
Fair value level 3 3 3
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Ware- Premises under

2023 Hotels Offices  houses* development*
Discount rate 7,6%-9% 8,50% 8,50% appraised
Cost growth rate kuni 3% kuni 3%  kuni 3% mostly based
Capitalization rate 7,5%-8% 6,5%-7,2% 7,2% on the
Cash flow forecast 5+1years 5+1years 5+1years comparison
Fair value level 3 3 3

Among development properties, there are investment properties amounting to EUR 14.85
thousand that were either acquired or under construction in 2024 and are measured at
acquisition cost.

The largest change in property value occurred in hotels located in Estonia and Latvia. The
challenging situation in the tourism sector affected the entire industry, resulting in a decrease in
the value of these investments by approximately 29% (EUR 7.9 haih). In early 2025, signs of
economic recovery are visible, and a recovery in value is expected.

The Group uses the services of Colliers International Advisors OU as its property valuer.

The Group has prepared a sensitivity analysis of the fair value of investment properties, which
shows that if the discount rate used in the valuation changes by+1.0%, the fair value of the
properties would increase/decrease by EUR +5,563,830 thousand (2023: +6,630£6,212
thousand). If the capitalization rate changes by/+1.0%, the fair value of the properties would
increase/decrease by EUR +14,29011,087 thousand (2023: +18,356/14,380 thousand). The
estimated value of revalued property, plant, ancequipment, had the cost method been applied,
would be EUR 107,534 thousand.

8.2. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment measured at fair value

Land anc
(in thousands of EUR) buildings Ships
Reclassification 1.01.2024 28 116 0
As at 1.08.2024 28 116 0
Reclassification 1.08.2024 117 796
Acquisition 2769 3133
Addition through business acquisition 1196 283
Depreciation -2 221 -24 238
Change in asset value -6 470 0
At 31.12.24 139 990 1175177

Hotels, office buildings, warehouse space, and a tennis center are recognized as rigbf-use
assets. These buildings were originally constructed for lease or sale and are currently used under
intra-group lease agreements. The buildings are revalued annudglto fair value in a manner
consistent with investment properties.

Revaluations of buildings and vessels are recognized in equity under a separate revaluation
reserve.

Property, plant, and equipment acquired through the acquisition of Tallink on 1 August 2024 is
cHAY2UqUT WnY!l WRUWeHHAYI T ¢cUHWDWs RagsWf UnY!l gqc¢l kit We HAY
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To determine the fair value of vessels, Tallink uses three independent appraisers. The fair value
assessment is based on market information, primarily using unobservable inputs (Level 3 in the

NMERI W2c¢chealJWERIJI ¢ HE! b IOW[ Y LhBaksd condidetd expstd casl G+ A WN ¢
ndVYst AWs 6131 JWUOPHDEL ¢ 0O + WYNWONW?2WHUJIGHDI W=M=n4aLl
carrying amount of the group of vessels did not differ materially from their fair value. Therefore,

no revaluation of vessels was perfaned as of that date.

Property, plant and equipment measured at cost
Land and Assets under Plant and

(in thousands of EUR) buildings construction equipment Other TOTAL
Book value as 0f 01.01.23 90 643 9789 46 231 1061 147724
Cost or valuation as of 01.01.23 147 097 9789 66 011 2477 225374
Accumulated depreciation -56 454 0 -19780 -1416 -77 650
as of 01.01.23

Additions 359 11 955 616 2261 15191
Additions due to acquisitions 276 957 3 567 12 995 2919 296 438
of subsidiaries

Depreciation charge -7 482 0 -3 500 -712  -11694
Reclassification 1530 -4.279 923 572  -1254
Disposals 554 -13 -28 -170 343
Book value as 0f 31.12.23 362 561 21019 57 237 5931 446 748
Reclassifications -11 520 -13 656 0 0 -25176
Book value as of 01.01.2024 351 041 7 363 57 237 5931 421572
Cost or valuation as of 01.01.24 413 613 7 363 80 236 7781 508993
Accumulated depreciation -62 572 0 -22999 -1850 -87421
as of 01.01.24

Additions 170 8 786 8 802 489 18247
Additions due to acquisitions 120 717 9 847 48 118 9 178691
of subsidiaries

Depreciation charge -11 054 0 -10929 -1624 -23607
Reclassification 7610 -13 458 4 954 887 -7
Disposals -281 -38 -158 -129 -606
Book value as of 31.12.24 468 203 12 500 108 024 5563 594 290
Cost or valuation as of 31.12.24 552 813 12 500 248 814 8 707 822834
Accumulated depreciation as of -84 610 0 -140790 -3144 -228544
31.12.24

PNSWWHYGa G UWmx ¢ OT We UT W7eRGT RUNY wWIRUAG2T 13t Ae UT 131
amount of EUR 422,046 thousand for gas pipelines, which are presented separately under the
AYGeGUWmnf Unl ¢t ql eAgel D WRUWgqSWWEGUIUNWYI W] 1 YeGWIl WG
PN UWHRYGzaUWmB~cHSRUWI ! WeUT WERNe RGOGNWUgqwWRURAG2T 131
ONIONZ=MNAwWec UWe G Ye UqWYnWEOAWOPASINYWqdEYet ¢UT WnYl U
**In 2024, through the acquisition of Elenger Polska, Elenger Group additionally acquired net

assets amounting to EUR 128.597 million, of which EUR 109.852 million was property, plant, and
equipment. Purchase price allocations are disclosed in Note 9.2.

As of the balance sheet date, the Group had no binding contractual commitments for the
acquisition of property, plant, and equipment.
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8.3. Intangible Assets

Value of Computer Mining

(in thousands of EUR) Goodwill contracts software rights  Total
Residual value on 01.01.23 0 2 884 3000 2969 8853
Acquisition of intangible assets 0 2952 0 2952
Additions after acquisitions 0 4 323 0 4323
of companies

Calculated depreciation -306 -1 354 -102 -1762
Residual value on 31.12.23 0 2578 8921 2867 14 366
Acquisition of intangible assets 0 3693 10 3703
Calculated depreciation 11 066 0 14718 0 25784
Additions after acquisitions 0 -245 -4 686 -48 -4 979
of companies

Residual value on 31.12.24 11 066 2 333 22 646 2829 38874

Additions through businessacquisitions are disclosed in more detail in Noted.2 (p.145).

8.4. Lease Liabilities

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Lease liabilities 49 456 10491
<1 year 9020 1766

1-5 year 37 334 5623

>5 years 3102 3102

Book value of leased assets 47 598 11 300
Lease payments in the year 11 300 2233
Interest payments on lease in the reporting year 1344 368

Lease agreements have been concluded with terms extending up to 2033 and are denominated
in euros. The lease liabilities are secured by the corresponding riglof-use assets. During the
financial year, lease interest rates ranged between1b%.

There are no potential future increases in lease payments or obligations to extend lease terms
under the current agreements.

The Group leases office and warehouse space, vehicles, and other machinery and equipment,
and has entered into superficies and personal rightf-use agreements for land use.

Costs related to these agreements are disclosed in Note 1(p. 160) of the report.

Land and Plant and

(in thousands of EUR) buildings equipment  Total
Balance as 0f 01.01.23 679 9513 10192
New right-of-use assets 250 3126 3376
Calculated depreciation -305 -1820 -2125
Revaluation and write-off of lease liabilities 0 -143 -143
Balance as of 31.12.23 624 10676 11 300
New right-of-use assets 38 426 4806 43232
Calculated depreciation -3 326 -2461 -5787
Revaluation and write-off of lease liabilities -1147 -1147
Balance as of 31.12.2024 35724 11874 47598
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In 2023, a new health center was completed in Tallinn at Pdllu 63. The concluded lease

agreements are valid until 2033, lease payments are fixed for the contract period, and the lessor

has the right to increase the rent based on the consumer price indexoB parties have the option

to extend the lease term by an additional 5 years.

In 2024, INF Saue OU signed a lortgrm lease agreement with Rimi Eesti Foods AS for the lease
of a warehouse and office building located at Saue tee 10 in Laagri. The lease term is 10 years,
with an option for both parties to extend the agreement by 5 yesa Lease payments consist of
base rent and additional rent.

8.5. Leased assets (the Group as the lessor)

(in thousands of EUR) NOTE 2024 2023
Operating lease income 12 8793 13497

termupto term between term over 5

1 year 1-5 years years
Payments for future periods 1481 5924 6112
Carrying amount of assets leased as the lessor NOTE 31.12.24 31.12.23
Investment property 8.1 22 280 139 041

A reclassification took place as of 1 August 2024, when control over AS Tallink Grupp was
obtained.

8.6. Leased Assets (The Group as the lessor)

INF Mustakivi OU, as the lessor, has entered into a lease agreement concerning a property under
which the lessor will construct a warehouse and retail space for the tenant. A building permit has
been issued for the construction of approximately 3@00 m2 DEPO (DIY Store) on the property.
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NOTE9. SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED UNDERTAKINGS

9.1. Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Associated Companies
Holding Holding Equity Equity

(in thousands of EUR) Established 31.12.24 31.12.23 31.12.24 31.12.23
AS Tallink Grupp 01.09.94 68% 42% 782306 783 700
AS Elenger Grupp 10.01.97 100% 100% 409290 406 197
AS H.T.Valuuta 22.01.97 100% 100% 1635 1504
OU Tallinna Raamatutriikikoja 30.06.97 100% 0% 3207 0
AS Vaba Maa Grupp 07.01.98 100% 100% -463 -492
OU INF Liivalaia 28.03.02 100% 100% 4 357 -3371
OU INF Sadamal 1 03.10.02 100% 100% 16585 38252
SIA Happy Trails 24.11.03 100% 100% 7728 12636
OU INF Sadam&79 19.03.04 100% 100% 23688 20804
OU INF Mustakivi 07.01.05 100% 100% 12551 14273
OU INF Kaldase 11.01.05 100% 100% 11636 12523
OU INF Tennisekeskus 11.01.05 100% 100% 1281 1260
AS Gastrolink 07.10.05 100% 100% 145 618
AS Tallink Takso 19.09.07 100% 66% -284 -1
OU EG Biofond 14.05.08 100% 100% 5280 4219
OU Aianurga 26.05.10 100% 100% 19 31
OU Lasnamae Spordikeskus 18.07.16 100%  100% 129 8
OU INF Communications 12.04.18 100% 100% 557 -238
OU Taxitech 19.12.18 0% 100% 0 -9
OU Farmatar 21.02.20 0% 80% 0 -874
OU Medifort 15.06.20 100% 100% 0 0
Infortar Marine Ltd 11.08.20 100% 100% -132 471
OU INF Saue 23.08.21 90% 90% 334 1516
OU INF Tahesaj9® 06.09.22 100% 100% 304 -213
OU INF Engineering Grupp 07.09.22 100% 100% 10 293 5925
OU INF 06.03.23 100% 100% -37 -41

There are 110 companies in Infortar Groupncluding 101 groupcompanies (the parent company,
25 subsidiaries, and their 75 subsidiaries), as well as 4 associates and 5 subsidiaries of
associates. The group structure is presented as part of the management report.

Tallink Grupp operates in the Estonian, Latvian, Finnish, Swedish, and German markets under the
Tallink and Silja brands. Additionally, as the franchise owner of Burger King in the Baltic states, it
manages 21 restaurants of this fasfood chain.

The energy group Elenger Group is headquartered in Estonia. In addition, the group operates in
Latvia through SIA Elenger, in Lithuania through UAB Elenger, in Finland through OY Elenger, and
in Poland under the names Sp. z o0.0. Elenger and Elenger Polskp. z 0.0. For solar energy
production, Latvian subsidiaries have been established: SIA Solar Nica, SIA Elenger Partners, SIA
Solar Marupe, and SIA Solar Olaine. On October 28, Elenger Group founded a new subsidiary, OU
Elenger W1, whose main area of actity is renewable energy production. Infortar Marine Ltd is
registered in the Republic of Cyprus. The energy segment company EG Biofond and its associated
companies within the Eesti Biogaas group operate in Estonia.
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fUnYl gqc¢l kt W 2 At RIs Rithé Repullit of Latvia; GigrtatlMating Rdiis |dbated in
the Republic of Cyprus, while the other subsidiaries are located in the Republic of Estonia

fUnYl gqc¢l k1t W ¢ dWdt areinEstbiia Bnd batid. GINHappiyG@ild R idgistdred
RUWq6 WWANGe AGRAWY nlWx ¢ q2ReOWIYaGe URIWE WYGWI ¢qRUNDW
Estonia.
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voting rights in the respective companies.

Some subsidiaries of the Infortar Group had negative equity as of 31 December 2024. From the

]I YeGkt WGUI + GURqR2 AW JWe G Y didyfixedl assetldéveldpimand We UT LW
costs, which are expected to be covered by operating profits as theompanies continue their

activities. If necessary, the parent company is prepared to increase the share capital of its
subsidiaries.

In 2024, Infortar received intragroup dividends from its subsidiaries as follows: AS Gastrolimk
400 thousandeuros; OU INF Sadamalt 20,000euros; OU INF Kaldasea 2,000 thousandeuros
(in 2023, 9,603 thousanceuros from SIA Happy Trails and 36,209 thousarelrosfrom AS Elenger
Group).

9.2. Business combinations

Tallink Grupp

On 6 August 2024, Infortar announced the results of its voluntary takeover offer for shares in
Tallink Grupp, acquiring an additional 161,395,930 shares, representing 21.71% of all Tallink
shares. Following the transaction, Infortar holds a total of 509,08,817 shares, equivalent to
68.47% of all issued shares in Tallink.

As a result of the public offer, Infortar gained control over Tallink and began full lif®y-line

HYUtL YORT ¢ qRYUWYNWNecGaRUt kt W It 2dqt IOW WGal HE ¢t IJWC
the fair value of the acquired assets as at the closest balare sheet date to the acquisition datey

1 August 2024. The transaction date is considered to be 9 August 2024, when the shares were

gl ¢Utnl 1 T WqYWf UnYl gqc¢l kt WeHAY2UqlO

As Infortar and Tallink Grupp were not under common control prior to the business combination,

the transaction does not qualify as a business combination under common control.

NeadaRUt W] I eGGWEet WAHRDWUWHY UL YOGRT ¢ qUT WRUqVY Wa6 13W] I Y
ccl WaqéWWe A#ve Rt RORYUW et JOWGHecHUWYUWNWseUee!l ! W= N
consolidated revenue for the year would have amounted to EUR 1,840,23Bousand and

consolidated profit to EUR 230,742 thousand. For the five months ended 31 December 2024,

Tallink contributed EUR 316,764 thousand in revenue and EUR 3,201 thousand in profit to the

Group. In determining these amounts, management assumed that # fair value adjustments

initially recognized at the acquisition date would have been the same if the acquisition had

occurred on 1 January 2024.

Through this business combination, Infortar is executing its strategy in the maritime transport
segmenty its shareholding in Tallink may be increased further if the stock market price is
favourable and regulatory conditions permit.

The table below presents the consideration transferred and the recognised amounts of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.
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Consideration transferred

(in thousands of EUR

Cash 88 768
Impact of settlement of previous intercompany relationships 7 569
Total consideration transferred at fair value 96 337

The nature of previougelated party relationships primarily consisted of lease agreements, the
terms of which were in line with market conditions. Accordingly, the assessment of their impact

was based on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities related to these transactis.

Acquired Identifiable Assets and Assumed Liabilities:

(in thousands of EUR]

Cash and cash equivalents 45 804
Trade receivables 18 988
Other receivables 46 744
Inventories 50 002
Property, Plant, and Equipment 1251 005
Intangible Assets 25 285
Right-of-Use Assets 36 284
Borrowings -514 915
Lease liabilities -38 199
Trade and other payables -35931
Other liabilities -98 607
Total Acquired Net Assets 786 460
Non-controlling interest 247 971
Acquirer's share of acquired assets 538 489
Due from Other Total
(in thousands of EUR) customers receivables receivables
Contractual gross amounts receivable 15977 3063 19 040
Estimated cash flows not expected to be receiver -469 - -469
at acquisition date
Fair value of receivables 15508 3063 18571
Transferred consideration 96 337
Share attributable to non-controlling interest 247 971
Fair value of Tallinks previous holding 364 386
Fair value of acquired net assets -786 460
Gain from bargain purchase -77 766

The gain on a bargain purchase arises from the excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired

over the consideration transferred, adjusted for the settlement of preexisting relationships and
qélWneRI W2cde DWYNWNecGaRUOt kKt WGI W2RYet 0! WEWGT WRUGqL
The nonAYUq! YGOGRUNDWRUqUI Wt quWRUWq6 W E He RI WKkt WJhe |

Gl YGYI qRYUc¢cqUWt 6¢! DWYnWaqéWWe Hrue RI WUkt WUOWDqWet t q
share options or convertible instruments.

NGWUW awet el DaWUqWYNnWaqdé W] | Ye Gkt WGI W2RYet G! W6WGT
gain of EUR 10,359 thousand (EUR 364,386 thousand fair value less the carrying amount of the
equity-accounted investment of EUR 354,027 thousand at the acquisdn date). This amount has

HJRlOW IHYNDURAUT WRUWg6 WWRUBRYGUIW qeqlalUqle U1 131 Wbf
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Transaction costs related to legal and due diligence services amounted to EUR 121 thousand.

These costs were recognized undeother operating expenses.

NEWUWncecRI W2¢te DWYNWG!I YGUI q! AWGH ¢ Uqawe UT WWhe RGGIWU
using a discounted cash flow method.

As a result of the business combination, a fair value analysis was performed, which concluded

that the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities were approximately equal to their carrying

amounts. The assets were recognized based on the carryingn@unts reported in AS Tallink

]l 2GGkt WnRUcURRcOGW qeqladWU0qt AWwWe UT WOYWI W2¢tdecaqRYL
the acquired receivables.

Elenger Polska sp. z o.0.

On 31 October 2024, Elenger signed an agreement with the German energy group EWE AG for the
purchase of 100% of the shares in the Polish comparfylenger Polska EWE Polska sp. z 0JoThe
transaction was completed on 19 December 2024 following the receipt of merger clearance from
the Polish Competition Authority and thefulfilment of other preconditions, resulting in Elenger
becoming the sole owner ofElengerPolska sp. z 0.0. Thé&lengerPolska group includesElenger
Energia EWE Energia sp. z o.pand Elenger PrezesyEWE Przesy sp. z 0.).both of which are
wholly owned subsidiaries of EWE Polska sp. z 0.0.

The acquisition of EWE Polska group marks a significant milestone in the continued growth of the
group. According to the group's assessment, the acquired entity qualifies as a business, and
therefore, the transaction has been accounted for as a business cobination.

The consolidation of the EWE Polska Group commenced on 31 December 2024. Revenue and

profit for the period from 19 December to 31 December 2024 have not been included in the

]I YeGkt WI Wt edaqt AWet W6 URI WRAOGGeHqWYULW qidldded ] | Ye Gk
immaterial.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2024, the consolidated revenue for the reporting

year would have amounted to EUR 1,159,945 thousand and the consolidated profit to EUR 66,784

q6é6VYet ¢cUOTl AWHAEH IT WYUWGaGecUeNWIGUUaqkt W ksarirabagemnit OWf U W
assumed that the fair value adjustments initially identified as of the acquisition date would have

been the same as if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2024.

The table below presents the consideration transferred and the recognized amounts of the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities as at the acquisition date.
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Consideration transferred (in thousands of EUR’
Cash 111771
Total consideration transferred 111771
Acquired Identifiable Assets and Assumed Liabilities:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 43 059
Trade Receivables 12 887
Other Receivables 3678
Derivative Instruments (Assets) 2582
Other Prepayments 144
Deferred Tax Asset 3918
Energy Efficiency Certificates 794
Inventories 3 646
Property, Plant, and Equipment 109 852
Intangible Assets 516
Right-of-Use Assets 2292
Loan Liabilities -2 709
Trade Payables and Other Liabilities -37 173
Derivative Instruments (Liabilities) -1 908
Capital Grants for Fixed Assets -3401
Deferred Income from Connection Fees -9 580
Total Acquired Net Assets 128 597
Due from Other Total
(in thousands of EUR) customers receivables receivables
Contractual gross amounts receivable 14 176 3678 17 854
Estimated cash flows not expected to be received -1 289 - -1 289
at acquisition date
Fair value of receivables 12 887 3678 16 565

The costs related to the acquisition, including legal advisory and due diligence expenses,
amounted to 209 thousand euros, while the transaction tax paid in connection with the
acquisition was 1117thousand euros. These expenses have been recorded under other operating
expenses.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment was determined based on the estimated value of
Ei EWAYGt t clW] | YeGkt WacUNRAGUWNR+ T Wet t Wqt Wet RUN Wg

Gain from a bargain purchase (in thousands of EUR’
Consideration transferred 111771
Fair value of identifiable net assets -128 597
Gain from a bargain purchase -16 826

The business combination resulted in a gain from a bargain purchase, which represents the
difference between the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and
the consideration transferred. The gain arose due to a favourableegotiation position and
additional earnings generated during the period between the offer submission and the
transaction closing.

The gain from the bargain purchase has been recognized in the income statement as a separate
line item under net financial income/expense.
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AS Gaso

On 14 April 2023, AS Eesti Gaas entered into a share purchase and sale agreement with the
xcaq2ReUWRYIGeU! W EWbxcq2RT¢t W] gAUBWNY! Wad WGl HS
gas distribution network company AS "Gaso". The transaction enteredtmforce on 17 July 2023

after obtaining the consents of the Government of Latvia and the Competition Authority. The

consent of the Latvian Government was required as Gaso is a strategic company for Latvia.On 17

July 2023, the Group acquired 100 percent othe shares and voiting rights in Latvian gas

T Rt ql RHzeqRYUWHYGGe¢ U! W EWm] ¢t YO

The acquisition of the Latvian distribution network is an important step in the Group's expansion

into the largest privately owned energy company of the Baltic Sea region. The Group has

concluded that the acquired set is a business and as a result the transaction has been recognised
as a business combination.

For the five months ended 31 December 2023, AS "Gaso" contributed revenue of EUR 24 595
thousand and profit of EUR 1533 thousand to the Group's results. If the acquisition had occured
on 1 January 2023, management estimates that consolidated revenue forehyear would have
been EUR 1 060 365 thousand, and consolidated profit for the year would have been EUR 270 789
thousand. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value
adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the datef acquisition would have been the
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2023.

Transaction costs related to legal services and due diligence amounted to EUR 123 thousand.
These costs have been recognized under other operating expenses.

The table below presents the consideration transferred and the recognized amounts of the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities as at the acquisition date.

Transferred Consideration (in thousands of EUR]
Cash 122 069
Total Transferred Consideration 122 069

Acquired Identifiable Assets and Assumed Liabilities:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 656
Trade Receivables 4151
Other Receivables 80
Derivative Instruments (Assets) 99
Other Prepayments 1871
Inventories 2031
Property, Plant, and Equipment 296 437
Intangible Assets 4 323
Right-of-Use Assets 583
Borrowings -24 270
Trade Payables and Other Liabilities -7 280
Derivative Instruments (Liabilities) -1 781
Capital Grants for Fixed Assets -13621
Total Acquired Net Assets 281 279

INFORTAR 1 1491



INFORTAR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Due from Other Total
(in thousands of EUR) customers receivables receivables
Contractual gross amounts receivable 4784 80 4 864
Estimated cash flows not expected to be receivec -633 0 -633
at acquisition date
Fair value of receivables 4151 80 4231

The fair value of property, plant and equipment was determined based on the revalued amounts
YnlWagcUNRAGUWEt + Wgt Wet W IGY!I qT WH! W EW] ¢t YoWwf OWwae
assets and liabilities were also approximately equal to their carimg amounts.

Gain from a bargain purchase (in thousands of EUR]
Consideration transferred 122 069
Fair value of identifiable net assets -281 279
Gain from a bargain purchase -159 210

As a result of the business combination, income was generated from a bargain purchase, which

is the difference between the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

assumed and the consideration transferred. The emergence of income from the bargain purchase

was justified because the sale transaction took place under regulatory comgsion. As according

to European Union and Latvian legislation, the ownership of the Latvian distribution network

company, as a strategically important asset/company, was not allowed to belong to Russian or

Belarusian capital, the current owner of AS "Gas&1ll ElWBx ¢ q2 RT¢t W] AU BAWs ¢t L
the company. The circle of potential buyers was significantly limited by the Russian war in Ukraine

and the status of Latvia as a border state. The third reason were restrictions, because of which

the use of breign capital was practically excluded.

Acquisition of Halinga

As of 30 June 2024, Infortar conducted a purchase price allocation analysis, which resulted in the
recognition of a new asset class for the group: biological assets. Infortar analyzed the fair values

of OU Halinga and conclded that the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities are

CGGlI Y+ROGCcqUO! WWheclWqYWaqdé IR WHel | ROUNDWeaVYe Uqt HOWI
carrying amounts, and no revaluabns were performed. As of 30 June 2024, the total amount of

acquired assets was 21 million euros and the amount of acquired liabilities was 7 million euros.

Acquisition of Tallinna Raamatutrikikoda

On 16 October 2024, Infortar acquired a 100%hareholdingin Tallinna Raamatutriikikoda OU. As
of 30 October 2024, Infortar conducted a purchase price allocation analysis. Infortar analyzed the
fair values of Tallinna Raamatutriikikoda OU and concluded that the fair values of the acquired
assets and liabilities ale approximately equal to their carrying amounts. The assets were valued
based on the carrying amounts in the balance sheet of Tallinna Raamatutrilkikoda OU, and no
revaluations were made. The total arount of acquired assets was 4 million euros, and the total
amount of acquired liabilities was 1 million euros.
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9.3. Investments in Affiliated Undertakings

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23
Total investments 16 603 346 014
OU Vara HTG 50% 50%
value of holding 7 389 6 595
AS Tallink Grupp* 42%
value of holding 331564
value in stock market price 216 467
OU VanaPosti Kinnisvara 50% 50%
value of holding 178 20
OU Eesti Biogaas 50% 50%
value of holding 3741 2522
Pakrineeme Sadama OU 50% 50%
value of holding 5295 5313

*AS Tallink Grupp is consolidated line by line as of 30 Spetember 2024.

9.4. Group Structure
A diagram reflecting the structure of the Infortar Group is presented as part of the management
report.

NOTE10. FINANCIALLIABILITIES

(in thousands of EUR) Maturity date 31.12.24 31.12.23
Short-term liabilities under 1 year 506 182 186 025
Long-term liabilities 1-5 years 714 003 252 033
Long-term liabilities over 5 years 3102 3102
TOTAL 1223 287 441 160

Breakdown of liabilities by type and term:
Short-term loan liabilities:

Overdraft 43 390 30 527

Short-term loans 343 000 123 050

Short-term portion of long term loan liabilities 110772 30 682
TOTAL 497 162 184 259
Long-term loan liabilities:

Investment loan 676 669 246 410
TOTAL 676 669 246 410
Lease liabilities

Short-term portion of lease liabilities 9 020 1766

Long-term portion of lease liabilities 40 436 8 725
TOTAL 49 456 10491

Key Borrowings

NSIWJW] I YeGkt WI ¢t Wt qc¢ qldLPddeRiopRsFronilidanks thtaling fFaR RU1JT W
94,824 thousand, with final maturities of less than five years. In connection with business
acquisitions, the Group has obtained syndicated loans from banks totatig EUR 379,298

thousand, with maturities in 2028, 2029, and 2034.
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The Group also received a bank loan of EUR 24,480 thousand for the acquisition of the LNG vessel
Optimus. In addition, the Group obtained shoriterm bank loans totaling EUR 203,000 thousand
for the purchase of gas reserves.

Information on loans received from related parties is disclosed in Note 1. 174).

N6IWJW] I YeGkt WaYeUWe NI 13136 130 q t-finbRdiaFctverandslibdtYrmsi ben R U ¢ U A |
met by the parent company as well as the Group as a whole. As of 31 December 20a# such
covenants have been complied with.

10.2. Loan Collateral
N6UWaYecUt WYnNWagsWWNI YeGkt WIWUqRaqRIJE WEl W WHe 1 13T W
amounts:

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE
Land and buildings 3848 3437 8.2
Machinery and equipment 35618 36 581 8.2
Investment property 184 179 178 138 8.1
Financial assets 137 033 160 969

Financial assets consist of shares pledged as collateral for longerm loans. According to the loan
agreements, lenders have the right to demand additional collateral from the Group in the event
of a decline in the value of the shares.

10.3. Interest

(in thousands of EUR) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023
Initial balance at the beginning of the year 724 375
Interest of the reporting year 38274 22573
Change through business combinations 2334 0
Interests paid -39 153 -22 224
Final balance 2179 724

N6 WWRUqI 3t qul ¢ qt WYUWaq6 W] | Ye Gkmonthj 3nsobthllor &1 WG 1J¢t |
GYUq6 WEOAf 78 AWY! Wk ENAKWNG JWE GGU RAC HI WWE-orl6NRUL WI ¢
month EURIBOR + 0.1% to 4%). The functional currency is the euro.
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10.4. Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

Lease
(in thousands of EUR) Overdrafts Loans liabilities
Opening balance as of 01.01.23 16179 401535 9491

Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from borrowings 0 287606 0
Additions through business combinations 0 23 847 0
Repayments of borrowings 0 -312 846 0
0
0

Principal repayments of lease liabilities 0 -2 233
Total changes from financing cash flows -1 393 -2 233
Other changes

Change in overdraft balance 14 348 0 0
Recognition of new lease liabilities 0 0 3376
Termination of lease liabilities 0 0 -143
Total other changes 14 348 0 3233
Closing balance as of 31.12.23 30527 400 142 10491
Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from borrowings 0 358731 0
Additions through business combinations 523 358 44 431
Repayments of borrowings 0 -151790 0
Principal repayments of lease liabilities 0 0 -11 300
Total changes from financing cash flows 0 730299 33131
Other changes

Change in overdraft balance 12 863 0 0
Recognition of new lease liabilities 0 0 6 015
Termination of lease liabilities 0 0 -181
Total other changes 12 863 0 5834
Closing balance as of 31.12.24 43390 1130441 49 456

NOTE11l. SHARE CAPITAL, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
RESERVES

11.1. Share Capital

31.12.24 31.12.23
Total number of ordinary shares issued 21 166 239 21 045 00C
including fully paid 20 443 629 20 100 00C
Nominal value (EUR) 0,10 0,10
Share capital (thousands EUR) 2117 2105
Own shares (thousands EUR) -72 -95

The share capital of 2,116,624 euros is divided into 21,166,239 ordinary shares, with a nominal
value of 0.10 euros per share (as of 31.12.23, 21,045,000 ordinary shares, with a nominal value of
0.10 euros per share). The minimum share capital of the compg is one million (1,000,000)
euros, and the maximum share capital is four million (4,000,000) euros. Within these limits, the
share capital of the company may be increased or decreased without amending the Articles of
Association.

In 2024, 121,239 shares were issued at a premium of 25.90 euros per share.
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Share capital expansion pcs Euro
New shares 121 239 12124
Share premium 3140 10C
Share issuance cost 0
Total 121 239 3152224
Changes in share capital 01.01.2024-31.12.2024 Euro
Share capital 01.01.2024 20 100 00C
Exercise of share options 222 390
Newly issued shares (01.01.2024-31.12.2024) 121 239
Total number of ordinary shares issued 31.12.2024 20 443 62¢

11.2. Own Shares

Infortar holds 722,610 shares (945,000 as of December 31, 2023), acquired for the realization of
an option program. These shares represent 3.4% of total equity. In 2024, a total of 222,390 shares
were issued under the option program.

11.3. Contingent Liabilities

Potential income tax liability 31.12.24 31.12.23
Retained earnings 890 167 759 918
Including taxable profit 12 801 166 167
Maximum potential income tax liability 193021 118 750
Dividends paid if all retained earnings are distributed 697 146 641 168

The calculation is based on the tax rate @78) that has been in effect since the beginning of the
financial year for dividends paid out, with the assumption that the total of the distributed
dividends and the resulting income tax will not exceed the retained earnings balance as of the
reporting date.

Supervisory Procedure by the Finnish Energy Authority

In 2023, the Finnish Energy Authorityfeqergiavirastq initiated a supervisory procedure to assess

the activities of ASElenger Grupp and its subsidiaries, Elenger Oy and SIA Elenger, under Article

5 of the REMIT Regulation (prohibition of market manipulation or attempted market
manipulation).

Elenger Grupp considers that there has been no breach of the REMIT Regulationwigeer, should

the Finnish Energy Authority conclude that the actions of AS Elenger Grupp, Elenger Oy, and SIA
Elenger during the relevant periods constitute market manipulation or attempted market
manipulation as defined under REMIT, potential consequenceasay include a warning or a fine of
cGUWqYWNMEWYnWaqsWW2RYdcecqRUNWGE! t DJqWGel qRARGE Uqk t
termination of the procedure without any warning or fine.

11.4. Legal Reserve

The reserve capital is formed from annual allocations of net profit, as well as other allocations
transferred to the reserve capital in accordance with the law or the Articles of Association. The
size of the reserve capital is stipulated in the Articles ofAssociation and must not be less than
1/10 of the share capital. At least 1/20 of the net profit must be transferred to the reserve capital
each financial year. Once the reserve capital reaches the size specified in the Articles of
Association, further allocations from net profit to the reserve capital are discontinued.
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The reserve capital may be used, by decision of the general meeting, to cover losses if it is not
possible to cover them from the company's free equity, or to increase the share capital. Payments
to shareholders cannot be made from the reserve capital. Ahe general meeting of shareholders
held on May 20, 2024, it was decided to transfer an additional 7,145.11 euros to the reserve
capital.

11.5. Hedging Reserve

(in thousands of EUR]

J

As at 31.12.2023 24 118
Cash flow hedgesr diflective portion of changes in fair value -40 898
290
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a fixed price
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a floating -64 816
price
27 259
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas purchases for storage
incl. from swap contracts for buying and selling electricity -3419
incl. from currency exchange forwards -212
Gain(-) / loss(+) reclassified to line "Revenue" of the statement of profit or loss -18 433
and OCI (Note 6)
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a floating -17 538
price
incl. from swap contracts for buying and selling electricity -895
Gain(-) / loss(+) reclassified to line "Raw materials and consumables used" of 41515
the statement of profit or loss and OCI
38 641
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a fixed price
incl. from swap contracts for buying and selling electricity 2874
Gain(-) / loss(+) transferred to line "Inventories" of the statement of financial -1 304
position
-1 304

incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas purchases for storage
Gain(-) / loss(+) reclassified to line "Other operating income" of the statement -29 603
of profit or loss and OCI for which the hedged future cash flows are no longer
expected to occur (Note 7)

-680
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a fixed price
-25 356
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas purchases for storage
incl. from swap contracts for buying and selling electricity -3 567
Gain(-) / loss(+) reclassified to line "Other operating expenses" of the stateme 2931
of profit or loss and OCI for which the hedged future cash flows are no longer
expected to occur (Note 10)
incl. from swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas sales at a floating 2 605
price
incl. from swap contracts for buying and selling electricity 11
incl. from currency exchange forwards 315
Asat 31.12.24 -21 674
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Additional information is provided in Notes 3.§p. 126) and 14.4(p. 171).

The hedging reserve contains the effective portion of the change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments, which will besubsequently recognized in profit or loss when the hedged
cash flows affect profit or loss.

FWYnW 2Net qWNAW=M=ZNAWAYUq! YowWwy2l WNecaaRUt Ws ¢t LWe
was added to the group. Infortar shows Tallink's option reserve as a minority interest in the equity
statement, in accordance with the interpretation of IFFS 10

Keyterms of a stock option program were developedor Infortar in 2021 and for Tallink in 202%
motivate employees and management. The purpose of the program is to incentivize management
and employees by making them shareholders, allowing option holders to benefit from the
increase in the value of shares as a result of their work.

The cost of stock options for thel2 month 2024 was1,6 millions euros, and it is reflected in the
income statement under "Administrative Expenses" in the line "Personnel Expenses." The option
validity period is 36 months, and the value is measured according to the Blackcholes-Merton
formula.

The main terms related to the stock option program are as follows:

The date of issue of The condition for earning the . . .
. . . . Exercise period of options
options right for receiving options
Infortar
November 2021
June 2022

a) Three years have passed fron

November 2023 : . Starts when three years
the issue of options.
June 2024 . . have passed from the date
b) The option has not expired whe . .
. . of issue of the options.
. it is exercised.
Tallink
August 2023
June 2024
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11.7. Shares and stock options belonging to the members of the management and

supervisory board
Direct holdings and holdings through controlled companies as 081.12.2024

Number of shares Stock options

Name Position in Infortar ~ Holding % in Infortar

Ain Hanschmidt Chairman of the 4 882 855 23,07% 42 900
Management Boarc

Eve Pant Member of the 161 200 0,76% 42 900
Management Boarc

Enn Pant Chairman of the 5536 216 26,16% 42 900
Supervisory Boarc

Kalev Jarvelill Member of the 4 924 966 23,27% 42 900
Supervisory Boarc

Toivo Ninnas Member of the 1 303 900 6,16% 42 900
Supervisory Boarc

Mare Puusaag Member of the 1 000 0,00% 6 000
Supervisory Boarc

Number of shares Stock options

Name in Tallink  Holding % in Tallink

Ain Hanschmidt 4719 494 0,63% 600 000

Eve Pant 781 000 0,11% 600 000

Enn Pant 17 868 562 2,40% 600 000

Kalev Jarvelill 0 0,00% 600 000

Toivo Ninnas 3668 770 0,49% 600 000

Mare Puusaag 140 000 0,02% 0

11.8. Earnings per Share

12 months 2024 12 months 2023

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 191 253 293 778
(thousands EUR)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 20443 629 20 100 00C
Ordinary earnings per share (EUR)* 9,36 14,62
Number of options issued 534 300 662 250
Purchase price in the options contract (EUR) 0,10 0,10
Average market price (EUR) 39 26
Number of shares that would've been issued at market 1370 2547
price

Weighted average number of shares 20976 559 20 759 703
Diluted earnings per share (EUR) 9,12 14,15

As of 31.12.2024, Infortar holds 722,610 own shares (945,000 as of 31.12.2023). The weighted
average number of shares is calculated by subtracting the own shares from the total number of
shares.
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11.9. Principles of Capital Management

N6 IW] | YeGkt WHet RUIDF T W ql ¢qldN! WRY WqYWJI+G¢eUI WYeaqt R
in existing markets (Finland, Latvia, and Lithuania) and entering new markets (Poland, Germany).

In addition, investment opportunities are being sought in graeenergy and real estate segments,

Gl Y2RT UT W6 WWRU21t qa W0qt WedRNUWs R Wqd1JW] | Ye Gkt |
existing Group structure.

The growth of energy sales volumes abroad requires ongoing investments, including investments

RUOWs YI t RUNWHAE GRaq ¢ 0 OWN 6 13 WN fMandgahyent iH op neintHinlsoffieiek + LWs Y | t
buffers to capitalize on market opportunities and to protect the Group against potential market

price fluctuations. Most of the profit generated by the subsidiaries of the Infortar Group is planned

to be reinvested intobusiness growth and to maintain sufficient reserves. It should also be noted
qécqlid Yt qWYnlWagd W] | Ye Gkt WGI YnRaqWRY We!l UT WH! WE I
to the shareholders if desired. Other subsidiaries have limited capacity to payiddends.

Financial management of the Infortar Group is centralized, and the Group supports subsidiaries
with short-term liquidity needs through an internal group account system. However, subsidiaries
remain independently responsible for their sales and financial reults and enter into contracts
with customers themselves. The supervisory boards of the subsidiaries regularly monitor the
achievement of these independent sales and financial targets.

Given the circumstances described above and the specific nature of the subsidiaries outlined
below, there are no current plans or possibilities to distribute dividends from them in the near
future.

The Infortar Group does not foresee any changes to its capital management principles in the near
future and continues to follow its business strategy when entering into new shoraind long-term
loan agreements.
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NOTE12. REVENUE

12 months 12 months

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023 NOTE
Total revenue 1371775 1084 626
Revenue from hedging instruments 18 433 80 448
Revenue from customer contracts 1354 237 1004178
Revenue from customer contracts by type:
Passenger and freight transport 290 229 0
Energy sales 940 699 934 220
Lease and rental of real estate 8793 13497 85,15
Intermediation of utility services for real estate objec 737 880
The revenue from chartering services 30 708 6 556
Agricultural produce 7 362 0
Sale of construction and repair services 51 527 29 619
Printed products 9747 6 928
Taxi services 2119 2355
Management of sports facilities 1090 1126
Sale of minerals and construction materials 4641 5710
Retail and wholesale 2091 2317
Income from services for maritime passengers 324 293
Other services 3275 677
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Total revenue in companies under Infortars control 1371775 1084626
Maritime transport 316 764 0
Energy 966 180 1021523
Real estate 9354 14 379
Supporting businesses 79 477 48 724
Total sales revenue in all segments, including affiliated 1840233 1919609
companies
incl. maritime transport 785 222 834 983

P WeOUWRFHVGqRYUAWqS W] | Ye Gkt Wn Riydne Startiigifford 1L Y G RT ¢ q
2Net qW=ZM=ZNOWc Y5201 AWUNMMEWYnWNecaGa ROt kt W 3213021
which includes a comparison with the consolidated report, as well a in this Note 12.2(p. 159).

12.3. Sales Revenue by Geographical Regions

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Estonia 803 338 541 665
Finland 364 675 303 451
Lithuania 55 026 131 651
Latvia 137 513 103 680
Rest of the European Union 10573 3802
Countries not in the EU 651 376
Total 1371775 1084 626
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Tallink uses shipping routes as segments for the geographical distribution of maritime revenue.
In this report, the consolidatable maritime revenue has been allocated to geographical segments
based on the country of departure of the vessels (Finland for ¢hFinlandrSweden route and
Estonia for other routes).

12.4. Customer Agreement Balances
The following table provides an overview of contractual assets and contractual liabilities with
customers.

(in thousands of euros) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE
Trade receivables
Remaining term up to 12 months 155 351 162 576
Remaining term 1-5 years 531 5
Prepayments received 31126 3099
Future income from connection fees 34 162 25017

12.5. Connection Fees

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Future income from connection fees in the beginning of the period 25017 13023
Connection fees received 636 224
Connection fees received due to acquisitions 9580 13621
Connection fees recognised as income -1 071 -1851
Future income from connection fees at the end of the period 34162 25017

NOTE B. OPERATING EXENSES

13.1. Cost of Sales (Goods, Services)

(thousands of euros) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023 NOTE
Raw materials -752 895 -779 979
write-down and write-off of inventories -9 758 -19
Goods bought for reselling -79 719 -7513
Services bought for reselling -122 320 -57 958
Energy -1 320 -720
Fuel -28 311 -731
Subcontracting -72 501 -37 821
Transport expenses -11 734 -2 515
Miscellaneous office expenses -6 158 -3 227
Allowance for doubtful receivables -118 -342
Labor costs -98 993 -23874 134
Depreciation and amortisation -54 481 -14 348 8
Travel expenses -3048 0
Other -1791 -6 106
Total -1 243 147 -935 153

The cost of goodspurchased for resale, cost of services, subcontracting costs, office expenses,

GUI+ YOUDGWI+GUUL 3t aWl UG DARecqRYUAWe UT WY q6 31 WI* G
D+ GOt 3t WRUOWFf UnYIl qc¢l kKt WHRYUL YORT ¢ qliDetemBedZ0PAH R ¢ O LW a
following its addition to the Group on 1 August 2024. No other significant increases in expenses

occurred during the reporting period.
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The cost of services purchased for resale mainly includes electricity and gas brokerage by
Elenger, utility expenses brokered by real estate entities, and subcontracting costs brokered by
construction entities.

13.2. Marketing Expenses

(thousands of euros) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023 NOTE
Labor costs -10 419 -859 13.4
Depreciation expense -866 -70 8
Advertising expenses -7 229 0
Other -2 572 -691
Total -21 086 -1 620

Al YOUROGWW+EkGUUOt Wt WRUARI PDet DT WT a2 WWaqYWqédW RUAG e
consolidated financial statements for the period AugustDecember 2024. No other significant
increases in personnel expenses were noted during the reporting period.

13.3. General Administrative Expenses

(thousands of euros) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023 NOTE
Office expenses -7 897 -287
Travel expenses -1 408 -81
Labor costs -31725 -17598 134
Amortisation cost -3 264 -1 163 8
Other -6 144 -2 956
Total -50 438 -22 085

Various office expenses, personnel expenses, and other expenses increased due to the inclusion
YnWRedaRUt Kkt WW+GUWUL W WRUOWTf UnY!l qel kt WHRYUITYORT ¢ ql
December 2024. No other significant increases in these expense categes were observed during

the reporting period.

13.4. Labour Costs

(thousands of euros) 31.12.24 31.12.23 NOTE
Number of employees in the company 6 228 1308
including employees under employment 6174 1265
contracts
Members of management or supervisory 54 43
bodies
(thousands of euros) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023 NOTE
Total calculated remuneration -102 006 -31 294
Payroll taxes -39 131 -9 428
Total labor costs -141 137 -40 722

At YOUROWW+EGUUOt Wt WRUARI et DT WT e WWaqYWqélW RUAG e
consolidated financial statements for the period AugustrDecember 2024. No other material
increases were recorded in personnel expenses during the reporting period.
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NOTE 14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

14.1. Accounting Classification and Fair Values

Fair value
As at 31.12.24 Fair vqlue - Financial asSets 5iher financial
(in thousands of EUR) hedging atamortised liabilities Total  Level2 Level3
instruments cost

Financial assets measured at fair value
Derivatives - swaps for buying and selling natural gas 11547 0 0 11547 11 547 0
and electricity

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Loans issued 0 7 147 0 7147 7147
Trade and other receivables (Note 7) 233538 0 233538 kk rork
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 0 167 579 0 167 579 hk rkk
TOTAL 0 408 264 0 408 264
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives - swaps for buying and selling natural gas -29 173 0 0 -29 173 -29173
and electricity
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Overdraft and loans (Note 10)** 0 -1173831 -1173831 - -1173831
Lease liabilities (Note 10) 0 0 -49 456 -49 456 0 -49 456
Trade and other payables (Note 7) 0 -237 265 -237 265 kk rokk
TOTAL 0 0 -1 460 552 -1 460 552

* Does not include liabilities to employees

** |In the opinion of management, the fair value of floating rate bank loans and overdrafts did not differ from their carryargount, as the credit spreads
were in line with market levels as at the end of the reporting period.

*** The Group has not disclosed the fair values of financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, trade receivahlether receivables, trade
payables, and other payables, as their carrying amounts are approximately equal to their fair values.
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Fair value
As at 31.12.23 Fairvalue - Financial assets q o\ gnancial
(in thousands of EUR) hedging at amortised Total Level2 Level 3

. liabilities
instruments cost

Financial assets measured at fair value
Derivatives - swaps for buying and selling natural gas 29 852 0 0 29852 29852 0
and electricity

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Loans issued 0 9 065 0 9 065 9 065
Trade and other receivables (Note 7) 198 715 0 198 715 ok okk
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 0 87 115 0 87 115 kk rkk
TOTAL 0 294 895 0 294895
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives - swaps for buying and selling natural gas -3 845 0 0 -3845 -3845
and electricity
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Overdraft and loans (Note 10)** 0 0 -430 669 -430 669 - -430 669
Lease liabilities (Note 10) 0 0 -10 491 -10 491 0 -10 491
Trade and other payables (Note 7) 0 0 -125625 -125625 kk ok
TOTAL 0 0 -566 785 -566 785

* Does not include liabilities to employees

** In the opinion of management, the fair value of floating rate bank loans and overdrafts did not differ from their carryargount, as the credit spreads
were in line with market levels as at the end of the reporting period.

*** The Group has not disclosed the fair values of financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, trade receivahlether receivables, trade
payables, and other payables, as their carrying amounts are approximately equal to their fair values.
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14.2. Measurement of fair values

. . L Significant
Financial assets and liabilities . .
. Valuation technique unobservable
measured at fair value .
inputs
L - The fair value is determined using
Derivative financial instruments - .
. . settlement prices for futures contracts
swap contracts for buying and selling . -
at ICE Endex market at the reporting
natural gas
date
The fair value is determined based on
T - the observed market prices of Nasdaq
Derivative financial instruments - - o
. . electricity futures, historical Nasdaq
swap contracts for buying and selling . ) -
. and Nordpool electricity prices, border
electricity . . :
capacity auction prices, and feedback
from market participants
Derivative financial instruments -  The fair value is determined based on i
currency exchange forwards forward rates
Financial liabilities not measured
at fair value
Discounted cash flows: the valuation
Loans, overdrafts and lease model considers the present value of Interest rates of
liabilities expected payments, discounted using ¢  borrowings

risk-adjusted discount rate

14.3. Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to the following financial risks arising from financial instruments:

n  Credit risk
n  Liquidity risk
n  Market risk

The Management Board of the parent company is responsible for establishing and regularly

| D2RUs RUNWq6 W] 1 YeGkt WI Rt WGeUenNWGUWUqWNI ¢aGWls YIt
management program is to mitigate financial risks and reduce the volatility ofrfancial results in

YITUl WgYWa RURGRANDWGYqUWUaqReGWET 2131+ DWInneEaqt WY U LWa
NGWUW] I YeGkt W Rt WacUenNWaWUqWeHqR2RQRIJY WnY#Hzt WyOL
appropriate risk limits and controls, and monitoring compliance with those limits. The
BnnWDEqR2I0UH t WYNWq6JW] | Ye Gkt WI R termslistovetséen dnd 1J U q W ¢ C
assessed by the Supervisory Board.

14.3.1. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. This risk primarily arises from the

]I YeGkt Wal ¢T IWI WHIJR2 ¢ HT IJtakihdutd expogunestdd dredit riskHdXife2 ¢ H G 13
carrying amount of the financial assets.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Trade receivables 155 882 162 581
Interest receivables 450 424
Other receivables and prepayments 33 257 18 646
Receivables from settled derivative instruments 676 5958
Derivative instruments 11 547 29 852
Bank account balances 160 385 87 102
Loans granted 7147 9 065
Total exposure to credit risk 369 344 313628

Tradereceivables and other receivables

N6IWJW] | YeGkt WI+GYt el DY WHI WT RaqlWl Rt t Wn!l YaWwWYeqt q¢ U
individual characteristics of each customer. For business customers, credit assessments are

performed both prior to entering into contracts and regularly dring the term of the agreement.

In the case of residential customers, the gas supplier holding the largest market share within a
network area is legally obligated to supply gassubject to the technical capabilities of the
networky to all household customers connected to that network who vish to purchase gas.

Customer payment behaviour is monitored on a daily basis. Where necessary, additional
measures are applied, such as interim invoices, advance payments, or security deposits. In the
event of overdue receivables, reminder notices are sent and followp contact is made by phone.

If required, debt collection proceedings are initiated either through legal action or by engaging a
collection agency. Gas supply disconnection is permitted in accordance with applicable
legislation after the expiry of the statutory ntice period.

Estimate of expected credit loss on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses on trade receivables
consisting of a large number of balances. The impairment rates are based on historical credit loss
experience and are calculated separately for different risk exposuge segmented by geographic
region and type of goods or services.

Where necessary, the historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forwarkboking
information on macroeconomic conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not observed any deterioration in customer payment
behaviour.

As at 31 December 2024 Weighted average Carrying Calculated

(in thousands of EUR) loss rate amount impairment

Accounts receivables not yet due 0,10% 147 260 140
1-30 days past due 0,74% 5979 44
31-179 days past due 4,57% 2081 95
More than 180 days past due 85,77% 562 482
Total accounts receivable (Note 12) 155 882 761
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As at 31 December 2023 Weighted average Carrying Calculated
(in thousands of EUR) loss rate amount impairment
Accounts receivables not yet due 0,02% 150 426 37
1-30 days past due 0,14% 11 014 15
31-179 days past due 9,93% 695 69
More than 180 days past due 80,27% 446 358
Total accounts receivable (Note 12) 162 581 479
(in thousands of EUR)
Doubtful receivables 31.12.24  31.12.23
Doubtful receivables for natural gas and network services, incl.
business consumers -204 -330
household consumers -23 -37
Doubtful receivables for other goods and services -65 -112
Total doubtful receivables (Note 12) -292 -479
Change in doubtful receivables 2024 2023
Allowance for doubtful receivables at the beginning of the period -479 -175
Classified as doubtful and collected during the accounting period -488 -343
Classified as irrecoverable 206 39
Allowance for doubtful receivables at the end of the period -761 -479

7¢U0t WRz21 | JUqWeHAY2 Uqt W WG Ut D0qWaqéJW] | Ye Gkt WeE2¢F
]I YeGkt WHet 6 wWe Ul WHet 6 WDhve R2¢ 0 Uqt Wel WWGI RGeI RO! |
have an Al credit rating. Based on the credit ratings assigned tbese financial institutions,

management considers that the Group is not exposed to significant credit risk in respect of cash

and cash equivalents.

14.3.2. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties in meeting its financial
YHORNEqRYUY Wet Wad ! WnedadWl 2lAWl e RI RUNWa6 IWal ¢
liquidity management policy is to ensure, as far as possiblehe availability of sufficient liquidity

to meet its obligations on time, both under normal conditions and in stressed circumstances,
sRaq6VYe qWRUHz I | RUNWa UcHHNDGQEHT WG Y+ 3t WYl Wl ¢d¢nNRC
Long-term liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group may not have sufficient free cash or other

sources of liquidity to meet future funding needs related to the execution of its business plan and

the settlement of its obligations, or that the Group may need to raise funds urgently, potentially

at higher cost.

Short-term liquidity risk is mitigated by maintaining a buffer of available cash in bardccounts to
cover potential deviations from cash flow forecasts. To ensure sufficient liquidity, the Group has
entered into overdraft agreements, factoring agreements, and working capital loan agreements.
Short-term financing needs may arise particularlyri connection with the purchase of natural gas
for storage.

For financing investments in various equipment, the Group has entered into lease agreements.
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As at 31 December 2024, the equity of certain subsidiaries within the Infortar Group was negative.

[ YOWq6UIW] I YeGkt WGWI +t GURqR2UDAW qd6 W ¢ G Y@ &hgt Wel JU

development-phase capital expenditures. These are expected to be covedeby future operating

profits. If necessary, the parent company is prepared to increase the share capital of the

respective subsidiaries.

The table below presents the contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, classified by maturity. The amounts disclosed are gross and
undiscounted and include contractual interest payments.

For loans with variable interest rates, overdrafts, and lease liabilities, interest payments have
been calculated based on the interest rates applicable at the reporting date. These amounts are
subject to change if market interest rates fluctuate.

The Group's significant financing agreements include covenants. In the event of namompliance,
such breaches can be remedied within the agreedipon cure period.

As at 31.12.24

Carrying
(in thousands of EUR) amount Balance sheet value for liabilities
more

1-6 7-12 than 5
Non-derivative financial liabilities Total months months 1-5years years
Bank loans (Note 10.1.) 1130441 -1130441 -412725 -41 047 -676 669 0
Bank overdraft (Note 43 390 -43 390 -43 390 0 0 0
10.1)
Lease liabilities 49 456 -49 456 -4961 -4059 -37334 -3102
(Note 10.1.)
Trade and other payables 201127 -201127 -200726 0 -401 0
(Note 7.3.)
Total non-derivative 1424 414 -1424 414 -661802 -45106 -714404  -3102
financial liabilities
Derivatives
Outflow 29175 -46 664 -37576  -4674 -3414 0
Inflow 0 16 489 8489 6057 1943 0
Total derivatives 29175 -29175 -29 087 1383 -1471 -
(Note 14.4.)
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As at 31.12.23

Carrying
(in thousands of EUR) amount Balance sheet value for liabilities
more

1-6 7-12 than 5
Non-derivative financial liabilities Total months months 1-5years years
Bank loans (Note 10.1.) 400 142 -400142 -136712 -17 020 -246 410 0
Bank overdraft (Note 30527 -30527 -30527 0 0 0
10.1.)
Lease liabilities 10491 -10 491 -971 -795 -5623 -3102
(Note 10.1.)
Trade and other payables 118621 -118621 -118424 0 -197 0
(Note 7.3.)
Total non-derivative 559781 -559781 -286634 -17 815 -252230 -3102
financial liabilities
Derivatives
Outflow 3845 -4 984 -3 657 -412 -915 0
Inflow 0 1139 408 2 729 0
Total derivatives 3845 -3845 -3 249 -410 -186 -
(Note 14.4.)

As at the reporting date, information related to the settlement of financial liabilities is disclosed
in Note 10.1 on borrowinggp. 151).

14.3.3. Market risks

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Financial assets and liabilities denominated
in euros are considered free of currency risk if the entity'&unctional currency is the euro. The
Group does not have significant financial assets or liabilities that are exposed to currency risk.

Price Risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate

due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk.

N6WJW] I YeGkt WnRUecUBRE O WE WIIRGH tlHoW NALDLWN al LM GekYH WDT dLRyGYL
risks arise from fixedprice gas sales contracts, floatingprice gas sales, and floatingprice

electricity purchase agreements.

To hedge against these risks, the Group uses derivative instrumentiatural gas and electricity
purchase and sale swap contracts. These swaps are contracted for the purchase or sale of a
specific quantity of gas or electricity per hour, with prices denomiated in euros.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent the hedge is effective.
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Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market pricgssuch as commodity prices, foreign

exchange rates, interest rates, or equity pricegs RGO G WU nn I HqWaq6 W] | Ye Gkt WRUH

investments in financial instruments. The objective of market risk inagement is to control and

maintain exposures within acceptable limits while optimizing returns.

Hedge Effectiveness and Derivatives

A hedging relationship qualifies as effective if there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes, and the hedge ratio reflects the actual quantities of hedsd items and hedging
instruments used by the Group. The Group aims to maintain a hedge ratio close to 1:1 (i.e. 100%).

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness may include differences in the notional amounts, underlying
assets, or reference prices of the hedged items and hedging instruments.Changes in the fair value
of other derivative transactions that do not qualify for hedge amunting are recognized through
profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had entered into natural gas purchase and sale swap
contracts totaling -1,899,919 MWh for the years 202#2028 (31 December 2023:308,488 MWh
for the years 20242027), and electricity purchase and sale swap contracts totahg 1,254 MWh
for the years 20242027 (31 December 2023: 67,163 MWh for the same period).

The fair values of these instruments are determined based on ICE Endex and NordPool market
guotations.

Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

9¢t 6WNAYs WRUQII Wt qlul ¢ Wl RY t WEl RE WE Wnl YO LWa6 1wl |
relates to the risk thatn RU¢ U WHYt gt Ws RGOGWRUHI W¢t JWRNWRUqIII 13t
risk is primarily associated with its short and long-term borrowings (Note 10).

b WE qWONW? DRIAGHDI WEMZNAWqE DWs JRNEqIT We 2131 ¢ DIWRUq
(31 December 2023: 5.20%). A change of 3 percentage points in the weighted average interest
l ¢cqUlWs Yedl W6c2P0Wen nIHqIT Waé6 JW] b.¥thoGsand (POAI:dEUFRG | Y'n R q) |
13,025.5 thousand).
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Nominal amounts, quantities, and average contract prices of cash flow hedging
instruments per MWh
1-6 7-12 more than

31. December 2024 (in thousands of EUR) months months 1 year Total
Nominal amount of swap contracts to hedge the 5990 5179 2740 13 909
price risk of gas sales at a fixed price

Nominal amount of swap contracts to hedge the -30 224 0 0 -30224
price risk of gas sales at a floating price

Total nominal amount of swap contracts for -24234 5179 2740 -16 315
buying and selling natural gas (Note 17)

Nominal amount of swap contracts for buying -629 -1646 -815 -3 090
electricity

Nominal amount of swap contracts for selling -437 -7 -159 -603
electricity

Total nominal amount of swap contracts for -1 066 -1653 -974 -3 693
buying and selling electricity (Note 17)

Nominal amount of currency exchange -54 0 -2 -56

forwards (Note 17)

Quantity of swap contracts to hedge the price risk 215676 364 253 627 740 1 207 669
of gas sales at a fixed price (MWh)

Quantity of swap contracts to hedge the price risk -3 107 588 0 0 -3107 588
of gas sales at a floating price (MWh)

Total quantity of swap contracts for buyingand -2 891 912 364 253 627 740-1 899 918
selling natural gas (MWh)

Quantity of swap contracts for buying electricity 461831 341728 315360 1118919
(MWh)

Quantity of swap contracts for selling electricity -289 543 -223 682 -604 440-1117 665
(MWh)

Total quantity of swap contracts for buying and 172 288 118 046 -289 080 1254
selling natural gas (MWh)

Average price of swap contracts to hedge the 32 32 33
price risk of gas sales at a fixed pricé&/MWh)

Average price of swap contracts to hedge the 38 0 0
price risk of gas sales at a floating pricéx/MWh)

Average price of swap contracts for buying 41 34 52
electricity (k/MWh)

Average price of swap contracts for selling 56 48 36

electricity (k/MWh)

The electricity purchase swap contracts include EPADs (Electricity Price Area Differentials);
therefore, the average price presented does not reflect the total fixed price.
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1-6 7-12 more than

31. December 2023 (in thousands of EUR) months months 1 year Total
Nominal amount of swap contracts to hedge the -22855 -4 565 883  -26 537
price risk of gas sales at a fixed price

Nominal amount of swap contracts to hedge the 51 920 0 210 52130
price risk of gas sales at a floating price

Nominal amount of swap contracts to hedge the -599 0 0 -599
price risk of gas purchases for storage

Total nominal amount of swap contracts for 28 466 -4 565 1093 24 994
buying and selling natural gas (Note 17)

Nominal amount of swap contracts for buying elec 326 531 - 857
Nominal amount of swap contracts for selling elec 155 312 -153 314
Total nominal amount of swap contracts for 481 843 -153 1171

buying and selling electricity (Note 17)
Quantity of swap contracts to hedge the price risk 1 644 606 357 531 225863 2228 000
of gas sales at a fixed price (MWh)

Quantity of swap contracts to hedge the price risk -2 776 488 - -105000 -2 881 488
of gas sales at a floating price (MWh)
Quantity of swap contracts to hedge the price risk 345 000 - - 345000

of gas purchases for storage (MWh)

Total quantity of swap contracts for buying and -786 882 357531 120863 -308 488
selling natural gas (MWh)

Quantity of swap contracts for buying electricity (N 144 345 101 591 - 245936
Quantity of swap contracts for selling electricity (N -12 664 -12 809 -153300 -178773
Total quantity of swap contracts for buying and 131681 88782 -153300 67 163
selling natural gas (MWh)

Average price of swap contracts to hedge the 47 47 30
price risk of gas sales at a fixed pric&/MWh)

Average price of swap contracts to hedge the 52 - 40
price risk of gas sales at a floating pricé&/MWNh)

Average price of swap contracts to hedge the 38 - -
price risk of gas purchases for storag€x/MWh)

Average price of swap contracts for buying electri 33 14

Average price of swap contracts for selling electri 117 117 3

The electricity purchase swap contracts include EPADs (Electricity Price Area Differentials);
therefore, the average price presented does not reflect the total fixed price.

14.4. Derivatives

NEWUW] I YeGkt WI Wl R2¢qR21IWHYUqI ¢cHqt Wel Wt eATUHqWq
offsetting of financial assets and liabilities with the same counterparty in the statement of
financial position.
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(in thousands of EUR) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Non-current derivative financial instruments Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Swap contracts for buying and selling natural gas 2954 -235 1092 0
incl. derivative financial instruments for which 2 864 -124 1092 0
hedge accounting is applied

incl. swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas 2 864 -124 882 0
sales at a fixed price

incl. swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas - - 210 0
sales at a floating price

Swap contracts for buying and selling electricity 260 -1234 33 -186
incl. derivative financial instruments for which 260 -1234 33 -186
hedge accounting is applied

Currency exchange forwards - -2

Current derivative financial instruments

Swap contracts for buying and selling natural gas 4672 -23 257 27 347 -3 445
incl. derivative financial instruments for which 2982 -22 037 27 347 -3 445
hedge accounting is applied

incl. swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas 3142 8 027 -23310 -4 109
sales at a fixed price

incl. swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas -160 -30 064 51224 696
sales at a floating price

incl. swap contracts to hedge the price risk of gas - - -567 -32
purchases for storage

Swap contracts for buying and selling electricity 3661 -4393 1380 -56
incl. derivative financial instruments for which 1097 -3816 1380 -56
hedge accounting is applied

Currency exchange forwards - -54 0 -158
Total derivative financial instruments (Note 24) 11547 -29 173 29852 -3 845

The purpose of the natural gas purchase and sale swap contracts is to hedge against the risk of
changes in natural gas purchase prices and the value of sales transactions. The purpose of the
electricity purchase and sale swap contracts is to hedge againghe risk of changes in electricity
purchase prices.

The fair value of natural gas purchase and sale swap contracts is determined based on settlement
prices of futures contracts traded on the ICE Endex market as at the reporting date.

The fair value of electricity purchase and sale swap contracts is determined based on the
settlement prices in the Nord Pool market for the Estonian and Latvian price areas as at the
reporting date.

Equity sensitivity analysis for derivative instruments

10% increase ir 10% decrease ir
Equity (in thousands of EUR) settlement prices settlement prices
31 December 2024
Derivative financial instruments -2 403 2 403
31 December 2023
Derivative financial instruments 8 662 -8 662
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NOTE b. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or a company who is related to the group to the extent that transactions
between them do not necessarily take place under marketonditions.

A person or their close family member is a related party if that person:
(a) is a member of the management of Infortar or its parent company; or
(b) has a controlling or significant influence over Infortar.

The company is a related party if at least one of the following applies:

a) the company and Infortar are under the same dominant influence;

b) one company is controlled by a third party and the other company is under a significant
influence of the aforementioned third party;

¢) the company has adominant or significant influence over Infortar;

d) the company is under a dominant or significant influence of Infortar;

e) companies where a member of the management of Infortar (or their close family
members) has a controlling or significant influence;

f) companies where persons who are members of the management (or their close family
members) have a controlling or significant influence over Infortar.

In order to determine the potential relationships between the related parties, the substance of
the respective relationships must also be taken into consideration, not only the legal form
thereof.

The group has made transactions with related parties, and the group's balances with related
parties are:

15.2. Related party transactions

(in thousands of EUR) related party 2024 2023
Goods and services solt (Note 12) Affiliated undertakings 25638 11 396
Lease of real estate Affiliated undertakings 12 005 12 699
Total sales to related parties 37643 24095
Calculated interest Affiliated undertakings 374 527
Goods and services purchased Affiliated undertakings 2 492 627
Interest expense Members of the management anc 691 646

supervisory boards anc
companies associated with them
Total purchases from related parties 3183 1273
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15.3. Balances of related parties

15.3. Balances of related parties

Receivables 31.12.24 31.12.23
Receivables from the sale of goods anc Affiliated undertakings 12 2370
services (Note 7)

Loan and interest receivables (Note 7, Affiliated undertakings 7501 9391
10)

Liabilities

Payables for the purchase of goods anc Affiliated undertakings 908 16

services (Note 7)
Loan and interest liabilities (Note 10)  Members of the managementanc 30100 8 900
supervisory boards anc
companies associated with them

Calculated renumeration for the members of the management and 3458 4122
supervisory boards of the companies in the group
Including calculated renumeration for the members of the management 1091 1469

and supervisory boards of the group

Remuneration accrued to the members of the Management and Supervisory Boards includes
base salaries, vacation pay, bonusesallowances, and compensation. Payments are subject to a
33% social tax obligation. More detailed information is provided in the Remuneration Report.

In 2024, 224,400 shares were sold to members of the Management Board and employees under
q6WNWHYAGGEU! Kt W 8¢l DWYGqRYUWGI YNI ¢GWeqlle Ws IRNGqlIT
information on share-based payments is disclosed in Note 11p. 153).

Transactions related to share capital are disclosed in Note 11, and investments in subsidiaries
are disclosed in Note Yp. 144).

Transactions with related parties consist of services purchased and sold in the ordinary course
of business with related entities.

NOTE B. BALANCE SHEET OF THE PARENT COMPANY

16.1. Accounting Principles

Pursuant to the Accounting Act of the Republic of Estonia, the notes to the consolidated annual
accounts must disclose the unconsolidated main statements of the consolidating entity (parent
company) separately (statement of financial position, income statenent, cash flow statement,
and statement of changes in equity). When preparing the main financial statements of the parent
company, the same accounting policies have been followed as in the case of the consolidated
annual accounts, except in the case of imestments in subsidiaries and affiliated undertakings,
which are recognised at cost (less writedowns) in the unconsolidated report. Infortar manages
liquidity at the group level and negative working capital is covered with monetary means on the
group acoount.
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16.2. Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands of EUR

ASSETS 31.12.24 31.12.23
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 40 180 44 495
Short-term financial investments 1 1
Trade and other receivables 1992 5186
Loans granted 5921 0
Total current assets 48 094 49 682
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments to subsidiaries 189 605 28413
Investments to associates 4 827 45 853
Other financial assets 16 976 25241
Real estate investments 8123 7 998
Tangible non-current assets 1164 1331
Total non-current assets 220 695 108 836
TOTAL ASSETS 268 789 158 518
LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loan and leasing obligations 149 831 32471
Payables to suppliers 86 940
Prepayments 23 15
Other current liabilities 2484 1704
Total current liabilities 152 424 35130
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loan and lease obligations 68 140 53380
Total non-current liabilities 68 140 53 380
TOTAL LIABILITIES 220564 88510
EQUITY

Share capital 2117 2105
Own shares =72 -95
Share premium 32 484 29 344
Reserve capital 212 205
Option reserve 5540 3864
Retained earnings -26 419 -7 271
Net profit 34 363 41 856
Total equity 48 225 70 008
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 268 789 158 518
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16.3. Income Statement of the Parent

(in thousands of euros) 12 months 2024 12 months 2023
Revenue 6 493 5761
Cost of sales -82 -70
Gross profit 6411 5691
Administrative expenses -10 116 -10 592
Revaluation result of real estate investments 59 -770
Other operating income 21 0
Other operating expenses -43 -6
Operating profit -3 668 -5678
Profit (loss) from investments accounted for by -5 003 -490

equity method
Financial income and expenses

Interest expense -7 666 -3 801
Interest gain 8 644 6 013
Other financial income and expenses -1 206 0
Received dividend 43 262 45 812
Total financial income and expenses 38 031 47 534
Net profit of the financial year 34 363 41 856
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16.4. Cash Flow Statement

(thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net profit/loss 34 363 41 856

Adjustments

Profit/loss from financial investments -37 053 -51 335
Change in fair value of investment properties -59 770
Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets 326 94
Interest expenses -978 3801
Profit/loss from fixed assets -21 0
Change in receivables and prepayments related to opere 3178 -2 580
Change in liabilities related to operating activities 1117 2116
Total cash flow from operating activities 873 -5278

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Purchases of associates 0 -10 314
Purchase, sale and/or capital expansion of subsidiaries -126 375 -5 062
Given loans 0 0
Paybacks from given loans 2344 25105
Dividends received 43 262 45812
Interest received 6 877 5769
Purchases of investment properties -67 -805
Purchases of property, plant and equipment -167 -1126
Proceeds from sale of real estate investments and fixed 30 0
Total change in cash flow from investing activities -74 096 59 379

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Gain from share emission 3174 29 464
Changes in overdraft -7 640 -19 153
Proceeds from borrowings 141 200 900
Repayments of borrowings -1 440 -1 440
Interest paid -4 222 -3 627
Dividends paid -60 997 -15 750
Total change in cash flow from financing activities 68 908 -9 606
Total net cash flow -4 315 44 495
Cash at the beginning of the year 44 495 0
Cash at the end of the period 40 180 44 495
Net decrease/increase in cash -4 315 44 495
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16.5. Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Option Reserve Retained
(in thousands of EUR) Share Capital Premium Own Shares Reserve Capital Earnings Total
Balance 01.01.23 1985 0 -95 1650 205 8 479 12 224
Share capital expansion 120 29 344 0 0 0 0 29 464
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 -15 750 -15 750
Stock options 0 0 0 2214 0 0 2214
Net profit 0 0 0 0 0 41 856 41 856
Balance 31.12.23 2 105 29 344 -95 3 864 205 34 585 70 008
Share capital expansion 12 3140 0 0 0 0 3152
Statutory reserve capital increase 0 0 0 0 7 -7 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 -60 997 -60 997
Stock options 0 0 23 1676 0 0 1699
Net profit 0 0 0 0 0 34 363 34 363
Balance 31.12.24 2117 32484 -72 5540 212 7944 48 225
Adjusted Unconsolidated Equity Calculation as of 31.12.24 31.12.24 31.12.23
Unconsolidated equity 48 225 70 008
Carrying value of associates -194 432 -74 266
Fair value of associates by equity method 1 055 960 823 121
Adjusted unconsolidated equity 909 753 818 863
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NOTE T. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 6 January 2025, Infortar announced its decision to exit the taxi services business segment and
initiated the liquidation of Tallink Takso AS.

On 31 January 2025, as part of an intrigroup reorganisation, Infortar announced that on the same
date, Tallinna Raamatutriikikoja OU (TRT) acquired the shares of AS Vaba Maa's subsidiary, AS

Printon, from AS Vaba Maa, and acquired the shares of AS Vaba M@an Infortar. As a result of
these transactions, both AS Vaba Maa and AS Printon continue as subsidiaries of Tallinna
Raamatutriikikoja OU.

b We qagé Wl ¢ qlWYnWGI WGel RUNWqé IWn RU¢ URARtedmt a¢ aqldd
AYl I Ys RUNDt wWRUW YqUWWNMWeUT Wadé¢aqel RUNWRUW=M=ZPWs I |
EUR 9,074 thousand to 2030.

On 2 April 2025, Tallink announced that it had signed a sale agreement for the vessel Starl with
Irish Continental Group plc.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
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To the Shareholders of Aktsiaselts Infortar

(Translation of the Estonian original)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Stateme

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aktsiaselts Infortaranditss ubsi di ari es (f
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated income
statement and statement of comprehensive income, consolidated cash flow statement and consolidated statement
of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the A#&idancialo
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (Estonia) (including International Independence Standards), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Value of the ships and buildings included in property, plant and equipment

Refer to notes 3.6 (accounting policies for property, plant and equipment), 4.1 (fair value measurement), 4.3
(uncertainty of assumptions and estimates) and 8.2 (non-current assets measured at fair value) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
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The groupds pr equipmehtynclude I

A ships, which are measured at revalued amounts
(i.e. at fair value less depreciation charged
subsequent to the date of the revaluation). The

carrying amount of t h g

December 2024 was EUR 1,175,177 thousand;

A buildings, which are measured at revalued
amounts (i.e. at fair value less depreciation
charged subsequent to the date of the
revaluation). The carr
buildings as at 31 December 2024 was
EUR 139,990 thousand.

The group measures the fair value of the above
assets using the market (sales comparison)
approach or the discounted cash flow method.

The fair value of the ships depends on many factors,
including changes in the fleet composition, current
and forecast market values and technical factors,
which may affect the expected useful lives of the
assets and therefore could have a material impact on
any impairment or depreciation charge for the year.
In order to assess the fair value of the ships, the
groupds ma n a g etlme assistances ef
independent appraisers.

Using the discounted cash flow method for the
valuation of buildings is inherently subjective, and
judgements and estimates must be made when
choosing and applying the valuation methodology
and assumptions. The
engages certified independent appraisers each year
to determine the fair values of the buildings
measured at fair value.

We have identified the carrying amount of the non-
current assets measured at fair value as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and because applying the
groupos accounting pol i
significant judgements by management relating to
the nature, timing and likelihood of changes in the
factors noted above which may affect both the
carrying amo un tnonectirrent dssets
measured at fair value as well the depreciation
charge for the current year and future years.

Our audit procedures in the area of the fair value of the
ships and buildings included, among others:

A assessing the methodologies used by the external
appraisers to estimate the fair values of the assets;

A evaluating the external
expertise and objectivity and making inquiries of the
external appraisers regarding the terms of their
engagement to determine whether there were any
circumstances that could affect the independence
of the external appraisers or impose limitations on
their engagement;

A evaluating the historical accuracy of the fair value
estimates of the groupbd
to the transaction prices in prior years;

testing the adequacy of the -capitalised
expenditures of the ships;

analysing the estimates of the useful lives and
residual values of the ships and comparing them to
the published estimates for other international ship
operators;

A verifying the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used to determine the fair value of the
buildings against the relevant requirements of
international financial reporting standards;

A challenging the key assumptions and inputs used to
determine the fair value of the buildings (e.g. rental
growth rates and capitalisation, vacancy and
inflation rates) by reference to our independent
expectations developed based on our experience
withthegr oupbés industry angd

A making alternative calculations for the discount rate
of the buildings (WACC i weighted average cost of
capital) based on available market data and
comparing it to the ra
calculations;

A requesting additional information and explanations
from management regarding the inputs and
assumptions used, where the assumptions used
were outside the expected range or otherwise
unusual, or where the valuation results showed
unexpected movements not consistent with general
trends in the market; and

A assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

Business combinations

Refer to note 9.2 (business combinations) to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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On 6 August 2024, the group announced the results | Our audit procedures in this area included, among
of a voluntary takeover offer regarding the shares of | others:

Tallink Grupp, as a result of which an additional
21.71% of the shares in Tallink Grupp were acquired,
and control of Tallink Grupp was obtained. The
purchase price was EUR 88,768 thousand.

1 verifying the obtaining of control on the basis of the
takeover offer, the purchase agreements, the
agreements under the company law and the criteria
defined in IFRS 10;

On 31 October 2024, I nf
entered into a contract for the purchase of 100% of
the shares in the Polish company EWE Polska
Sp. z 0.0. The acquisition was completed on 19
December 2024 after obtaining all necessary | 1 examining the subsequent recognition of the

1 verifying the correctness of the methodology used
to measure the assets and liabilities recognised in
the business combinations;

regulatory approvals. The purchase price was EUR acquired investments in the consolidated financial
111,771 thousand. statements and the subsequent consolidation
process;

The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed were
recognised at the fair values determined by applying | 1 assessing the fair value of the assets acquired and
the acquisition method. the liabilities assumed and the determination of the

. . . acquisition date;
The allocation of the purchase price to the fair values a

of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed and |  verifying the correctness of the recognition of the
the recognition of the bargain purchase gain require amount of the bargain purchase gain;
management to make significant judgements,

) . i testing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
estimates and assumptions.

used in the discounted cash flow valuation model,
We focused on this area because of the size of the including the cash flow projections and the discount
acquired businesses and the complexity of the rates; and

related estimates. ) .
i assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of the

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the management report (including the consolidated sustainability statement) and the remuneration report, but does
not include the consolidated financi al statements ai

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. In
addition, our responsibility is to state whether the information presented in the management report has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements. With respect to the remuneration
report, our responsibility also includes considering whether the remuneration report has been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of Article 1352 (3) of the Securities Market Act.

We have issued a separate assurance report on the consolidated sustainability statement.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard and we state that the information
presented in the management report is materially consistent with the consolidated financial statements and in
accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements. In our opinion, the remuneration report has been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of Article 135° (3) of the Securities Market Act.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

I n preparing the consolidated financial statements,
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance ar e finaackpeporttg pootess. f or o

Audi torsé6 Responsibilities for the Audit of

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
groupb6s internal control

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of managementds u
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant d oty tb tontioue astalg@ng goncern. fif ve corclhdie that a material
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw ¢
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to t
conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
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timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe thes e matters in our auditorsod6 report
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on Compliance with the Requirements for iXBRL tagging of Consolidated Financial Statements
included within the European Single Electronic Format Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS)

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the iXBRL tagging of the consolidated financial
statements included in the digital files 49300LS1K5S7AWHV603-2024-12-31-et.zip prepared by Aktsiaselts Infortar.

Responsibilities of Management for the Digital Files Prepared in Compliance with the ESEF RTS

Management is responsible for preparing digital files that comply with the ESEF RTS. This responsibility includes:

¢ the selection and application of appropriate iXBRL tags using judgement where necessary;

¢ ensuring consistency between digitised information and the consolidated financial statements presented in
human-readable format; and

¢ the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the application of the ESEF RTS.

Auditors' Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the electronic tagging of the consolidated financial statements
complies in all material respects with the ESEF RTS based on the evidence we have obtained.

We apply the provisions of the International Standard on Quality Management (Estonia) 1 (revised) and accordingly
maintain a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(Estonia) (including International Independence Standards), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

We conducted our reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information (ISAE 3000) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

A reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with ISAE 3000 (Revised) involves performing procedures to
obtain evidence about compliance with the ESEF RTS. The nature, timing and extent of procedures selected depend
on the practiti odngthdassegsmettgpiie nisks of matertal dapartures from the requirements
set out in the ESEF RTS, whether due to fraud or error. A reasonable assurance engagement includes:

¢ obtaining an understanding of the tagging and the ESEF RTS, including of internal control over the tagging
process relevant to the engagement;

¢ reconciling the tagged data with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group dated 31 December

INFORTAR
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2024;
¢ evaluating the completeness of the tagging of the consolidated financial statements;

¢evaluating the appropriateness of the group6s wuse
creation of extension elements where no suitable element in the ESEF taxonomy has been identified;

¢ evaluating the use of anchoring in relation to the extension elements.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements included in the annual report of Aktsiaselts Infortar identified
as 49300LS1K5S7AWHV603-2024-12-31-et.zip for the year ended 31 December 2024 are tagged, in all material
respects, in compliance with the ESEF RTS.

Other Requirements of the Auditors' Report in Accordance with Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the
European Parliament and of the Council

We were appointed by those charged with governance on 20 May 2024 to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Aktsiaselts Infortar Grupp for the year ending 31 December 2024. Our total uninterrupted period of
engagement is 2 years, covering the periods ending 31 December 2023 to 31 December 2024.

We confirm that:

¢ our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report presented to the Audit Committee of the group;

¢ we have not provided to the group the prohibited non-audit services (NASs) referred to in Article 5(1) of EU
Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. We also remained independent of the audited entity in conducting the audit.

Tallinn, 25 April 2025

Isigned digitally/ /signed digitally/

Andris Jegers Lembi Uett

Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
Licence No. 171 Licence No. 566

KPMG Baltics O]
Licence No. 17

YtaD . lFtuAOa hc«
Ahtritn 4
Tallinn 10117

Tel +372 626 8700
www.kpmg.ee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT FOR THE
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

fUT WGUI IJUG]UJ 21 Ra]\"(l Kt Wx RG chIJT W ttel ¢cUBIWALNGYI ql
To the Shareholders of Aktsiaselts Infortar

(Translation of the Estonian original)

Report on theConsolidated Sustainability Statement

Limited Assurance Conclusion

We have conducted a limited assurance engagement on the Consolidated Sustainability Statemel
YnlW tqt RetWDagqt Wf UnVYl qc¢l WeUT WRat W 2 At RIDRa@mberl.
2024 included in theConsolidated Sustainability Report IJHqRYUWY n Waqdé W] | Ye
bl WWhO YUt YORT ¢cqUT WE2t q¢ RUCHRORa! WEqc¢ qlla IUq
Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing has coi
to our attention that causes us to believe that the Consolidated Sustainability Statement is no
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with subsection4 of § 31 of the Estoniar
Accounting Act, which transposes Article 29a of EU Directive 2013/34/EU, including:

1 compliance with the European Sustainability Reporting Standards, including that the
process carried out by the Group to identify the information reported in the Consolidatec
Eet q¢c RUCHROGRq! WEq¢ qlaWUqWbiaqd JWh Al Y thddettigns
Description of the process for identifying and assessing significant impacts, risks, an
opportunities of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement; and

9 that the disclosures in the Information to be disclosed pursuant to Article 8 of Regulatior
(EU) 2020/852 (the Taxonomy Regulatioggction of the chapterEnvironmental Information
of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement comply with Article 8 of EU Regulatio
2020/852.

Basis for Conclusion

We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard o
Assurance Engagements (Estonia) 3000 (Revisedssurance Engagements Other than Audits o
Reviews of Historical Financial Information(ISAE (EE) 3000 (Revised)), issued by the Internatior
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB). Our responsibilities under this standard ¢
further describedinthe 2 T Rq VY| Bt IOAIJt GYUt RART RqRIJt On $ettid@apis
our report.
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We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of thimternational Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standardg)ESBA
Code) issued hy the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, together with the ethic.
requirements that are relevant to limited assurance engagements on sustainability statements il
Estonia.

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Management (Estonia) 1 (Revised) a
accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies
and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professionhstandards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis f
our conclusion.

~¢cUecnUaNUqkt WADY GYUt RARGRQRIJY Wn Yl W6 3w YUt v

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining a process to identify th
information reported in the Consolidated Sustainability Statement in accordance with the
European Sustainability Reporting Standards and for disclosing this prtess in the section
Description of the process for identifying and assessing significant impacts, risks, an
opportunities. This responsibility includes:

T 20T Wt qecU0T RUNDWq6WWHYUqU+FqWRUWs 6 RAG Wa 6 13 LW
place anddeveloping an understanding of its affected stakeholders;

9 identifying the actual and potential impacts (both negative and positive) related tc
sustainability matters, as well as the risks and opportunities that affect, or could reasonably
AUDWU+FGUHERQUT WagYWennDEqAWqS6 IW] | Ye GilelcadnfRwse
access to finance or cost of capital over the short medium-, or longterm;

9 assessing the materiality of the identified impacts, risks and opportunities related tc
sustainability matters by selecting and applying appropriate thresholds; and

9 selecting and applying methodologies and making assumptions and estimates that ar
reasonable in the circumstances.

Management is further responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated Sustainabilit
Statement in accordance with subsection 4 of § 31 of the Estonian Accounting Act, whic
transposes Article 29a of EU Directive 2013/34/EU, including:

1 compliance with the European Sustainability Reporting Standards;

1 preparing the disclosures inthe section Information to be disclosed pursuant to Article 8 of
Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (the Taxonomy Regulatiamithin the Environmental Information
chapter of the Consolidated Sustainability Statemenj in compliance with Article 8 of EU
Regulation 2020/852 Taxonomy Regulatioly
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9 designing, implementing and maintaining such internal controls that management
determines are necessary to enable the preparation of the Consolidated Sustainabilit
Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

1 selecting and applying appropriate sustainability reporting methods and making
assumptions and estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

N6Yt DJWARSe! NWUIT Ws RgéwWwWNY211 UecURPIWe !l 3wl Wt GYUt RHA
process.

Inherent Limitations in Preparing the Consolidated Sustainability Statement

In reporting forwardlooking information in accordance with the European Sustainability Reporting
Eqc Ul ¢l T+ AWqé W] | Ye Gkt Hiépard)theTdwaildIdakibgRfothhatidrhoa Re
basis of disclosed assumptions about events that may occur in the future and possible futur
actions by the Group. The actual outcome is likely to be different since anticipated events frequent
do not occur as expected.

In determining the disclosure requirements for the Consolidated Sustainability Statement, the
Group interprets undefined legal and other terms. Undefined legal and other terms may L
interpreted differently, including the legal conformity of their interpréation, and, accordingly, are
subject to uncertainty.

el RqVY!l kt WANYt GYUt RHRGRqRIUYt WnVY!l W6 JWx RGRaIIT

Our responsibility is to design and perform the assurance engagement to obtain limited assuranc
about whether the Consolidated Sustainability Statement is free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a limited assurance rapt that includes our conclusion.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in th
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence decisions of users taken on the basis
the Consolidated Sustairability Statement as a whole.

Our responsibilities in respect of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement and the Process of it
preparation include:

{1 obtaining an understanding of the Process but not for the purpose of providing a conclusic
on the effectiveness of the Process, including the outcome of the Process; and

1 designing and performing procedures to evaluate whether the Process is consistent with th
]1 YeGkt WI Wt #I RGqRYU WY n Wa 6 1J LU Desériptidon df tAdlpcoteds]
for identifying and assessing significant impacts, risks, and opportunities

Our other responsibilities in respect of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement include:

1 identifying disclosures where material misstatements are likely to arise, whether due tc
fraud or error;
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systems relevant to the preparation of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement but no
evaluating the design of particular controls, obtaining evidence about their implementatior
or testing their effectiveness; and

9 designing and performing procedures to detect potential material misstatements in the
Consolidated Sustainability Statement. The risk of not detecting a material misstatemen
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud mayviolve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Summary of the procedures we performed

A limited assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about th
Consolidated Sustainability Statement. We designed and performed our procedures to obtai
evidence about the Consolidated Sustainability Statement that is sufficientand appropriate to
provide a basis for our conclusion. The nature, timing and extent of our procedures depended ¢
our professional judgment, including the identification of disclosures where material
misstatements are likely to arise, whether due to frad or error, in the Consolidated Sustainability
Statement. We exercised professional judgment and maintained professional scepticisn
throughout the engagement.

In conducting our limited assurance engagement, with respect to the Process, the procedures w
performed included:

f  obtaining an understanding of the Process by:

o performing inquiries to understand the sources of the information used by
management (e.g., stakeholder engagement, business plans and strateg
documents); and

o I W2RUsRUNW6WW] I YeGkt WRUqUWI Ucawl YH: G1IL

1  evaluating whether the evidence obtained from our procedures about the Process applie
in the Group was consistent with the description of the Process set out in the sectiol
Description of the process for identifying and assessing significant impacts, risks, an
opportunities.

In conducting our limited assurance engagement, with respect to th€onsolidated Sustainability
Statement, the procedures we performed included:

1 YHq¢RURUDWeUWe U7 U1t q¢UT RUNDWYNWa6WW] I Ye G
of the Consolidated Sustainability Statement by:

o YHq¢RURUNDWecUWa2U0T WIt q¢cUT RUNDWYNWaq6W] |
information systems relevant to the preparation of the Consolidated Sustainability
Statement but not evaluating the design of particular controls, obtaining evidence
about their implementation or testing their effectiveness; and
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o obtaining an understanding of the roles and responsibilities in the preparation of th
Consolidated Sustainability Statement, including communication within the Group
and between management and those charged with governance; and

f evaluating whether material information identified by the Process is included in the
Consolidated Sustainability Statement;

1 evaluating whether the structure and the presentation of the Consolidated Sustainability
Statement is in accordance with the European Sustainability Reporting Standards;

f  conducting interviews with relevant personnel and performing analytical procedures or
disclosures in the Consolidated Sustainability Statement;

1  performing assurance procedures on a sample basis on selected disclosures in thi
Consolidated Sustainability Statement;

1 where applicable, comparing disclosures in the Consolidated Sustainability Statement witt
the corresponding disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Management Report;

1 evaluating the methods, assumptions and data for developing material estimates ant
forward-looking information;

1 obtaining an understanding of the process to identify taxonomegligible and taxonomy
aligned economic activities and the corresponding disclosures in the Consolidatec
Sustainability Statement; and

1 performing assurance procedures on a sample basis on the taxonoragligible and aligned
revenue, capital expenditure (CapEx) and operating expenditure (OpEX).

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, ai
are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement. Consequently, the level

assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantiallijower than the assurance
that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance engagement been performed.
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Other matter

Our limited assurance engagement did not extend to the comparative information as at and for tr
year ended 31 December 2023 disclosed in the Consolidated Sustainability Statement. Ot
conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Tallinn, 25 April 2025

/signed digitally/ /signed digitally/
Andris Jegers Siim Kannistu
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